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Court File No. CV-11-9062-00CL

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
(COMMERCIAL LIST)

THE HONOURABLE ) WEDNESDAY, THE 28"

)
MR. JUSTICE NEWBOULD ) DAY OF OCTOBER, 2015

BETWEEN:

MARGARITA CASTILLO
Applicant

-and -

.~“XELA ENTERPRISES LTD., TROPIC INTERNATIONAL LIMITED,
FRESH QUEST, INC., 696096 ALBERTA LTD.,JUAN GUILLERMO GUTIERREZ
and JUAN ARTURO GUTIERREZ
Respondents

JUDGMENT

THIS APPLICATION, heard only with respect to issues relating to the respondent,
Tropic International Limited ("Tropie"), was heard on June 4 and June 5, 2015, at the Court
House, 330 University Avenue, Toronto, Ontario, in the presence of the lawyers for Margarita
Castillo ("Margarita"), Xela Enterprises Ltd. ("Xela"), Tropic, Fresh Quest, Inc. ("Fresh
Quest"), 696096 Alberta Ltd., Juan Guillermo Gutierrez ("Juan") and Juan Arturo Gutierrez

("Arturo").

ON READING THE APPLICATION RECORDS, COMPENDIA, FACTA AND
BOOKS OF AUTHORITIES and upon hearing the submissions of the lawyers for the

parties appearing in this application,



AND FOR THE REASONS set out in the Reasons for Judgment dated October 28,

2015,

1. THIS COURT DECLARES THAT the respondents, other than 696096 Alberta Inc.,
engaged in conduct that was oppressive to Margarita’s interests as a director and shareholder
of Tropic, within the meaning of section 248 of the Business Corporations Act, R.S.O. 1990,

c. B.16;

2. THIS COURT ORDERS AND ADJUDGES THAT the fair value of Margarita's

100 common shares in Tropic is $4,250,000.00;

3. THIS COURT ORDERS THAT Arturo, Juan and Xela jointly pay Margarita

$4,250,000.00 for her 100 common shares held in Tropic;

4, The remaining issues in the application, including the issue of costs, will be addressed

separately.

This judgment bears interest at the rate of 2 per cent per year from its date.

NOV 27 2015

Ez&%ﬁ WL-‘&MM

R. ttleman, Registrar
supserior Court of Justics

ENTERED AT /iNSCHRIT A TORONTO

3N/ BOOK NO:
LE /GANS LE REGISTRE NO.:

NOV 27 2015
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Court File No. CV-11-9062-00CL
ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
(COMMERCIAL LIST)

THE HONOURABLE ) WEDNESDAY, THE 21*

)
MR. JUSTICE NEWBOULD ) DAY OF DECEMBER, 2015

BETWEEN:

MARGARITA CASTILLO ‘
Applicant

-and -

XELA ENTERPRISES LTD., TROPIC INTERNATIONAL LIMITED,
UEST, INC., 696096 ALBERTA LTD., JUAN GUILLERMO GUTIERREZ
and JUAN ARTURO GUTIERREZ

Respondents

ORDER
THIS APPLICATION, heard only with respect to issues relating to the respondent,
Tropic International Limited ("Tropic"), was heard on June 4 and June 5, 2015, at the Court
House, 330 University Avenue, Toronto, Ontario, in the presence of the lawyers for Margarita
Castillo ("Margarita"), Xela Enterprises Ltd. ("Xela"), Tropic, Fresh Quest, Inc. ("Fresh
Quest"), 696096 Alberta Ltd., Juan Guillermo Gutierrez ("Juan") and Juan Arturo Gutierrez

("Artaro™).

AND WHEREAS Judgment was granted in favour of Margarita on October 28, 2015,

with the issue of costs to be addressed separately.

ON READING THE COSTS SUBMISSIONS: of the parties, including the Bill of

Costs of Margarita,



AND FOR THE REASONS set out in the Cost Endorsement dated December 21,

2015,

1. THIS COURT ORDERS THAT the respondents, other than 696096 Alberta Inc.,
pay Margarita a total of $889,858.21 for costs, disbursements and expert fees associated with

this portion of the Application.

2. The amount ordered to be paid in paragraph 1, above, bears interest at the rate of 2 per

cent per year fromthe date of this Order.

m«ﬂ/(j» )

THE HONOURABLE MR. JUSTICE NEWBOULD

LY

ENTERED AT / INSCRIT A TORONTO

ON / BOOK NO: »
LE / DANS LE REGISTRE NO.:

41 JAN 06°2016
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Divisional Couit File No. 65/16

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
(DIVISIONAL COURT)

THE HONOURABLE )
) FRIDAY, THE 30%

JUSTICE MOLLOY )
JUSTICE DAMBROT ) DAY OF DECEMBER, 2016

JUSTICE VARPIO )

BETWEEN:
MARGARITA CASTILLO
Respondent / Applicant
=

XELA ENTERPRISES LTD., TROPIC INTERNATIONAL LIMITED,
FRESH QUEST, INC., 696096 ALBERTA LTD., JUAN GUILLERMO GUTIERREZ
and CARMEN S. GUTIERREZ, as Executor of the Estate of Juan Arture Gutierrez

Appellants / Respondents

ORDER

THIS APPEAL, by the appellants of the Judgment of The Honourable Justice Newbould
dated October 28, 2015 (the “Judgment™) and the Order of Justice Newbould dated December 21,
20135 (the “Costs Order”), was heard on September 26, 2016 at Osgoode Hall, 130 Queen Street

West, Toronto, Ontario, M5H 2N5.

ON READING the materials filed, including the Appeal Book and Compendium of the

Appellants, the Exhibit Books, the Respondent's Compendium, and the Facta and Books of



2.

Authorities of the Appellvants and Respondent, and on hearing the submissions of counsel for the
¥ -\,

Appellants and Respondent, Ju d%& ment eerved Yo +his da,% )
1. THIS COURT ORDERS that leave to appeal the Costs Order is granted,

2. THIS COURT ORDERS that the appeal of the Judgment and the Costs Order is

dismissed; and

3. THIS COURT ORDERS that the respondent, Margarita Castillo, is awarded $76,096.47
for the costs of this appeal, inclusive of HST, fees and disbursements, and payable by the

Appellants within 30 days from the date of this Order.

THIS ORDER BEARS INTEREST at the rate of 2.0 per cent per year commencing on

January 30, 2017.

ENTERED A0 UT A TORONTG M@W '

O/ BODY

LE / DANS LE FEGISTAE HO. A [ Aysistmnt - Registrar
Fen 09 2017

CRPERJ PARL 0.
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Court File No.: CV-11-9062-00CL
ONTARIO

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
(COMMERCIAL LIST)

BETWEEN:

MARGARITA CASTILLO
Moving Party

- and -

XELA ENTERPRISES LTD., TROPIC INTERNATIONAL LIMITED,
FRESH QUEST, INC., 696096 ALBERTA LTD., JUAN GUILLERMO GUTIERREZ
and CARMEN S. GUTIERREZ, as Executor of the Estate of Juan Arturo Gutierrez

Responding Party

AFFIDAVIT OF MARGARITA CASTILLO
(Sworn January 14,2019)

I, MARGARITA CASTILLO, of the City of Toronto, in the Province of Ontario, MAKE

OATH AND SAY:

Introduction

1. I am the applicant and judgment creditor in this proceeding, as a former shareholder and
director of Tropic International Limited (“Tropic”), a shareholder of 696096 Alberta Ltd.
(“Alberta Co.”) and a former director of Xela Enterprises Ltd. (“Xela”). I know of the matters
contained in this affidavit either from my personal knowledge, or where indicated, from

information provided to me by others, which in all cases I believe to be true.
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would cause Carmen. My lawyers confirmed that I intended to proceed with the examination.
Mr. McLean advised, on the afternoon of November 22, 2018, that Carmen would not attend the
examination. Carmen failed to attend on November 23, 2018. Attached as Exhibit “DD” is a
copy of this correspondence with Mr. McLean. Attached as Exhibit “EE” is a certificate of non-

attendance prepared by a commissioner of oaths at Network Reporting & Mediation.

41.  Regarding Xela, the Judgment Debtors’ lawyers offered Calvin Shields to be examined
again as Xela’s representative. As reflected in the correspondence attached above as Exhibit “Z”,
Xela’s lawyers declined proposals suggesting that either Juan (Xela’s President) or Juan Jose
Rodriguez (a lawyer identified on Xela’s corporate profile report as an officer) be examined

instead. Attached as Exhibit “FF” is a transcript of Mr. Shield’s examination.

42.  Based on the lengthy process of obtaining answers to undertakings and refusals from the
initial examinations of Juan, Xela and Carmen, held in July 2017, I believe it would be futile to

continue to pursue answers from the Judgment Debtors.
Most of the Judgment Debt Remains Unpaid

43.  Attached as Exhibit “GG” is a chart, prepared my lawyers, summarizing the amounts I
have recovered from the Judgment Debtors. The collected amounts total $1,568,293.37, and arise

from:

(a) Gamishments from Judgment Debtor bank accounts held at TD Canada Trust, in

amounts totaling $155,485.74;
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(b) The seizure and sale, by the Enforcement Office for the Regional Municipality of
Halton, of four motor vehicles owned by Juan or Arturo, from which I received

$213,685.37;

(c) The seizure and sale, by the Enforcement Office for the Town of Parry Sound, of
Juan’s joint ownership interest in the Cottage, from which I received $774,122.26.
On July 18, 2018, shortly before the second auction was held, I received a cheque
for $16.58 from the Ministry of the Attorney General, possibly for the deposit

paid regarding the failed first auction attempt; and

(d) The sale, with my consent, of the Toronto House, from which I received

$425,000.

44, Based on the answers received from Juan’s and the Estate’s examinations in aid of

execution, I do not anticipate obtaining significant further amounts from them.

45.  Juan has indicated that he relies on financial support from his wife, Wencke, and mother,
Carmen, to finance his living expenses. However, Juan had also indicated, during his first
examination in aid of execution, that Wencke did not have her own source of income and was
financially reliant on Juan. Juan similarly stated in his first examination he had been providing
financial assistance to Carmen. It is unclear how Wencke and Carmen now have assets available
to support Juan. Before 2010, I had a close relationship with Carmen (my mother) and Wencke
(my sister-in-law). In the decades that I knew them, [ never knew them to have independent

sources of income or wealth. Rather, each was financially dependent on Arturo and Juan.
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on behalf of and, if thought desirable by the Receiver, in the name of the
Debtor;

(p)  to enter into agreements with any trustee in bankruptcy appointed in
respect of the Debtor, including, without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, the ability to enter into occupation agreements for any property

owned or leased by the Debtor;

()  to exercise any shareholder, partnership, joint venture or other rights

which the Debtor may have; and

(r) to take any steps reasonably incidental to the exercise of these powers or

the performance of any statutory obligations.

and in each case where the Receiver takes any such actions or steps, it shall be exclusively
authorized and empowered to do so, to the exclusion of all other Persons (as defined below),

including the Debtor, and without interference from any other Person.

4, THIS COURT ORDERS that, notwithstanding any other provision in this Order, the
Receiver shall not take any steps to commence, direct, interfere with, settle, interrupt or
terminate any litigation between the Debtor and its subsidiaries and/or affiliates and any third
party, including the litigation invelving or related to the Avicola companies (as defined and
further sct out in the affidavit of Juan Guillermo Gutierrez (“Juan”), sworn June 17, 2019). Such

steps shall include but not be limited to:

a) selling or publicly marketing the shares of Lisa S.A., Gabinvest S.A., or any shares

owned by these entities;

b) publicly disclosing any information about the above-mentioned litigation and/or the
Receiver’s conclusions or intentions, provided that the Receiver may disclose such
information to Juan and Margarita Castillo (“Margarita”) and their counsel upon Juan and
Margarita each executing a non-disclosure agreement in a form reasonably acceptable to
the Receiver, and if the Receiver does disclose such information, conclusions or

intentions, the Receiver shall disclose equally to Juan and Margarita;

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THIS LA PRESENT ATTEST QUE CE
DOCUMENT, EACH PAGE OF DOCUMENT, DONT CHACUNE
WHICH IS STAMPED WITH THE DES PAGES EST nsvtma o

SEAL OF THE SUPERIOR COURT  SCEAU DE LA COUR
OF JUSTICE ATTORONTO,ISA  DE JUSTICE A TORONT EST UNE
TAUE COPY NF THE DOCLIMENT  COPIE CONFORME DI

ONFILEIN ]
DATEQATI 12
FAITATO! ar

REGISTR REFFER
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provider or otherwise, all Persons in possession or control of such Records shall forthwith give
unfettered access to the Receiver for the purpose of allowing the Receiver to recover and fully
copy all of the information contained therein whether by way of printing the information onto
paper or making copies of computer disks or such other manner of retrieving and copying the
information as the Receiver in its discretion deems expedient, and shall not alter, erase or destroy
any Records without the prior written consent of the Receiver. Further, for the purposes of this
paragraph, all Persons shall provide the Receiver with all such assistance in gaining immediate
access to the information in the Records as the Receiver may in its discretion require including
providing the Receiver with instructions on the use of any computer or other system and
providing the Receiver with any and all access codes, account names and account numbers that

may be required to gain access to the information.

8. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver shall provide each of the relevant landlords
with notice of the Receiver’s intention to remove any fixtures from any leased premises at least
seven (7) days prior to the date of the intended removal. The relevant landlord shall be entitled
to have a representative present in the leased premises to observe such removal and, if the
landlord disputes the Receiver’s entitlement to remove any such fixture under the provisions of
the lease, such fixture shall remain on the premises and shall be dealt with as agreed between any
applicable secured creditors, such landlord and the Receiver, or by further Order of this Court
upon application by the Receiver on at least two (2) days notice to such landlord and any such

secured creditors.

NO PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE RECEIVER

9. THIS COURT ORDERS that no proceeding or enforcement process in any court or
tribunal (each, a “Proceeding”), shall be commenced or continued against the Receiver except

with the written consent of the Receiver or with leave of this Court,

NO EXERCISE OF RIGHTS OR REMEDIES

10.  THIS COURT ORDERS that all rights and remedies against the Receiver are hereby
stayed and suspended except with the written consent of the Receiver or leave of this Court,

provided however that this stay and suspension does not apply in respect of any “eligible

financial contract” as defined in the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. B-3, as

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THIS LA PRESENT ATTEST QUE CE
DOCUMENT, EACH PAGE OF DOCUMENT, DONT CHACUNE
WHICH IS STAMPED WITH THE DES PAGES EST REVETUE 0J
SEAL OF THE SUPERIOR COURT ~ SCEAU DE LA COUR SUPERIEURE
OF JUSTICEATTORONTO, ISA  DE JUSTICE A TORONTO, EST UNE

TRUE COPY OF THE DOCUMENT COPEE CONFORME DU DOCUMENT
DANS CE BUREAL
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amended (the “BIA”), and further provided that nothing in this paragraph shall (i) empower the
Receiver or the Debtor to carry on any business which the Debtor is not lawfully entitled to carry
on, (ii) exempt the Receiver or the Debtor from compliance with statutory or regulatory
provisions relating to health, safety or the environment, (iii) prevent the filing of any registration

to preserve or perfect a security interest, or (iv) prevent the registration of a claim for lien.

NO INTERFERENCE WITH THE RECEIVER

11. THIS COURT ORDERS that no Person shall discontinue, fail to honour, alter, interfere
with, repudiate, terminate or cease to perform any right, renewal right, contract, agreement,
licence or permit in favour of or held by the Debtor, without written consent of the Receiver or

leave of this Court.

CONTINUATION OF SERVICES

12.  THIS COURT ORDERS that all Persons having oral or written agreements with the
Debtor or statutory or regulatory mandates for the supply of goods and/or services, including
without limitation, all computer software, communication and other data services, centralized
banking services, payroll services, insurance, transportation services, utility or other services to
the Debtor are hereby restrained until further Order of this Court from discontinuing, altering,
interfering with or terminating the supply of such goods or services as may be required by the
Receiver, and that the Receiver shall be entitled to the continued use of the Debtor's current
telephone numbers, facsimile numbers, internet addresses and domain names, provided in each
case that the normal prices or charges for all such goods or services received after the date of this
Order are paid by the Receiver in accordance with normal payment practices of the Debtor or
such other practices as may be agreed upon by the supplier or service provider and the Receiver,

or as may be ordered by this Court.

RECEIVER TO HOLD FUNDS

13. THIS COURT ORDERS that all funds, monies, cheques, instruments, and other forms of
payments received or collected by the Receiver from and after the making of this Order from any
source whatsoever, including without limitation the sale of all or any of the Property and the
collection of any accounts receivable in whole or in part, whether in existence on the date of this

Order or hereafter comira% into existence, shall be deposited into one or more new accounts to be
SENT ATTEST QUE CE

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THIS LAPRE

DOCUMENT, EACH PAGE OF DOCUMENT, DONT CHACUNE
WHICH IS STAMPED WITH THE DES PAGES EST REVETUE DU
SEAL OF THE SUPERIOR COURT  SCEAU DE LA COUR SUPERIEURE
OFJUSTICE ATTORONTO,ISA  DE JUSTICE A TORONTO, EST UNE
TRUECOPY OF THE DOCUMENT  COPIE CONFORME DU DOCUMENT

B

ONFILE IN THIS QFFICE DANS CE BUREAL
DATEDAT TORONTO Tt YA, DAY OF , 20
FATATOROW{OLE[ / ~/JOURKE

ﬁ.egié'trar

————— - ABEEEER
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23.  THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver is at liberty and authorized to issue certificates
substantially in the form annexed as Schedule “A” hereto (the “Receiver’s Certificates™) for any

amount borrowed by it pursuant to this Order.

24.  THIS COURT ORDERS that the monies from time to time borrowed by the Receiver
pursuant to this Order or any further order of this Court and any and all Receiver’s Certificates
evidencing the same or any part thereof shall rank on a pari passu basis, unless otherwise agreed

to by the holders of any prior issued Receiver's Certificates.

TERMINATION OF RECEIVERSHIP

25.  THIS COURT ORDERS that the Debtor may make a motion to this Court for the
termination of the receivership upon receipt by Margarita of the judgment debt owing to her by
the Debtor, plus receivership fees and expenses, and that upon such motion the burden shall be

on Margarita to justify that it remains just and equitable to continue the receivership.

SERVICE AND NOTICE

26. THIS COURT ORDERS that the E-Service Protocol of the Commercial List (the
“Protocol”) is approved and adopted by reference herein and, in this proceeding, the service of
documents made in accordance with the Protocol (which can be found on the Commercial List

website at http://www ontariocourts.ca/sci/practice/practice-directions/toronto/e-service-

protocol/) shall be valid and effective service. Subject to Rule 17.05 this Order shall constitute
an order for substituted service pursuant to Rule 16.04 of the Rules of Civil Procedure. Subject to
Rule 3.01(d) of the Rules of Civil Procedure and paragraph 21 of the Protocol, service of
documents in accordance with the Protocol will be effective on transmission. This Court further
orders that a Case Website shall be established in accordance with the Protocol with the

following URL ‘http://www.ksvadvisory.com/insolvency-cases/case/xela-enterprises’.

27, THIS COURT ORDERS that if the service or distribution of documents in accordance
with the Protocol is not practicable, the Receiver is at liberty to serve or distribute this Order, any
other materials and orders in these proceedings, any notices or other correspondence, by
forwarding true copies thereof by prepaid ordinary mail, courier, personal delivery or facsimile

transmission to the Debtor's creditors or other interested parties at their respective addresses as

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THIS LA PRESENT ATTEST QUE CE
DOCUMENT, EACH PAGE OF DOCUMENT, DONT CHACUNE
WHICH IS STAMPED WITH THE - DES PAGES EST REVETUE DU

SEAL OF THE SUPERIOR COURT  SCEAU DE LA COUR SUPERIEURE
OF JUSTICE ATTORONTO, IS A DE JUSTICE A TORONTO, EST UNE
TRUE COPY OF THE DOCUMENT  COPE CONFORME DU DOCUMENT
0NFILE|NTH OFFICE CP? CONSERVE DANS CE BUREAL
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Court File No. CV-11-9062-00CL

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
(COMMERCIAL LIST)

MARGARITA CASTILLO

Applicant

-and-

XELA ENTERPRISES LTD., TROPIC INTERNATIONAL LIMITED, FRESH QUEST,
INC., 696096 ALBERTA LTD., JUAN GUILLERMO GUTIERREZ and CARMEN S.
GUTIERREZ, as Executor of the Estate of Juan Arturo Gutierrez

Respondents

AFFIDAVIT OF JUAN GUILLERMO GUTIERREZ
(Sworn February 22, 2021)

I, Juan Guillermo Gutierrez, resident of Toronto, Ontario, Canada, MAKE OATH AND SAY:

1. I have historically been the President and owner of 100% of the voting shares of Debtor
Xela Enterprises Ltd., (“Xela”), subject to the above-entitled receivership and the Appointment
Order dated July 5, 2019 (the “Appointment Order”), by which KSV Restructuring Inc.
(“KSV”) was appointed receiver over Xela (the “Receiver”). I swear this Affidavit in response

to the Motion for Investigative Powers and Recognition Order (returnable March 22, 2021) (the
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motivated to recover all of LISA’s rightful dividends — in control of the Villamorey litigation.

II. BACKGROUND
A. The Multi-Jurisdictional Dispute over Non-Payment of LISA’s Dividends

23. The Motion — and, indeed, the receivership itself — should not be evaluated outside the
context of the highly contentious, decades-old, multi-jurisdictional dispute over the Nephews’
improper withholding of LISA’s dividends, which have an estimated value in the range of US$400

million. There should be no mistake about the identity of the bad actors in this running dispute.

24.  After my father ceded operational control of the Avicolas to the Nephews when my family
relocated from Guatemala to Toronto in 1984, the Nephews began to defraud my father as well as
the Guatemalan tax authorities by understating the actual revenues of the Avicolas (and the
corresponding amount of dividends disbursed to LISA) and concealing the truth with phony
accounting records. It was only after the Nephews proposed to buy out LISA’s interest in the
Avicolas and inadvertently delivered to my father a genuine financial statement that we
serendipitously discovered the truth, which was that we had been receiving false financial

statements for years, along with less than the entitled sums as dividends.

25. Shortly thereafter, during the first quarter of 1998, the Nephews sent two high-level
Avicola executives to Toronto to explain the discrepancies. The meeting was attended by me,
along with Xela’s CFO, Wayne Langdon, and Al Rosen, a forensic accountant Xela had hired to
help us evaluate the financial records. Margarita’s husband Ricardo Castillo (“Ricardo”) was
also present. The Avicola executives tried to explain that the Avicolas had been maintaining two

EANTY

separate sets of accounting records, which they justified as part of the Avicolas’ “tax strategy.”

They revealed that the Avicolas had been selling large quantities of live chickens in the
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Guatemalan countryside, where refrigeration was largely unavailable, and had been concealing
those revenues in a separate set of books. As soon as I heard that fact, [ immediately stopped the
meeting and stressed that neither my father nor I would be participants in any kind of tax evasion
scheme. We agreed to have a follow-up meeting in Miami as soon as possible, which would be

attended by the Nephews themselves, along with me and my father.

26. Almost six months passed before the second meeting took place. A few days beforehand,
the Nephews informed us that they would be unable to attend, but they suggested that the meeting
go forward in Toronto. However, they said, because sensitive information would be disclosed at
the meeting, it was important that I attend for Xela by myself alone. The next decision has cost us
dearly, but my father and I believed that exposing the truth was the right thing to do. Specifically,
due to concerns that the lack of any other witnesses on Xela’s side of the table could later be
manipulated by the Nephews, we consented to have our lawyers arrange to videotape the second
meeting in Toronto under the supervision of a retired RCMP officer, without the knowledge of the
Avicola executives. As the meeting went forward, the same two executives who had attended the
first meeting explained the Nephews’ fraudulent tax evasion scheme in great detail, all of which
was captured on videotape. Although we did not intend to make the videotape public, litigation
followed when the Nephews refused to give my father full value for his shares. The videotape
eventually came out during a three-week trial in Bermuda in 2008, discussed below, and was an
important part of the evidence proving fraud and money laundering. The Nephews cut off all
dividend payments to LISA as of 1999, and embarked on what can only be described as a crusade

to ruin my father and me.

27. The overarching strategy employed by the Nephews has been one of attrition, in which

their lawyers use scorched-earth litigation tactics to delay distribution of LISA’s dividends, while
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consuming my family’s resources. Consequently, in 2005, LISA was forced to begin borrowing
from BDT in order to cover the cost of pursuing the dividends, and, over time, the accumulated
debt to BDT grew to approximately US$50 million, ultimately resulting in a settlement under

which LISA assigned all of its dividends rights to BDT.

28. Along the way, although the process has been slow and arduous, justice has occasionally
emerged. After the Nephews stops disbursing dividends in 1999, LISA sued companies controlled
by the Nephews in Bermuda, alleging that they had misappropriated some of LISA’s dividends
and converted the monies to their own use, laundering illicit cash receipts through the sale of bogus
insurance policies at an inflated premium issued by a Bermuda-based reinsurance company that
they owned. Judgment was entered in favor of LISA on September 5, 2008 (the “Leamington
Judgment”), from which the Nephews did not appeal. A true and correct copy of the Leamington
Judgment is attached as Exhibit A to my Affidavit sworn on March 22, 2020 (“my 2020
Affidavit”). As indicated there, the Leamington Judgment establishes, among other things, the

following unrefuted facts:

a. That LISA was a victim of a conspiracy to defraud by the Nephews;

b. That the Avicolas used accounting records that recorded only a portion of its true

income;

c. That a substantial portion of the income generated by the Avicolas was kept off the

books and used to fund distributions to the Nephews but not to LISA;
d. That the re-insurance policies at issue were not genuine;

e. That some of the “black” money was being “whitened” by paying the insurance

premiums that were then distributed as purportedly legitimate corporate profits, and
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that the Nephews intended to deprive LISA of its rightful share of the profits
generated by the Avicolas;

f. That the Nephews used cash-only operations to conceal the Avicola’s true earning

from the Guatemalan tax authorities;
g. That the Nephews intended to injure LISA through a fraudulent conspiracy;

h. That LISA had been excluded from participating in the distributions made to the
Nephews; and

i.  That the members, officers and directors of the various Avicolas companies had

“actual knowledge of all of the facts which made the conspiracy unlawful.”

29.  Justice Kawaley, who presided over the Leamington trial and issued the Leamington
Judgment, also made one significant comment concerning the real mastermind behind the fraud,
which LISA had formally alleged in its pleadings was Avicola Villalobos S.A. (referred to
“AVSA”), the largest of the Avicola companies and the conduit for distribution of the laundered
funds. While Justice Kawaley’s observation was not a conclusive part of the judgment — which
actually found against LISA on its allegation of fraud by AVSA — his observation as factfinder in

the case are nevertheless interesting:

48. Bearing in mind the high standard of proof required for allegations of fraud, 1
am not satisfied that AVSA was either the de facto parent or controller of the
operating Avicola companies so as to render AVSA liable for any frauds which such
companies and/or Leamington may have committed. Even if AVSA alone could
declare dividends and the operating companies were just cost centres, it does not
follow that AVSA was the controlling corporate entity. It seems more plausible that
a company wholly owned by the other two branches of the Gutierrez family such as
Multi Inversiones was in reality the controlling corporate entity, if there was one.
For example, in notes recording negotiations between the parties in Toronto on
February 21, 1998, Juan Guillermo himself described the two sides as "Lisa's side"
and "Multi-Inversiones' side". And paragraph 3 of these notes record Rossell
indicating that "Multi-Inversiones provides strategic planning, legal advise
[sic].fiscal strategy and high level administration services to the Avicola
Companies."13 This is admittedly far from conclusive in terms of ascertaining
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which corporate entity played a controlling role before Lisa sold its interest in
Multi-Inversiones, however. This is because Juan Guillermo suggests that this sale
happened as late as 1997. [Emphasis mine.]

30.  Thus, LISA has established in a court of law, in a full-fledged trial lasting three weeks, that
the Nephews systematically stole a portion of LISA’s dividends and laundered them. The
Leamington Judgment, however, involved a relatively small sum of money in comparison to the
much larger pool of Avicola and Villamorey dividends that have been declared in LISA’s favor

since 1999, but withheld by the Nephews.

31.  Further, as set out in my 2020 Affidavit, after the Leamington case was decided, the parties
met through representatives more than a dozen times to discuss potential settlement of the dispute.
It was during this extended period of negotiations that Margarita secretly joined forces with the
Nephews, and conspired with them to plan a counterattack against Xela, my father and me, causing

the settlement negotiations — which were quite advanced — to stop abruptly and fail.

B. The Nephews’ Role in the Oppression Action

32. On its face, this receivership seems like nothing more than an ordinary attempt to collect a
judgment. Taken in context, however, the Oppression Action, which led to the Castillo Judgment
and ultimately to the receivership, was part of the well-planned counterattack by the Nephews,

which weaponized Margarita’s position as a trusted member of Xela’s board of directors.

33.  In 2010, shortly after the Leamington decision, Margarita and her husband Ricardo began
surreptitiously to meet with the Nephews, including at least once in Guatemala City. The meetings
occurred while Margarita was a director of Xela. Margarita was eventually removed from Xela’s

board in April 2010.

34.  In early 2011, Margarita filed the Oppression Action, alleging (among other things) that
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Xela, my father and I had oppressed her in connection with negotiations to purchase her shares of
Tropic S.A. (“Tropic”), a distribution company for products produced by a Xela agricultural
subsidiary. (My father, Margarita and I collectively owned all of the shares of Tropic, but Tropic
was not a subsidiary of Xela.) Importantly, the Nephews played a key role in helping Margarita
fund the Oppression Action by arranging for a friendly bank in Guatemala, G&T Continental Bank
(“G&T Bank”), to give her a loan for US$4.35 million (the “Castillo Loan”). The Castillo Loan
appears to have been collateralized with a CD purchased by one of the Nephews with LISA’s
unpaid 2010 Villamorey dividends. As detailed below, the Castillo Loan was reportedly transacted
through Margarita’s nephew, Roberto Barillas — who acted as her legal representative — and repaid

through foreclosure of the collateral.

35. Specifically, as I stated in my 2020 Affidavit, G&T Bank and other records indicate the

following:

a. Villamorey declared in LISA’s favor (but did not pay) dividends of US$4,166,250
in 2010. A true and correct copy of Villamorey’s audited financial statements for

2009/2010 is attached to my 2020 Affidavit as Exhibit B.

b. On May 6, 2010, Juan Luis Bosch, one of the Nephews, used those dividends,
without LISA’s knowledge or consent, to open an account in Villamorey’s name
with G&T Bank. A true and correct copy of the opening statement for G&T Bank
account No. 900051264, showing the initial deposit of US$4,166,250, is attached
hereto as Exhibit C to my 2020 Affidavit; and

c. On May 25, 2010, the initial deposit to Account No. 900051264 (i.e., LISA’s
dividends) was used to purchase Certificate of Deposit #010152676 in the amount
of US$4,166,250 (the “CD”). A true and correct copy of the CD is attached as
Exhibit D to my 2020 Affidavit; see also Exhibit B to my 2020 Affidavit,
referencing CD #010152676.
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36. Further, during meetings in September 2012 and November 2012, Mr. Jorge Porras — at
the time an attorney for one of Xela’s subsidiaries — provided information to Xela, of which he
had personal knowledge, regarding an ongoing conspiracy between the Nephews and Margarita to

injure Xela. During those meetings, Mr. Porras told Xela, among other things, that:

a. Roberto Barillas had executed the Castillo Loan documents on Margarita’s behalf,
under a power of attorney signed and delivered to Roberto by Margarita in Miami

in March 2010;
b. The Castillo Loan was for a total of US$4.35 million;
c. A portion of the Castillo Loan was intended to finance the Oppression Action; and

d. He (Mr. Porras) had attended meetings in Toronto with Margarita and her lawyers,
Jeffery Leon and Jason Woycheshyn (Bennet Jones). Katherine Kay (Stikeman
Elliott), who represents the Nephews in various legal matters, was also present
during at least one of those meetings. The subject of the meetings was Margarita’s
oppression action against Xela, during which Margarita disclosed to her lawyers

that the action would be financed through the Nephews.

37.  Under cross-examination on April 17, 2012 in Toronto, Margarita admitted receiving the
Castillo Loan, and she testified that G&T Bank had given her the loan solely on the basis of her
“net worth,” as she had no assets in Guatemala and had not lived there in decades. A copy of an
excerpt from Margarita’s cross-examination is attached to my 2020 Affidavit as Exhibit E.
However, in an affidavit dated September 9, 2011, Margarita testified that she had been struggling
financially, and that she had asked the Nephews for “help” securing the Castillo Loan. A copy of
that Affidavit is attached to my 2020 Affidavit as Exhibit F. In any case, Margarita confirmed in
cross-examination that she had used at least some of the Castillo Loan proceeds to pursue the

Oppression Action against Xela, Arturo and me. (See Exhibit E to my 2020 Affidavit.)
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38. These facts underscore the key role the Nephews played in bringing the Oppression Action,
as Margarita could not have obtained the Castillo Loan and funded the litigation without their
assistance. This background also sheds some light on the Nephews’ interest in this receivership,

along with their relationship with Margarita, who selected the Receiver.

C. The Theft and Misuse of Xela’s Computer Records

39.  Another element of the Nephews’ counterattack after the Leamington Judgment involved
the theft and malicious misuse of documents illegally downloaded from Xela’s computer servers.
The original complaint in the Oppression Action, which was filed in early 2011, attached as an
exhibit a trove of confidential and/or privileged documents owned by Xela. Those documents
included, among other things, confidential internal emails, invoices from lawyers and

investigators, and privileged communications with counsel.

40. My father and I were shocked to see such sensitive and confidential documents attached to
a public-record pleading, and we could not understand how Margarita and/or her lawyers had
gained access to them, as Margarita herself was never privy to them while she served as a Xela
director, and in any case, she had been removed from the board almost a year earlier. As it turns

out, Margarita’ husband Ricardo was ultimately responsible for the theft.

41. It seemed clear that the documents had been stolen from Xela’s servers. Accordingly, I
instructed the head of Xela’s IT department, Julio Fabrini, to investigate. Mr. Fabrini performed
an audit and discovered that files equivalent in size to the documents attached as the exhibit to
Margarita’s Complaint had been downloaded from Xela’s servers to an encrypted USB stick at an
identifiable moment in time. Further investigation of Xela’s email servers uncovered an email

from Willy Aguilar, one of Mr. Fabrini’s subordinates in the IT department, to Ricardo shortly
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after the documents had been downloaded to the USB stick. That email attached the encryption

software necessary to open the Xela files contained on the USB stick.

42, When I confronted Mr. Aguilar, he broke down in tears and confessed that he had, in fact,
downloaded the documents and given them over to Ricardo, along with the encryption software
needed to access the data. He explained that he and Ricardo had been considering a joint business
venture together, and that Ricardo claimed to have spent about $25,000 in due diligence expenses,
which he wanted Mr. Aguilar to reimburse. Mr. Aguilar further explained that Ricardo had
demanded payment and had presented a draft complaint to Mr. Aguilar, listing him as a defendant,
and alleging breach of contract and theft of corporate opportunity. The draft complaint coversheet
listed as counsel Jason Woycheshyn, who at the time was with the Bennet Jones law firm,
subsequently counsel for Margarita in the Oppression Action. Mr. Aguilar explained that Ricardo
had promised not to file the lawsuit if only Mr. Aguilar would download all of the data from Xela’s
servers and hand them over to Ricardo. Mr. Aguilar agreed, and Ricardo gave Mr. Aguilar the
draft complaint. Mr. Aguilar also confessed to emailing the encryption software to Ricardo so that
he could open the files. Mr. Aguilar was dismissed from Xela at that point, but he left the draft

complaint with me. A copy of that document is attached hereto as Exhibit 3.

43.  Bennet Jones subsequently attached a massive trove of the stolen documents to the
Complaint in the Oppression Action, apparently feeling unconstrained to place documents that
were clearly confidential and privileged into the public record. The documents were unrelated to

the claims in the Oppression Action, and were attached in bulk as a single exhibit.

44.  Once Xela’s confidential documents were in the public record, the Nephews took their turn.

In April 2011, three months after Margarita filed the Oppression Action, the Nephews caused each
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of the individual companies that comprise the Avicolas to adopt a corporate resolution purporting
to exclude LISA as a shareholder, thereby seeking to appropriate for themselves LISA’s entire
interest in the Avicolas. The resolutions quoted some of the stolen Xela documents attached to

the Complaint in the Oppression Action verbatim.

45. Further, the Nephews caused each of the Avicola companies to file Exclusion Actions in
Guatemala against LISA, alleging in essence that the stolen documents demonstrated that
everything LISA was doing to collect its unpaid dividends was intended to injure the Avicolas,
which was patently false. As indicated, LISA ultimately prevailed in the Exclusion Actions (the
Nephews are still pursuing appeals in some), but the process has taken more than a decade and has

been quite expensive.

46. There was no doubt in my mind that Ricardo’s draft complaint against Mr. Aguilar and the
resulting theft of Xela’s documents (which I saw as a form of extortion) was part of a broader
conspiracy between Margarita, Ricardo, the Nephews and perhaps others, which included
attaching the stolen documents as an exhibit to the Complaint in the Oppression Action so that the
Nephews would have some semblance of above-board access to them for use in the Exclusion

Actions to either appropriate LISA’s interest altogether or at least delay LISA’s collection efforts.

47.  Accordingly, shortly after these events occurred, Xela, my father and I filed a complaint
for civil conspiracy against Margarita, Ricardo, the Nephews and others, in the Ontario Superior
Court of Justice (Commercial List) in Court File No. CV-11-9177-00CL (the “Conspiracy
Action”), alleging these and other related facts. Regrettably, the Court declined to amalgamate
the Conspiracy Action with the Oppression Action, and when the Nephews challenged service of

process in the Conspiracy Action (which they lost in the Superior Court and eventually on appeal),
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that case was delayed, while the Oppression Action proceeded on course to summary judgment.
The Castillo Judgment and this receivership were the resulting outcome of the Oppression Action.
The Conspiracy Case, by contrast, remains pending, although neither Xela nor I have the resources
to prosecute it. If it is ever considered, I am confident that we will prevail and obtain judgment

against Margarita in an amount that will eclipse the Castillo Judgment.

III. THE MOTION SHOULD BE DENIED BECAUSE IT WOULD PERPETUATE
THE PATTERN OF CONDUCT THAT HAS ALREADY FRUSTRATED THE
PURPOSE OF THE RECEIVERSHIP

48. The Motion seeks to perpetuate the same pattern of conduct the Receiver has embarked
upon since its appointment, the highlights of which are detailed in the following paragraphs. In
my view, the Receiver’s actions have done nothing to advance the collection of LISA’s dividends.
For more than 18 months, it has ignored my requests to meet and discuss how we might collaborate
in litigation against the Nephews in Panama and/or Guatemala, and has instead incurred more than
a million dollars pursuing matters wholly unrelated to the dividends. Indeed, the Receiver has
been quite disruptive by, as detailed below, preventing LISA from securing funding that could
discharge the receivership, and secretly trying to take over the foreign entities that are at the heart
of the 20-year dispute with the Nephews, all without any recognition of his authority abroad. That
course is perfectly aligned with the interests of the Nephews, and is serious enough to thwart the
purpose of the receivership altogether. Further, I believe that the issue can only be resolved by

replacing KSV with an alternate receiver selected not by Margarita, but by this Court.

A. The Receiver’s Refusal to Disclose Communications Suggesting Potential
Coordination
49. Owing to the Receiver’s pattern of conduct and the impression of coordination with the

Nephews that it creates, my lawyers asked that the Receiver provide copies of any communications
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between the Receiver and/or its lawyers, on the one hand, and the Nephews and/or their lawyers,
on the other hand. My lawyers made the request initially by letter on May 4, 2020, a copy of which
is attached as Exhibit 4, but the Receiver declined to answer. My lawyers renewed that request
by letter dated November 16, 2020, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit 5. The Receiver
responded to that letter on November 24, 2020, but refused to provide any documents, asserting
that it had no duty. Notably, the Receiver did not deny communicating with the Nephews. A copy

of the Receiver’s letter dated November 24, 2020 is attached as Exhibit 6.

50. I now understand why the Receiver refused. It was not until after the Receiver filed its
Motion on January 15, 2021 that I received copies of the billing records showing ongoing
communications between the Receiver’s lawyers at Aird Berlis and the Nephews’ lawyers at
Stikeman Elliott. Notably, all descriptions in the invoices from Lenczner Slaght, a second law
firm representing the Receiver — and the law firm driving the Receiver’s latest discovery push in

Toronto — are redacted in their entirety.

51. Several points can be gleaned from a review of the Aird Berlis billings:

a. Communications between the Receiver’s lawyers and the Nephews lawyers span a
period of more than 13 months (from August 29, 2019 through October 3, 2020),

involving at least three separate Aird Berlis lawyers;

b. A variety of communication methods are reflected, including emails, letters,

teleconferences and Zoom calls;

c. The available billing records stop at November 19, 2020, and therefore do not

reflect any potential communications after that date;
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d. Katherine Kay — who attended at least one meeting with Margarita’s lawyers in or
around 2010, where planning for the Oppression Action was discussed — is the

Nephews’ lawyer who appears most frequently in the billings;

e. Representatives of KSV participated directly in multiple calls involving the

Nephews’ counsel; and

f. At least one communication between the Receiver’s counsel and the Nephews’

counsel appears to have involved the Receiver’s Barbados counsel.

52. Thus, there is evidence to suggest that some level of coordination between the Receiver
and the Nephews is ongoing. If — as is apparent from one billing entry on September 18, 2019
involving Steven L. Graff, the most senior of the Aird Berlis lawyers representing the Receiver —
the discussions with Katherine Kay included the Receiver’s Barbados counsel, the implication is
that the Nephews were involved in strategic decisions of the Receiver. Of course, it is impossible

to determine the subject matter of any of the communications from the billing records.

53. The Receiver’s lack of transparency regarding its apparent coordination with the Nephews
is troubling. The blanket redaction of billing descriptions in the Lenczner Slaght invoices, aside
from making it impossible to evaluate the reasonableness of their bills, only exacerbates those

concerns.

B. The Receiver’s Focus on the “Reviewable Transactions”

54.  KSV was appointed Receiver on July 5, 2019. Shortly thereafter, the Receiver and I met
two separate times in Toronto. On both occasions, I stressed that there was only one potential
source of funds to satisfy the Castillo Judgment, the unpaid dividends owed to LISA by the
Avicolas and by Villamorey. I also tried repeatedly to explain the background of LISA’s dispute

with the Nephews, along with specifics concerning the litigation in Panama against Villamorey
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and in Guatemala against the Avicolas to collect the dividends. Initially, Mr. Kofman was
dismissive, changing the subject whenever I brought up any element of the dispute over LISA’s
dividends. However, as I continued to press the point, he became impatient and eventually told

me plainly that the Receiver was not interested in hearing about LISA’s dispute with the Nephews.

55. Indeed, the Receiver’s attention for the past 18 months has been primarily on what it calls
“reviewable transactions,” all of which are perfectly justified and, in my opinion, should not be
considered “reviewable” at all. The first involves what the Receiver has identified as the “EAI
Transaction,” which involved my father’s estate planning culminating in 2016, shortly before he
passed away. At the time, EAI owed him approximately $9 million. In satisfaction, he accepted
the shares of BDT and Arven, both of which were owned by EAI. A Deloitte valuation showed
the combined value of the companies to be approximately $6.5 million. My father then transferred
the BDT and Arven shares to the ArtCarm Trust in Barbados, of which my mother, my wife and
our four children are beneficiaries, but I am not. Further, I had no knowledge of the transaction at

the time, as my father did all of his estate planning without my knowledge or input.

56. BDT’s separate response to the Motion addresses the EAI Transaction in greater detail and
demonstrates that the transfers were entirely valid and supported by adequate consideration. More
importantly, the Receiver has never explained how its focus on the EAI Transaction might satisfy
any part of the Castillo Judgment. The Receiver has not acknowledged the cost of unwinding the
transactions abroad, even if that were legally possible, nor has the Receiver taken any steps to seek
recognition in Barbados. Obviously, taking that path would entail substantial new expense for

both the Receiver and BDT, not to mention the additional time required.

57. The same cost issues arise in connection with the other “reviewable transaction,” which
9
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relates to LISA’s assignment to BDT of its claims to dividends, partially at first in 2018 in
exchange for continued funding of LISA’s litigation, and later in 2020, in full satisfaction of
approximately US$47 million of unreimbursed litigation financing from BDT. It is noteworthy on
this issue that a substantial part of LISA’s debt to BDT had been reduced in 2012 to a final
judgment in Panama equivalent to US$19,184,680, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit 7.
The Receiver’s concerns over the fairness of the transaction are unfounded because any windfall
that might inure to BDT is offset by the risk associated with what is obviously a hard-fought
dispute. Additionally, the Receiver does not address the viability of unwinding the transaction,
which would be particularly challenging in that LISA is a Panama entity and BDT is a Barbados
company. Again, the Receiver has taken no steps to be recognized in either jurisdiction, or to

explain the rationale behind foregoing that process.

C. The Receiver’s Lack of Interest in the Castillo Loan

58. There is evidence to suggest that the Castillo Loan was secured by the CD (i.e., LISA’s
2010 Villamorey dividends), and that the loan was never repaid by Margarita, but was instead
repaid by G&T Bank’s foreclosure of the collateral. That transaction is, in my view, worthy of
review by the Receiver because, if true, the Castillo Judgment has already effectively been satisfied
by an indirect subsidiary of Xela. I have brought the transaction to the Receiver’s attention

multiple times, although the Receiver seems disinterested.

59. As I affirmed in my 2020 Affidavit, I participated in at least four meetings in Guatemala
in 2016 with high-level representatives of G&T Bank about the Castillo Loan. Initially, I spoke
with Mr. Estuardo Cuestas, a member of the Board of Directors of G&T Bank and a close advisor
to the President. I told him that I believed G&T Bank had given a loan to Margarita that was

collateralized with LISA’s Villamorey 2010 dividends, which she had used to fund litigation
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against me in Canada. Mr. Cuestas promised to look into the situation. During our second
meeting, Mr. Cuestas confirmed that the Castillo Loan had indeed been collateralized with CD
#010152676, and he seemed to recognize the seriousness of the situation. He arranged a meeting
for me with Mr. Mario Granai, the President of G&T Bank. I shared my concerns with Mr. Granai,
who provided no substantive commitment, although he seemed genuinely concerned about the

bank’s exposure.

60. Some weeks passed, after which Mr. Cuestas contacted me by telephone and informed me
that G&T Bank would not be able to assist me, and that the Castillo Loan was “no longer an issue”
for the Bank, as it had been “collapsed.” I understood Mr. Cuestas’ comments to signify that G&T
Bank had satisfied the Castillo Loan by foreclosing the collateral (i.e., using the CD purchased
with LISA’s 2010 Villamorey dividends), without Margarita being required to repay any part of

the Castillo Loan.

61.  Ifindeed the CD was pledged as security for the Castillo Loan, and if in fact the loan was
satisfied by G&T Banks foreclosure of the collateral, it would appear that Margarita was never
required to repay the Castillo Loan and has, in effect, already received the sum of US$4.35 million

from LISA, which is more than enough to satisfy what remains of the Castillo Judgment.

62.  In my early meetings with the Receiver, I pointed out these facts, and of course I detailed
them again under oath in my 2020 Affidavit. My lawyers have asked the Receiver to request
copies of the Castillo Loan documents from Margarita (see Exhibit 4 hereto) which might at least
offer a clue whether the Castillo Judgment was effectively satisfied with LISA dividends long
before the Receiver was appointed. The Receiver has not so much as acknowledged the request.

To my knowledge, the Receiver has never even raised this issue with Margarita, nor does the issue
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appear in the Receiver’s reports. It is certainly the case that the Receiver has never provided me
with any documents showing that Margarita repaid the Castillo Loan, if there are any such

documents.

D. The Receiver’s Lack of Interest in the Gadais Limited Promissory Note

63.  Margarita’s husband Ricardo was employed by Xela until approximately 2007. Upon his
departure from the company, my father became concerned about his ability to support Margarita
and her daughters financially. Consequently, to provide some income for Ricardo, my father
caused Xela to sell its 86.6% stake in Digalta LLC, a real estate management company in Russia,
to Gadais Limited (“Gadais™), a Cyprus corporation owned by Ricardo. The purchase was in the
form of a promissory note for $400,000 from Gadais to Xela. A copy of the purchase/sale
agreement and corresponding promissory note (the “Gadais Note”) are attached collectively as

Exhibit 8.

64. The shares of Digalta LLC were duly transferred to Gadais, and the Gadais Note was
signed, but the note has never been repaid, although, to my knowledge, neither has a payment
demand been made. The purchase/sale agreement provides for enforcement through friendly
consultation, failing which any disputes are to be resolved through final and binding arbitration

proceedings in Toronto. (See Exhibit 8, 413.)

65. I informed the Receiver about the Gadais Note and its non-payment, and I suggested that
some action should be taken on Xela’s behalf to collect. The Receiver’s reports, however, are
silent on the subject. They give no indication that any payment demand has been made, or that the

Receiver has initiated any “friendly consultations” with Ricardo concerning repayment.
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E. The Receiver’s Lack of Interest in the Conspiracy Action

66.  As indicated above, Xela, my father and I filed the Conspiracy Action against Margarita,
Ricardo, the Nephews, and others in early 2013, on the heels of Margarita’s Oppression Action
and the Exclusion Actions. A copy of the Amended Complaint in the Conspiracy Action (without
exhibits) is attached hereto as Exhibit 9. The Conspiracy Action alleges broad misconduct by
Margarita in breach of her fiduciary duties as a director of Xela, in conjunction with Ricardo, the

Nephews and others.

67. The general overview of the Conspiracy Action is that:

a. Itisrelated to prior litigation before the Bermuda Supreme Court, which issued the
Bermuda Judgment on September 5, 2008, which provided, inter alia, that the
Nephews had conspired to defraud Xela. Following that decision, the Nephews
attempted to negotiate a purchase of LISA’s stake in the Avicolas as part of a global
settlement. Negotiations ultimately failed due to: (i) the Nephews' failure to
produce any legitimate financial statements for the Avicolas; (i1) the Nephews'
refusal to pay fair value for LISA’s shares; and (3) the defendants' pursuit of the
conspiracy alleged in the Amended Complaint. Although not alleged specifically
in the Amended Complaint, Margarita’s breach of fiduciary duty in conspiring with
the Nephews was an overarching factor in their decision to withdraw from the

negotiations.

b. The Conspiracy Action involves (among other things) the conspiracy of the
Nephews who, acting in concert with Margarita, Ricardo and others, undertook a
scheme to pressure Xela into selling, at a significant discount, LISA’s one-third
ownership interest in the Avicolas. The conspiracy included the filing of the
Oppression Action in the Ontario Superior Court of Justice (Commercial List) with
the ulterior and improper purpose of facilitating the confiscation of LISA’s shares
in the Avicolas without compensation. The Nephews also provided funding for the

Oppression Action by diverting dividends that were due to LISA, in the form of the
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Castillo Loan, which the Nephews helped arrange through G&T Bank using LISA
dividends as collateral. The true purpose of the Oppression Action was two-fold.
First, the defendants used the Oppression Action as a vehicle to place in the public
domain numerous confidential, privileged and proprietary Xela documents that the
defendants unlawfully obtained by inducing a Xela employee to misappropriate
copies. Second, the defendants used the unlawfully obtained documents as the basis
for an uncompensated minority-shareholder squeeze-out by which the Nephews

purported to have confiscated LISA’s entire ownership interest in the Avicolas.

c. The defendants' acts constitute civil conspiracy, abuse of process, unjust

enrichment, knowing receipt of trust proceeds, and breach of fiduciary duty.

d. Tortious acts in furtherance of the conspiracy were committed in Ontario, and the

plaintiffs suffered and continue to suffer significant damages in Ontario.

68.  Preliminarily, as indicated above, the Receiver’s aggressive approach to my personal
electronic devices and all of my emails seems like a redux of these events, especially given the
Receiver’s apparent coordination with the Nephews. Neither the Nephews nor Margarita have
been held accountable for their theft of Xela’s documents or for the resulting Exclusion Actions
that almost misappropriated LISA’s stake in the Avicolas. The time and expense associated with

defeating the conspiracy has been massive, and the human toll has also been significant.

69.  Asindicated, the Conspiracy Action is stalled in the Ontario Superior Court of Justice, due
to the foibles of the system and the expense of prosecuting the case. Nevertheless, the claims
asserted there are genuine and substantial, and they represent a potential direct offset against the
Castillo Judgment. The Receiver has never acknowledged the pendency of the Conspiracy Action
or the potential impact of the damages alleged there on the receivership. Although the Receiver
might not be obligated to reactivate and prosecute the Conspiracy Case, there is little time or

expense associated with, for example, asking Margarita to produce copies of her Castillo Loan
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bank records and proof that she repaid the Loan. The Receiver is not viewing the Castillo Loan or
the Xela document theft as “reviewable transactions,” nor are any of the allegations in the

Conspiracy Action raised in any of the Receiver’s reports.

F. LISA’s Loan Commitment and the Receiver’s Response in Panama

70. The biggest point of contention in these receivership proceedings has, without question,
been the Receiver’s reaction to a loan commitment secured by LISA that could have discharged
the receivership, which included activities by the Receiver’s counsel in Panama, all of which is
still the subject of judicial process in Panama City and in Toronto. In my opinion, the relevant

facts and circumstances have never been fully or properly explained to this Court.

71.  AsThave stated, in late 2019, while the Receiver’s powers were still limited by Paragraph 4
of the Appointment Order, LISA secured a private loan commitment sufficient to satisfy the
Castillo Judgment in full, along with the receivership expenses (the “Loan Commitment”). [
played no part in identifying the lender, negotiating the terms or otherwise securing the Loan
Commitment, nor was I given a copy of any related documents or told any of the details concerning
the loan (the “LISA Loan”). My information was limited to the fact that the LISA Loan exceeded
the amount required to discharge the Receivership, that its source was not one of the ArtCarm
entities, and that it was secured by a percentage of LISA’s outstanding shares in Villamorey. I
was also told that the lender had required strict agreement that LISA not disclose the identity of

the lender to any person outside of LISA and its lawyers, and specifically not to me.

72. On December 17, 2019, Amsterdam & Partners LLP — which acted for LISA in connection
with its dividend rights until those were assigned to BDT — wrote to inform the Receiver about the

Loan Commitment, and requested a payoff amount for the Castillo Judgment and an estimate of
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the total actual and anticipated receivership expenses. A copy of Amsterdam & Partners LLP’s

letter dated is attached hereto as Exhibit 10.

73. Because the proceeds of the LISA Loan would not be available until after Paragraph 4 of
the Appointment Order gave the Receiver full powers over Xela on January 1, 2020, Cambridge
LLP filed a motion on December 31, 2019, requesting an Order to vary Paragraph 4 and suspend
the receivership under further Order (the “Motion to Vary”). The Motion to Vary included an
affidavit by LISA’s President indicating that LISA had secured the Loan Commitment, stated that
the Castillo Judgment would be satisfied in full, and indicated that the sum of $4,682,800 was
expected to be transferred to the Receiver during the week of January 13, 2020. A copy of the

Notice of Motion to Vary is attached hereto as Exhibit 11.

74. On January 8, 2020, Aird Berlis reacted in writing on behalf of the Receiver to the Motion

to Vary. The Aird Berlis letter, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit 12, demands the following:

k ok ok

Even apart from Xela's motion, the Receiver needs to be able to determine how the
economics of the proposed Lisa, S.A. loan affect the interests of other stakeholders
of Xela or its subsidiaries. For that reason, on behalf of the Receiver, we formally
request of Xela and of any officer, director or shareholder of Xela giving
instructions to your firm, a copy of the Lisa, S.A. loan agreement described in the
Hals Affidavit along with a copy of any closing agenda prepared in connection with
contemplated loan transaction. Our authority for this request lies in paragraph 6
of the Appointment Order, which requires all persons to provide to the Receiver,
among other things, any documents, contracts and information of any kind relating
to Xela. Our authority for the request also lies in paragraph 3(p) of the Appointment
Order, by which the Receiver is now authorized and empowered to exercise any
shareholder rights that Xela might have, including Xela's 100% indirect ownership
of Lisa, S.A. (through Gabinvest S.A.), to the exclusion of all other persons,
including Xela itself- The limitations placed on this power by paragraph 4 of the
Appointment Order only concerned exercise of the power in connection with
litigation proceedings and, in any case, only applied until December 31, 2019.

75. With that letter, the Receiver set in place three erroneous principles under which it has
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operated ever since, to the prejudice of Xela, LISA, Gabinvest and me personally: (a) it fails to
recognize the territorial limitation of the Appointment Order, and specifically the Receiver’s
inability to act for Xela in foreign jurisdictions without advance recognition of its Appointment
Order abroad; (b) it ignores the fact that duly established corporations — even if subsidiaries — are
distinct and independent entities; and (c) it holds to the inconsistency that I have no authority over
Xela, yet I should somehow be able to dictate to LISA, a foreign subsidiary of a foreign subsidiary

of Xela.

76. On January 9, 2020, an email from Aird Berlis to Cambridge LLP, attached as Exhibit 13,
perpetuated the same errors, incorrectly assuming that I had access to the details of the Loan
Commitment, that I could control LISA without any authority over Xela, and that the Receiver had
some authority over LISA, a Panama corporation, without formal recognition from the
Panamanian authorities. It is worth noting that the Receiver seemed prepared at that juncture to
take steps against LISA in Panama, even though the Receiver lacked recognition of its

Appointment Order outside of Ontario:

In addition, and per our discussions following our attendance before His Honour,
the Receiver hereby requests that your client provide to the Receiver any and all
documentation and details relating to the proposed loan arrangement to be entered
into by the Company’s subsidiary, Lisa S.A., which is referenced in the Affidavit of
Harald Johannessen Hals dated December 30, 2019 by no later than 12:00 pm
tomorrow, January 10, 2020, so that the Receiver may review and consider the
terms of such arrangement. If by noon tomorrow the Receiver is not provided with
the full details of the loan arrangement or if the Receiver is not satisfied with the
proposed terms of the loan, taking into account the interest of all stakeholders, the
Receiver will take whatever steps it deems necessary (and that are in the best
interest of Xela and its stakeholders), as permitted by the Receivership Order, to
protect the assets and business. [Emphasis mine.]

77. On January 10, 2020, a follow-up email from Aird Berlis to Cambridge LLP, a copy of

which is attached as Exhibit 14, further purports to instruct LISA through me:
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No further steps should be taken by Lisa with respect to the loan until the Receiver
has been able to review and make a determination as to the terms of the proposed
loan documents.

78.  The Receiver’s demand that LISA suspend the LISA Loan was shocking to me, given the
Receiver’s knowledge that it would satisfy the Castillo Judgment in full and would cover any
enforcement costs and expenses of the receivership, such that the receivership could be discharged.
I still do not understand the basis for the Receiver’s belief that it was entitled to further evaluate
the Loan Commitment, knowing that it had no authority over LISA, and that the LISA Loan would
fully satisfy the only ground for the receivership itself. Although the Receiver subsequently tried
to justify its position by asserting that other creditors of Xela had objected to a discharge, it is my

understanding that the basis for the receivership is limited to the Castillo Judgment.

79. Nevertheless, on January 13, 2020, Cambridge LLP responded to the Receiver and
provided the limited information that I had concerning the Loan Commitment. A copy of that
letter is attached as Exhibit 15. Cambridge LLP also assured the Receiver that I had instructed

LISA to cooperate, and invited the Receiver to address LISA directly on the subject:

Second, we acknowledge your request for information to evaluate the loan
arrangement through which Xela proposes to satisfy the Margarita Castillo
judgment and all other creditors, fees and expenses of the receivership (the
“Loan”). Xela’s knowledge of the Loan is as follows: (1) it is being procured by
LISA, S.A., a Panama corporation (“LISA”), from a third party that is unrelated to
any Xela entity or any entity owned by The ArtCarm Trust,; (2) the Loan is adequate
to satisfy the monetary threshold for a motion to discharge the receivership,
according to the totals provided by the Receiver when he learned of the Loan in
December 2019; and (3) LISA will pledge some of its common shares of
Villamorey, S.A. as collateral for the Loan, and nothing more.

We think this information is enough for a finding that the Loan is in the best interest
of Xela and its stakeholders. However, in case the Receiver should disagree, we
have instructed LISA to cooperate, and we respectfully invite the Receiver to direct
any further questions directly to LISA.
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80. Later in the day on January 13, 2020, KSV’s Bobby Kofman (i.e., the Receiver) responded
personally to the email enclosing Cambridge LLP’s letter. A copy of Mr. Kofman’s email is

attached as Exhibit 16, which states in its totality as follows:

Thank you.
This information is insufficient.

81. On January 14, 2020, Aird Berlis sent a letter, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit 17,

more thoroughly responding to Cambridge LLP:

In your letter you state that Xela has the following knowledge of the Loan: (a) it is
to be made by a party that is not owned by LISA or by The ArtCarm Trust; (b) the
Loan proceeds will be adequate to repay the debts to the Receiver and the
Applicant; and (c) the only security to be granted is a pledge of shares in
Villamorey, S.A. This limited information is not sufficient for the Receiver to
evaluate whether the Loan is in the best interests of the stakeholders of Xela.
Without limitation, you have not informed us whether the Loan will be sufficient or
purposed to pay debts of Xela to other creditors, a number of whom have requested
that the Receivership not be terminated.

The following facts lead us to believe that the principal of Xela giving your firm
directions has the draft loan documentation: (a) the Loan is being procured for
Xela’s ultimate benefit by one of its indirect 100% subsidiaries; (b) Xela’s principal
knows the identity of the lender and the terms of the Loan; and (c) Xela’s principal
had confidence enough in the Loan to cause Xela to bring the Motion. To repeat
the request made in Kyle Plunkett’s letter of January 8, 2020, please provide a copy
of the Loan agreement and any closing agenda. We refer you again to paragraph
6 of the Appointment Order which imposes obligations on Xela’s principal which
cannot be shed simply through your suggestion that we seek any further information
from LISA directly.

82.  The Aird Berlis letter was simply wrong. As I had indicated to the Receiver, I had no
documentation whatever relating to the Loan Commitment or the LISA Loan. Moreover, the Aird
Berlis letter conveys a tone of mistrust that was simply not warranted, which the Receiver has

continued to perpetuate in these proceedings, and which is personally offensive. LISA is a separate
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corporate entity in Panama, governed by a duly constituted board of directors, subject to the laws
of Panama, fully capable of taking independent legal advice and evaluating the potential impact of
the receivership on its dividend rights. For those reasons, LISA undertook to identify potential
funding that it could provide to Xela to help Xela extricate itself from the burden of the
receivership, which in turn benefited LISA because it eliminated the risk that the Receiver might
eventually take steps to liquidate its dividend rights in satisfaction of the Castillo Judgment. My
input was not required for LISA to reach any of those conclusions, and LISA was aware enough
to limit the information that was given to me, even if it would have been permitted by the non-
disclosure agreement the lender had insisted upon. Further, because — as the Receiver reminds us
— I no longer had any authority to act for Xela, either as its President or as a shareholder, I had no
authority to demand information from LISA. The Receiver’s implication that because

Mr. Johannessen is my brother-in-law, I must control him is insulting to both of us.

83.  Xela may be the ultimate beneficial owner of LISA, but I was always required, before the
receivership divested my shareholder rights, to follow corporate formalities applicable to Xela’s
foreign assets, including strict Panamanian requirements concerning how Xela must prove its
authority over Gabinvest within the actual minutes of every Gabinvest shareholder meeting. The
Receiver is similarly required to follow the laws applicable to Xela’s assets. In this case, the
Receiver sidestepped those requirements by ignoring the territorial limits of the Appointment
Order and the Receiver’s obligation to seek recognition by Panamanian authorities before acting
in that country, preferring instead to cast me as non-cooperative and threaten me with contempt
motions. The fact that the Receiver is now asking this Court for further authorization (which the
Receiver already had) to seek recognition in Panama demonstrates that the Receiver knows it acted

misguidedly.
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84. On January 16, 2020, Amsterdam & Partners LLP responded to Aird Berlis on behalf of

LISA, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit 18:

Dear Kyle:

As you know, we are international lawyers for LISA, S.A., a Panama corporation
(“LISA”), and counsel of record for LISA in the garnishment case in Miami. We
understand that the receiver is demanding documents and other details about the
loan LISA is procuring to seek to discharge the receivership (the “Loan”). Xela
has instructed LISA to cooperate as much as it can.

As you can appreciate, this is a unique receivership. It was created at the behest
of Margarita Castillo, who — if allegations in pending litigation in Toronto are true
— is acting in conspiracy with the majority stakeholders (i.e., the so-called
“Cousins”) of the poultry conglomerate in Guatemala that has been trying for
decades to avoid paying LISA its due share of dividends (approaching US$400
million) while paying themselves in full. At the same time, LISA’s stake in the
poultry conglomerate is Xela’s biggest asset. Thus, the Cousins have a special
interest in the outcome of the receivership, as underscored by the presence of
lawyers from Stikeman Elliott LLP at the case conference earlier this week. Make
no mistake, the Cousins are using this receivership to try to achieve an inexpensive
win in a high-stakes, 20-year-old multijurisdictional contest.

Therefore, in order to discharge the receivership, LISA’s Board of Directors gave
its President, on or about December 30, 2019, the authority to procure the Loan.
As you might anticipate in these circumstances, LISA did not share the details of
the Loan with Xela beyond confirming that it was not a loan from any of the
ArtCarm Trust entities, it was adequate to meet the threshold in Paragraph 25 of
the receivership Order, and that some of LISA’s shares of Villamorey were being
pledged as security, but nothing more. All of the details of the Loan, including loan
documents, were and are held exclusively by LISA. More importantly — owing to
past conduct of the Cousins and the unique circumstances of the receivership — the
lender required LISA to make a confidentiality agreement as a condition for the
Loan, barring LISA from disclosing the identity of the lender and any details of the
Loan to any third parties, including without limitation Xela. Thus, LISA is under a
contractual duty to withhold all information concerning the Loan in all
circumstances short of a Panama Court Order compelling disclosure, which we are
not certain would issue even if the receiver’s powers in Panama were recognized
in principle by the Court.

Lastly, we emphasize that LISA considers the Loan to be integral to the

preservation of its interest in the poultry conglomerate. LISA will therefore react
to any improper interference with the Loan. Having said that, we are confident
that the receiver can be relied upon to act appropriately in this regard, and we
appreciate your courtesy and professionalism.
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85. On January 17, 2020, Aird Berlis responded to Amsterdam & Partners LLP, a copy of
which is attached as Exhibit 19. The Aird Berlis letter again ignores the territorial limitations of
the Appointment Order, and presumes that the Receiver has authority over Xela’s Panamanian
assets without recognition of the Appointment Order in Panama. The letter further implies that I
was lying about the information that had been provided to me — or, paradoxically, that I still had

some authority over LISA to demand information — and it threatens me with a contempt motion.

86.  Even more significantly in my mind, the Aird Berlis letter reveals that the Receiver’s action
in Panama to take over the Gabinvest board of directors, and subsequently the LISA board, was a

direct reaction to the LISA Loan Commitment:

As you are aware, we are the lawyers for KSV Kofman Inc. (“KSV™), in its capacity
as the court-appointed receiver and manager (in such capacity, the “Receiver”) of
Xela, appointed pursuant to the Order of the Ontario Superior Court of Justice
(Commercial List) (the “Court”) issued and entered on July 5, 2019 (the
“Appointment Order”).

I am writing in response to your email of January 16 and further to our letter to
Canadian counsel for Mr. Juan Guillermo Gutierrez (“Juan Guillermo”),
Cambridge LLP, dated January 14, a copy of which is enclosed as Schedule A
hereto.

In your email you refuse, on behalf of LISA, S.A. (“LISA”), to comply with the
Receiver’s repeated request for information and documentation relating the
proposed loan (the “Loan”) to LISA (“LISA”), the proceeds of which are to be
used to pay debts of Xela to the Receiver and to the applicant in the above-
referenced receivership proceedings (the “Receivership”). As you note, LISA is a
subsidiary of Xela and a significant asset and source of recovery for Xela’s
stakeholders. Such refusal by LISA and Juan Guillermo is contrary to the spirit of
our chambers appointment before Justice McEwen on January 9, 2020. As counsel
for Juan Guillermo can attest, Justice McEwen was very clear that full disclosure
of the loan documentation by Juan Guillermo and LISA was to be provided to the
Receiver prior to LISA entering into the Loan.

Your email is not an answer to our January 14 letter. In particular, your email does
not relieve Juan Guillermo or any other principal of Xela from the Court-imposed
obligation to comply with the Receiver’s repeated request for information and
documentation relating the Loan. By copying Cambridge LLP on this letter, I put
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them on notice that we still expect an appropriate, timely response from them to
our January 14 letter. It is the Receiver’s position that the terms of the Appointment
Order regarding disclosure trump any confidentiality provisions contained in
purported loan agreement. The Receiver will respect an appropriate confidentiality
provision. The fact that the potential lender insisted on keeping its identity
confidential is a significant concern to the Receiver regarding the propriety and
nature of the Loan. The Receiver will be bringing these concerns, among others, to
the attention of the Court.

Furthermore, Mr. Gutierrez and LISA have to date failed to comply with the Order
of Justice McEwen dated October 29, 2019 (the “Disclosure Order”), pursuant to
which various parties, including LISA, were ordered to produce all information
pertaining to certain transactions, including the Assignment Transaction (as
defined in the Disclosure Order, a copy of which was delivered to you previously).

Although the Receiver was appointed by the Court upon application of the
applicant judgement creditor, Margarita Castillo (the “Applicant”), the Receiver’s
duties are to the Court and to all the stakeholders of Xela. The Receiver is not
directed by nor specifically accountable to the Applicant, nor does it
inappropriately disclose information to the Applicant or otherwise. Juan Guillermo
has, at all times, had competent Canadian counsel acting for Xela to challenge any
impropriety in the appointment of the Receiver or the conduct of the Receivership.

As requested by the Receiver’s representative, Bobby Kofman, in his reply to your
email, please advise immediately if the Loan transaction has closed and if it the
Loan has been advanced. If either has not occurred, please advise immediately
when that is scheduled to occur.

To repeat what was said _in_our January 14 letter, the Receiver will not be in a
position to approve of the procurement of the Loan or any loan for that matter until
the Receiver receives and has evaluated the requested Loan documentation in full
and, until such time, the Receiver explicitly objects to LISA completing the Loan
transaction. As you are aware, any limitation imposed on the Receiver under the
Appointment Order have automatically expired as of December 31, 2019. The
Receiver will take any and all steps it deems necessary to protect and preserve the
debtor’s property, including its ownership interest in its various subsidiaries, which
steps may include pursuing all recoveries and remedies available to the Receiver
with respect improper transactions carried out by Xela and its subsidiaries prior
to its appointment.

If Juan Guillermo continues to refuse to comply with the Receiver’s information
request, the Receiver will take such steps as it deems appropriate to protect the
integrity of the Receivership and the interest of all stakeholders of Xela, all of which
will be reported to the Court. Such steps may include, without limitation, a motion
to hold Mr. Gutierrez in contempt of Court orders, which orders he continues to
willfully disregard. [Emphasis mine.]
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87. As it happens, even before Aird Berlis sent the above letter on January 17, 2020, the
Receiver had already instructed Panamanian counsel to convene a Gabinvest shareholder meeting
and to change the Gabinvest board of directors, and subsequently the LISA board of directors. The
Gabinvest Minutes are Exhibit 1 hereto, as notarized before Hatstone’s Alvaro Almengor, the
Receiver’ agent in Panama, and filed in the Public Registry of Panama. Of particular importance

is that part of the Gabinvest Minutes that recites those in attendance:

* %%

PRESENT: The following were present at the meeting --------------

ALL OF THE SHAREHOLDERS: In person or through an authorized
representation, who duly represents the totality of the shares that are issued, paid
and in circulation, of the corporation (the “Shareholder”) -----------

88.  In fact, that representation was false. Mr. Almengor was not “authorized” and did not
“duly represent” Xela, the sole shareholder of Gabinvest, in Panama City on January 16, 2020.
Setting aside that the minutes do not identify the person who purportedly ‘“authorized”
Mr. Almengor to “duly represent” the totality of Xela’s shareholdings, Mr. Almengor had no
power of attorney from the Receiver, which I personally know, as explained further below. The
requirement of a valid power of attorney is not a technicality that can be waived off; it is a strict
prerequisite of Panama law that must precede any act by the designee of a Panamanian

corporation’s shareholder(s).

89. Further, even if Mr. Almengor had been in possession of a duly executed power of attorney
from the Receiver, that power would have been invalid for purposes of exercising Xela’s
shareholder rights over Gabinvest, a Panama company, because the Appointment Order has never
been recognized in Panama. The Receiver has no Xela shareholder rights apart from that Order,

and the Receiver therefore had no authority to designate Mr. Almengor to act for Xela in Panama.
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Moreover, nowhere in the Gabinvest Minutes is the Receiver identified or even referenced
generally, which would have been required in any case. Thus, the statement in the Gabinvest
Minutes that Mr. Almengor was sitting in “authorized representation” of Xela and “duly
represented” the shareholder was false, and it was therefore unlawful for Mr. Almengor to file the
Gabinvest Minutes in the Public Registry of Panama, purporting the alter the Gabinvest board.
There may be other legal violations in connection with Mr. Almengor’s conduct, but the ones |

reference are sufficient to underscore the problem.

90.  Iunderstand that Mr. Almengor also purported to convene a LISA shareholder meeting to
alter LISA’s board of directors, based on the changes ostensibly made to the composition of
Gabinvest’s board, as evidenced by the Gabinvest Minutes. [ further understand that
Mr. Almengor caused minutes of the LISA meeting (the “LISA Minutes”) to be filed with the
Public Registry in Panama at or about the same time as the Gabinvest Minutes. To the extent the
LISA Minutes and their contents were based on Mr. Almengor’s purported authority expressed in

the Gabinvest Minutes, the LISA Minutes are similarly defective.

91. When LISA discovered the Gabinvest Minutes and the LISA Minutes in the Public
Registry, it assumed that the Nephews were responsible. It therefore alerted the Public Registry

to the defects, and the Public Registry withdrew the minutes.

92.  Subsequently, as the Court knows, LISA’s President filed a criminal complaint against
Mr. Almengor for filing a false statement in the Public Registry, which I understand he felt
compelled by Panamanian law to submit. As the Court also knows, I signed a sworn statement in
those criminal proceedings, although I did not believe (and still do not believe) that in doing so I

was initiating or furthering some proceeding against the Receiver, or the Receiver’s agent, in
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violation of the Appointment Order. If I was, it was certainly not intentional, as I stated earlier.

93. As noted, the Gabinvest Minutes are completely silent as to who had “authorized”
Mr. Almengor to exercise Xela’s shareholder rights, or in what manner that had allegedly occurred.
My sworn statement in December 2020 clarifies that the purported authorization did not come
from me as President and shareholder of Xela. Thus, in my view, my sworn statement merely
eliminated one possible (but erroneous) conclusion that could arise from a reading of the Gabinvest
Minutes, which was that I had been the unidentified person, in my capacity as the shareholder of
Xela, who had authorized Mr. Almengor to act. In any event, I provided no input whatsoever into
the decision to file the criminal complaint; that decision was made solely by Mr. Johannessen in

consultation with legal counsel.

94.  Regarding the effectiveness of the Receiver’s purported authorization to Mr. Almengor, |
am personally aware that the Receiver had not given Mr. Almengor a power of attorney until well
after the Gabinvest Minutes were filed on or about January 16, 2020. I know this because I was
present at a meeting in Bogota, Colombia on February 21, 2020, the purpose of which was to give
the Receiver copies of documents relating to the litigation in Panama against Villamorey, as well
as documents concerning LISA’s assignment of its dividend rights to BDT. As indicated, I had
been asking the Receiver for a face-to-face meeting to discuss collection of the dividends, and I
was delighted that the Receiver had agreed to meet with me. As it happens, however, I made the
trip from Toronto to Colombia in anticipation of meeting with the Receiver, but the Receiver
backed out without letting me know. Once in Bogotd, we found ourselves meeting with lawyers
from the Hatstone firm, without the Receiver. When LISA and BDT asked to see Hatstone’s power

of attorney from the Receiver, Mr. Almengor was not able to provide one.
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95. Owing to LISA’s and BDT’s inability to confirm Hatstone’s mandate, they were unable to
leave copies of the documents with the Hatstone lawyers, although the documents were shown to
them on an informal basis on February 21, 2020. We all agreed to meet the following week in

Panama, on February 28, 2020.

96. On February 24, 2020, Hatstone and LISA engaged in an email exchange, a copy of which
is attached collectively as Exhibit 20. There, Hatstone transmitted its signed power of attorney

from the Receiver for the first time.

97.  Additionally, the Hatstone emails referred to the previous meeting on February 21, and
confirmed February 28 for the upcoming meeting. Interestingly, Hatstone characterized both as
settlement meetings, although I had understood their purpose was to share documents relating to
litigation against Villamorey and the LISA/BDT assignment with the Receiver. Regardless, what
is notable is that Hatstone conditioned the February 28 meeting on LISA’s and Gabinvest’s

voluntary consent to the Receiver’s desired board composition for Gabinvest and LISA:

The Receiver has advised me that prior to the 28 February meeting taking place,
you accept the Receiver’s changes to the boards of each of these companies:
namely, the board of Gabinvest S.A is replaced entirely by the Receiver’s
representatives and three representatives are added to the board of Lisa S.A making
it a mixed board.

k %k ok

As mentioned in the previous email, in order for the meeting to proceed on Friday,
it is a requirement from the Receiver that its changes to the boards of both
Gabinvest and Lisa are accepted. Again, should a full and final settlement be
concluded, then the boards can then be changed as you wish.

98.  Inresponse to the Receiver’s conditions, LISA declined, responding that the Receiver had
not obtained recognition of his appointment order, and also that Hatstone had not followed the

requirements of LISA’s and Gabinvest’s articles of incorporation as they relate to modifications
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to the board of directors. Consequently, the Receiver cancelled the February 28 meeting, where
LISA had been scheduled to deliver documents relating to the Panama litigation, which the
Receiver had been requesting. Thus, by failing to appear in person or to provide a valid power of
attorney to Mr. Almengor in advance of the February 21 meeting, and by subsequently cancelling
the February 28 meeting, the Receiver actually prevented LISA from cooperating with the

Receiver.

99. On March 11, 2020, Hatstone sent a further email to LISA, a copy of which is attached as
Exhibit 21. There, Hatstone indicated that it had conveyed LISA’s views to the Receiver, and that
the Receiver’s response was as follows:

I am not prepared to meet with Juan in the absence of their agreement to our board

changes. We will be asking for a contempt order. You can tell them that.
[Emphasis mine.]

100. The Receiver did indeed bring a contempt motion, as the Court will recall; however, the
Receiver eventually adjourned that motion sine die. Unfortunately, my sworn affidavit in
connection with the criminal complaint against Mr. Almengor in Panama has now invigorated the
Receiver, although, as I said, I was only trying to clarify that I had not been the person who had
authorized Mr. Almengor to exercise Xela’s shareholder rights, and I certainly did not believe that
I was violating the Appointment Order. In any case, I have followed to the letter the Court’s
requirements to withdraw my sworn statement and to direct Mr. Johannessen and Mr. Alcides de
Leon to withdraw the criminal complaint. While I understand that both Mr. Johannessen and
Mr. Alcides de Leon have responded negatively to that direction, I reiterate that it seems unfair,
and it is in fact incorrect, to assume that I can control LISA and its representatives when I have no

legal right to do so.
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101. In my view, this series of events reflects some resistance by the Receiver to acknowledge
the limits of its power and to conform its conduct to applicable legal requirements. I believe that
it further demonstrates the Receiver’s willingness to pressure me with threats of legal process and
even incarceration to accomplish its objectives. These tactics seem heavy-handed to me, especially
since the Receiver’s motivation to change LISA’s board was to challenge the LISA Loan, which,
as indicated, would have fully satisfied the Castillo Judgment, thereby accomplishing the purpose
of the receivership. Unfortunately, the Receiver ultimately succeeded in preventing the LISA
Loan, as the lender withdrew the Loan Commitment in the face of the public-record controversy

over LISA’s board of directors.

G. The Receiver’s Pursuit of Discovery in Toronto

102.  The fiasco in Panama occurred in January 2020, and the Receiver was on notice even earlier
that it needed recognition in Panama to exercise Xela’s shareholder rights in that country. Still,
the Receiver has yet to take steps in Panama in that regard. Instead, the Receiver changed tactics
shortly after its contempt motion against me was adjourned sine die on or about April 8, 2020, and
launched an expensive and time-consuming discovery initiative in Toronto against me and my

family, where the Receiver’s jurisdiction is unassailable.

103.  First, the Receiver issued discovery requests to Arturo’s Technical Services (“ATS”), a
company owned by the ArtCarm Trust and operated jointly in Toronto by my sons Andres and
Thomas. ATS had been storing some of Xela’s physical archives, which the Receiver requested.
Contrary to what the Receiver’s Fourth Report says, ATS fully cooperated with the Receiver, and
the Receiver took possession of all physical Xela documents. (Separately, the Receiver has never
provided me with any index or other tracking method that would allow me to determine whether

the document set is intact after the receivership is discharged.) The significant point about this
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request is that it did not occur until April 2, 2020, some nine months after the Receiver’s
appointment, but in the same approximate timeframe as its contempt motion against me, which, as
indicated, did not go forward beyond the initial case conference. In other words, it appears to me
that the Receiver took stock of its efforts to change LISA’s board of directors and its pending
contempt motion — neither of which had any basis in fact or law, in my opinion — and settled on

another way to continue its pattern of conduct, using new litigation specialists in Toronto.

104. Indeed, the discovery requests did not end with the physical documents stored by ATS.
ATS also owns certain computer servers that it purchased from Xela in 2017, after Xela’s
operations were essentially shuttered. ATS uses those servers to provide cloud storage services to
some of its clients. Apparently, some part of the ATS servers contain historical Xela documents,
which the Receiver has requested. However, I understand that producing the Xela documents in
the format requested by the Receiver will also expose documents owned by ATS’s clients, who
are third parties independent of Xela. Counsel for ATS is addressing those issues with the Receiver
and this Court, but I understand from the Receiver’s Motion that the Receiver is giving very little
consideration to the privacy of ATS’s clients, who are not covered by the scope of the receivership.
I also understand that the Receiver’s aggressive approach to this issue is a serious threat to ATS’s
viability as a company because of the potential access by the Receiver to documents that ATS’s
clients expect to keep private. Further, the process has already involved significant time and

expense, and promises to continue doing so.

105. Additionally, my own emails are maintained on ATS servers, and the Receiver has
demanded that ATS provide copies of all emails that I have ever sent or received. The Receiver’s
demand is not limited to emails written or received in my capacity as President and owner of Xela,

but includes all personal and business emails, without limitation or restriction, regardless of
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whether they have any bearing on Xela. I strongly object to this request for several reasons. First,
it exceeds the scope of the Receiver’s mandate and of the receivership. Second, it likely covers
privileged communications concerning matters unrelated to Xela. Third, it is unduly burdensome
and oppressive in that the amount of time and expense required to review and potentially challenge
production of (not to mention translate) the entire universe of my emails is virtually incalculable.
Fourth, I believe the request has been made for an improper purpose, that is, to consume my time
and resources, and that of my two sons, without advancing the objective of the receivership, in

keeping with the Receiver’s pattern of conduct described above.

106. Finally, the Receiver has also asked to review my personal electronic devices, on the
grounds that they may contain some documents that belong to Xela, and that therefore the Receiver
would be entitled to see them. The Receiver and I have agreed to a consent Order governing the
review and production of data on the devices, although we disagree about the interpretation of the
Order, as discussed further below. In any case, it seems clear to me that the Receiver is targeting
my personal devices as part of the same pattern of conduct, which does nothing but consume
resources without advancing the purpose of the receivership, all of which is consistent with the
interests of the Nephews. My disagreement with the Receiver over interpretation of the consent

Order 1s discussed further below.

107. The overarching conclusions that I take from the Receiver’s discovery requests are as
follows: (a) none of the information will help the Receiver collect LISA’s dividends; (b) the
process will be intensely expensive and time consuming, as the amount of data is massive and the
documents are largely in Spanish; (c) it seems clear that there will be significant disagreements
concerning the discoverability of my emails and the documents on my personal devices, requiring

the involvement of this Court and/or a special master; and (d) there is a substantial risk that some
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of the information will fall into the Nephews’ hands, through Margarita if not some other way,
which would then be used by the Nephews, if at all possible, to avoid paying LISA’s dividends
and even to misappropriate LISA’s interest in Villamorey and/or the Avicolas. I see no reasonable
basis to think that the process will advance the purpose of the receivership, and even if it might,

the potential benefit is eclipsed by the certain financial and emotional toll on me and my family.

H. The Receiver’s Rejection of BDT’s Settlement Proposal

108. The Receiver’s pattern of conduct is also reflected in its rejection of a recent settlement
proposal advanced by BDT, under which BDT would give the Receiver an enforceable
commitment to pay into the receivership the first of any dividends recovered from Villamorey in
the Panama litigation. I understand that BDT has submitted materials to the Court discussing the
details of that proposal, so I do not address them here. However, I see no logical reason why the
Receiver would reject a proposal that offers just as much value to the receivership as the Receiver
could possibly recover from investigating and unwinding the “reviewable transactions,” except
without further wasted time or expense, and without any of the attendant legal hurdles. There is
nobody more motivated than BDT to collect LISA’s dividends, and the interest of efficiency
clearly favors accepting BDT’s proposal. The Receiver’s out-of-hand rejection of the proposal is
consistent with its overall pattern of conduct because it keeps the receivership active. In my view,

the Court should require the Receiver to accept the offer.

IV.  THE MOTION SHOULD BE DENIED ON ITS MERITS

A. The Receiver Requires No New Authorization to Seek Recognition in Panama or
Barbados

109. Paragraphs 30 and 31 of the Appointment Order give the Receiver all the authority it needs

to seek recognition in, among other places, Panama and Barbados. The Appointment Order speaks
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Applicant
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XELA ENTERPRISES LTD., TROPIC INTERNATIONAL LIMITED,
FRESH QUEST, INC., 696096 ALBERTA LTD., JUAN GUILLERMO
GUTIERREZ and CARMEN S. GUTIERREZ, as Executor of the Estate of

Juan Arturo Gutierrez
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FACTUM OF RESPONDENT, JUAN GUILLERMO GUTIERREZ

. OVERVIEW

1. More than 20 months have passed since the Receiver's appointment over
Respondent Xela Enterprises Inc. (“Xela”). In that time, the Receiver has incurred over
one million dollars in receivership expenses but made no significant progress toward
collecting the judgment debt (the “Castillo Judgment”). The Receiver has shown
significant bias against Respondent Juan Guillermo Gutierrez (“Mr. Gutierrez”) and a

pattern of conduct that is unlikely ever to accomplish the main purpose of the receivership.

2. The only realistic source of funds to satisfy the Castillo Judgment is dividends
owed to Xela’s indirect subsidiary Lisa S.A., a Panama company (“LISA”). The Receiver
has shown no interest in helping LISA collect, but has focused instead on: (a) preventing
LISA from closing a loan that would have satisfied the Castillo Judgment (the “LISA

Loan”); and (b) investigating legitimate past transactions unlikely to yield actual money.
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Mr. Gutierrez. The Receiver's Fourth Report contains numerous such

mischaracterizations, and it lacks evidentiary support. Annex A hereto contains details.

7. Questions are also raised with respect to the Receiver’'s ongoing but unreported
communication with the majority shareholders who have wrongfully withheld the
dividends since 1998 (the “Nephews”). Billing records reflect communications over a
period of at least 13 months between the Receiver's lawyers and counsel for the
Nephews, including time descriptions suggestive of strategic discussions. The Receiver

denies coordination but does not explain the contacts and refuses to disclose the content.

8. The Receiver’s Motion relates to discovery sought from Mr. Gutierrez, most or all
of which is outside the scope of the Receiver's authority. In an effort to cooperate,
Mr. Gutierrez consented to an Order dated October 27, 2020 (the “Consent Order”),
relating to review of his personal electronic devices, not property of Xela. The Receiver's
interpretation of the Consent Order is incorrect and prejudicial; it would require
Mr. Gutierrez to unlock and upload the entire contents of his personal devices to a
database maintained by the Receiver's agent before Mr. Gutierrez and/or his lawyers
have reviewed the contents. Also, the Receiver’'s agent has already conducted forensic
analysis of the devices and agreed that file deletions are consistent with normal

operations, yet the Receiver wishes to conduct further forensic analysis without a basis.

9. The Receiver also seeks access to the entire universe of Mr. Gutierrez’s emails,

without any limitation to Xela’s business operations or explanation how they might assist.

10. The new investigative authority requested by the Receiver is virtually unlimited,
without any valid articulated relationship to the receivership. It would perpetuate (and

probably exacerbate) the Receiver’s current pattern of conduct, and it promises massive
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president refused to withdraw the complaint, the Receiver sought contempt.?*
29. Discovery into Mr. Gutierrez’s Personal Information — The Receiver has
launched discovery seeking access to Mr. Gutierrez’s personal electronic devices as well
as his emails. The discovery is intrusive and includes information beyond the scope of
the Receiver’s authority. The cost is almost incalculable. Further, the information sought
does not seem reasonably calculated to advance the receivership, as the information

would not assist in the collection of LISA’s unpaid dividends.?®

30. Rejection of BDT Settlement Proposal — BDT owns the rights to LISA’s
dividends, and it is pursuing the litigation against Villamorey in conjunction with LISA. On
December 17, 2020, BDT offered to commit proceeds from its recovery against
Villamorey to the receivership, thereby satisfying the purpose of the receivership while
suspending the costs and expenses incurred by the Receiver. The Receiver summarily
rejected the offer, and has made no attempt to discuss any of its alleged concerns with
BDT to try to find an agreeable solution that would suspend the costs and expenses being

incurred by the Receiver.?®

31. The Receiver’s Lack of Interest in the Castillo Loan — There is evidence to
suggest that the Castillo Loan was secured by and paid with Lisa’s 2010 Villamorey
dividends. If true, the Castillo Judgment has already effectively been satisfied by an

indirect subsidiary of Xela. Mr. Gutierrez brought this transaction to the Receiver’s

24 Gutierrez Affidavit at paras 8-14; Responding Record dated March 9, 2021 at Tab A pages 4-7.

25 Gutierrez Affidavit at paras 18, 105-106; Responding Record dated March 9, 2021 at Tab A pages 9 and
46-47.

26 Gutierrez Affidavit at paras 21, 108; Responding Record dated March 9, 2021 at Tab A pages 10-11 and
49,
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attention on numerous occasions, but the Receiver seemed disinterested.?’ It does not

appear that the Receiver has even asked Margarita for a copy of the loan documents.?®

32. The Receiver’s Lack of Interest in the Conspiracy Action — Neither the
Nephews nor Margarita have been held accountable for the theft of Xela documents or
for the resulting exclusion actions that almost misappropriated LISA’s stake in the
Avicolas.?® The conspiracy action has been stayed in the Ontario Superior Court of
Justice and could offset the Castillo Judgment.®® The Receiver has expressed no interest

in that action, and has made no mention of it in its reports.

33. The Receiver’s Lack of Interest in the Gadais Limited Promissory Note — In
2007, Margarita’s husband Ricardo signed a promissory note for $400,000 on behalf of a
Gadais Limited, a company he owned, in exchange for Xela’s 86.6% stake in a real estate
management company.3! The shares were duly transferred, but the note has never been
repaid, nor is there any indication a demand has been made. Mr. Gutierrez informed the

Receiver, but the Receiver’s reports make no mention of the matter.3?

34. The Receiver’s Failure to Seek Recognition in Panama or Barbados -
Paragraphs 30 and 31 of the Appointment Order give the Receiver all the authority it
needs to seek recognition in, among other places, Panama and Barbados. The
Appointment Order was obtained on July 5, 2019 and the Receiver is only now moving to

seek recognition of the Appointment Order, which is unnecessary. The Receiver’s failure

2’Gutierrez Affidavit at paras 58-62; Responding Record dated March 9, 2021 at Tab A pages 26-28.
28 Gutierrez Affidavit at para 62; Responding Record dated March 9, 2021 at Tab A pages 27-28.

29 Gutierrez Affidavit at para 68; Responding Record dated March 9, 2021 at Tab A page 30.

30 Gutierrez Affidavit at para 69; Responding Record dated March 9, 2021 at Tab A pages 30-31.

31 Gutierrez Affidavit at para 63; Responding Record dated March 9, 2021 at Tab A page 28.
S2Gutierrez Affidavit at paras 64-65; Responding Record dated March 9, 2021 at Tab A page 28.



72

Court File Number:

Superior Court of Justice
Commercial List

FILEIDIRECTIONIORDE R

el

Plaintiff
AND (s)

KTDLA_E‘.R&\Q/D NS¢ L“:z/t €J\T

Defenda nt(s)

Case Management MS [JNo by Judge: N,\,E,uﬁ:\‘:g

Counsel

( <SLO o \&f}i\red \

Telephone No: Facsimile No:

D Order D Direction for Registrar (No formal order need be taken out)
Above action transferred to the Commercial List at Toronto (No formal order need be taken out)

[] Adjourned to:
] Time Table approved (as follows):

e woston oo v o Gogoer
K%\J‘ &3\0;&%\@ T\f\c\vm&o QQCQAINK\

‘Sﬁ.@\cx O N\ i\ (j"g; crelers
Lol Al Lt ead ola,
D The Gl dod olh. Vo Ops
a\éremo\rc T \ouw Tva. Crallewny
(T’\J’"\?_rrr-xk (Qt)b’\\r\ (J'U\ﬂerw\c\ Ad ser 4\\(
e\eteronye e e Oxw&_ﬁ[ng
A J\Wm\@m\\\ aeosedd  ann W\jﬁc
QS W\mk QQ& \\ i AP

Date Judge's Signature

Igédditional Pages <2' \




73

Court File Number:

Superior Court of Justice
Commercial List

FILE/DIRECTION/ORDER

Judges Endorsment Continued

U\r\\CL QUW\ (J‘Ln\\ﬁ“mg»_ (‘wxx?/\c;ep( (™
‘QY’MU@;\( 28 ‘QL/ ‘i LA)\/\\(L\ Tu&’w ()‘tﬂ\\‘ei )
e 5 (ovmad ale W) dolie
"%E: \f\s.Q QxCu,\.r—ef\\o\\\ L,PNV\(\‘OL»—\\ dU"\fQ,S'
\—Q,\meo«gtar S aw‘tw(\ O\}‘\o%e/‘ =)
AN O(SYO\(x Q_) lb o = LA_&MLT\}W
C)’U“\\\P\FW\& (A\Su (’MM soblews aX -~
0@“&"0(‘ S Qm— Weo \Q;V'\O\_f‘\m,,‘ c,\v/\p’(\\a—fz‘nw
g@ \\Qm Crin\\ecmad asﬁﬂ
o ( TLJ-\\\‘?V‘W\D - C "t:m..-\ v o
t(“Cr“.r\fu; CZ&‘ V\f‘o O/\\iom-ue, (,’/\POLU \(\o\?
vl f powde Weo doerrs S o
L \\4\%3( ‘DJZ\NJ-‘ L/@R{“CAU{J ih R

N A
QW\%&;;%QU mcok N e 5‘@@( Ok TP \‘\-Q
plvida shoe ke Mok Lo ol

& cedima Weo deln  oemacle Vo

g/QgQ;u-ex \‘L}*-TVG\\ 9N \r\?\b)\{jmf‘ e ook
V\Mo A A58 Lu\,\m’xi o i Qémomd
‘%;3 {\ (/{ YV ‘Sub;;ﬁr = CkﬂlMMf'
Do

| N
Page_i__ 2& Judges Initials w




74

Court File Number:

Superior Court of Justice
Commercial List

FILE/DIRECTION/ORDER

Judges Endorsment Continued

T owns O (\n—gﬁcﬁe(’( e s Vo
‘&\-efwxi O)@ \/\,,_ \ﬁ\-c,\ww&. oA ] (alere
O Oovmcol \hcxs M o el e o
\Ar-‘&\ QJZC,QLU‘U/O\/\O’( C\UO‘W\\Y%—{)-\\\‘& \
‘ﬂ‘ue ‘{'C{(.‘\’CND\A&\MD %AM Weo Q.QC,QA::—{/‘
M uew \\:H“wxe \:\9\5 \OXCO\,«-Q
WW‘QL O(‘(‘\(\r\()\f\\c“u( ( (SN L/\ﬂ\k \’q&
GT(VSL\\ MO/{ Q(/:’UW \g?\w) s /j\\m
ceder  taoal ot W\&gs ook
Dz‘T§§: T AN T
Q\LDE MJV( \v\dﬁ&\fﬁmf .
Nea. m-ft\g oo 1 umk Ca-anestak
A\ V\M TSue Qu o -E QT’O\(Q;’\/{
Al O e C(“\/\(‘N\/\:c gvn?\‘{&;v\ \on L)rt
We Yecms & W a\mﬂ;t
s oot oo ondlee Sl
S\r@\i\ \’BQ ‘ (‘n(‘)’k\ﬁcv‘ﬂﬂ& Q“\*ﬂ\mﬁ
o C)‘\;t\\yw@ \_'s (te Oerrunclo Vb

Page 3 of Z\ | Judges Inltlals\\ (W




75

Court File Number:

‘Superior Court of Justice
Commercial List

FILE/DIRECTION/ORDER

Judges Endorsment Continued

,»SQUW\QA Sa \(\N:«T Eﬂ\e{ (Y'\o\w\\ [

(;, Oove? Ll %xw\o(\ 0 G~t PL.Q

Cor Nmool o SARe A% M

Qg\c:(—u:(\ O\c« Qafvv\ N ceaEQ/ V\,-e

ﬁrc:)teng\, eﬁa\r&w’v\\v\g_‘ QUM\_ (Y’LJ\\KQJ‘WQ

'S"-’)\o[)ec\ [ Co Dt—a\wd s oo o Ouwlor.

@—) m gQCM,/(\\ =SSP ()ﬂ«\&r\v\f; Q@SS

%e. (ﬁf“t’»\w Comap e [0 %

@wh&mmamm

\€C\f\r\\‘§_@\\ S \ w8 Ue \éﬁ\tbﬁ trrelrosoof

CoNowa O«-C:s;ir( <f\f\w\—\ \Lﬁ\(f\ Ve \\\\lA.:.Q [\—)f

gv\ﬁ%\r@\-‘( i:. \g,__g \\:OLMWJQ OL.PW-:;'t

Yo | Ta Crol\Pen ok oS . Toan

CroARecmas s TNeovas anod Weolee =

QXx€_ d\x—@M ()1_/\0( (?‘@\ (orS (_f.{ B

A\ Q_QCQ;\\M L ocoh BT

= Ao\t . Orore ﬁjt ('\\Lﬁr M\AA

O\\ . a\ \:*GCMS \\

@huu{“‘( 22\1@ ovele~ | P@@t

A ms&ﬁ m‘&@’ﬁ: ATs C‘k’

Page \__of £ \ Judges Initials W




76

Court File Number:

Superior Court of Justice
Commercial List

FILE/DIRECTION/ORDER

Judges Endorsment Continued

BT ok vsS \ Nosnde g :»‘Eter-m\'m
ook Vo Dy ol b i
condlue®  Corersee QAcAW\\mt\wr g‘ﬂ@
XAa  deovres osoh Vot ATS nm—mem
PSS \x‘t&,\u@ ' O/\/\D/k ool e DﬁU‘\(AO,Q
o O &d& e ces ol \'é\ mgagdv
(Sgi % Kelo, /‘1: c/LAcgihﬁ A~ Mt\:u
LX( \/\ocs D \’)—LQV\. O\%&fﬁa\@ﬂ V\ﬁ;&
\}({\0\ S5 gt s TEXE “F\f;@u(‘—)eweoih F"\'{T'g
Vo XKoo <evverse Vo oo 0ot |
N O \N\e weRiomele T - AT owdh
0t ASte re\aeol X Vel Moncuoe
Mo ek ascler \/\/\P L\ . Conn @u‘f’f‘
Qm\«\m,\um\ rewwb O g \Sm»m"tom
CoAnC a1y ((T/rrwaf oo ﬂ‘g— el

—\~Q \Q\(‘(*Am?f‘ S—QQ\CS \N\wc“\:/\ ;\:e"a/(
ovesse S N e <pvec oa
Q¢ Corclonu (;\T’\“d\m \A,-.p Jve’v wal Q/Kr

Lo (o 28120 mobe o Mo Jed
Ok~ i A0 ovder € o OF\eer

Page g of l\ | Judges Initials M




77

Court File Number:

Superior Court of Justice
Commercial List

FILE/DIRECTION/ORDER

Judges Endorsment Continued

N s Q@\DOSQO/{ ok s
Q'Rogte\\,.—feq od o @U' "'F\\m&rwwf ‘QI_%-% Ceonn
pmﬁg&&ﬁr W o %w o AT

Do Sfossl  \o8  Octsen \aZeruo.
W= (\Q_wa» Oah K -

TS hon secceTRA o Pedpcal “ﬁa\cﬂm

Wo  Pesilagn \‘g\ We \id <onen
O&Qb \QM\C%@\\LW \v\ m\«—ﬁm cﬁ— W\re’(

Dot O oA W N P e 4
\\1 \[\»-P (ém()\, M& O\(\QLQ}'“ < “

do W opees  Loilh BTS

X
‘t—:\r‘{k % Weo \\&\\‘J\ O ot \v\(fww\a't@w

\rh/k\(j—\;f \a\ AT /\ndm A nolies |

C NsS = Q/LO\W\\V\S-\ M\’ CO’W—% S\:( Cé- \:S(W\w;hg,w

WW\CAML_‘ \("C\m.& Su\’)%\f&\o«mr lwgcovw?»{

N
y\&)@k\m C(‘tQ/V\DG\C\C ) 55 W\O\JF(O{ Conapor i
6%‘-&9 =~ w o YB/\D\Q-\ <o L«)\m D \C\>O\OA; A

Bercomel s cmsbion ofte Vo “alie

S

1;\\ V\_..—-\\ \VD_Q,&:J\\) r\[\;vv( \"\S W
_ N\ AN
Page (9 of 2-\ Judges Initials (_\\f\/\




78

Court File Number:

Superior Court of Justice
Commercial List

FILE/DIRECTION/ORDER

Judges Endorsment Continued

b DAarer re A (g V\._Q Aﬁ@{(\m&‘

—

Ocdler b Tl weers
0\(’ Coct  Xo  eCorohs (T@ Qe ol Kool
T We VLocoes om a%w (F% Keelon
T« \-e\' S r\“g Def Wy Lo
Ccoradt A€ on My\ SR e z/‘._sgﬁ%‘__
€0 f'é\ck?d( itc \&‘éoua \Q(T%\\»-QSS
W\eo Qx&\%& PGSéc‘-\éw & S pne sl
\o_ \f\..o (\/(.D(‘\(u&., \d—:c D %mﬂ“ﬁag\g
V\.—QV\ AT \v\ ~[= QXO\\ Eﬁgsﬂa. U"-;.‘ I‘.:\\V}ﬂ/t
Qrg"g‘&\rf&{ L_\(_J'\‘N?\ QO\\ OnNse sS4l o \
Deva \A , {A)\.\_Qv‘e\\.y Q \_ol A J‘f\,a"r Yo
OM%\S WC&N’(E LI Lo \Lw\ztf
dt(j;(b\rveﬁ-(/( STan0 o \ﬂ‘ \/\'\D WM
\Lsc oAl (A‘,_m‘\‘ «‘J_V \k S-S I \v\e,u—f%\a[o,
\:\o/u" = \V\‘b(;m* AN Cé‘v\“;\dfu’
(“)\(‘(‘uuo:\t( (\"t\/\v\ﬁ&o& \~ Cone Ponnor
k—QRQ\’\-‘QOl d@ \/\Po QQVWDQ.}_ \u\ Q ve(t;o«\
- N o v @ELQM::)( oS s

Page ’7 of 2\ | Judges Initials W




79

Court File Number:

Superior Court of Justice
Commercial List

FILE/DIRECTION/ORDER

Judges Endorsment Continued

noees Wt GF Qo l Tlae

<o ¢ ool \ u%\& '\(’ QO»‘”\FF'\M o8 doSions

O\XT V\Aa %‘\w@ - Ko Cc;«vw\.e% \fbé

Lceoedd WX ATS o\mﬁ;@a{ by

\\\um Couieovas Lot #\r—e,\ \\2\‘,&

M Wt Noeelie o {V’Q—' (,\\o&-m

QQLO\W Y \/LL&\(:—LM’ oS \g,eu

QQL};GAW\K‘LQ T&re'v»eo\?ﬁm " X ‘*}\ud _

N A B 0 [ Yo ‘D(UU’\\%W( Cg YW Lo

m:eltfé | 3\—617&0/( \o-fz\ O\d{\\ox@t =

\&\ )OS CJ"L)‘"‘L\\QU VWD

- (\NGoaa ool :Ee \C\W\c@ (1-15(

O\\@JUK \A,Ji rﬂm coal '<.\r—e;—( &J \ne

Conrool T (\A NS ottt o A’TS

Q\M/( \C\f“ Vk,—e Q&c;z,. N/l U 75 &E%\w‘—-\

S T
\-eomsm\f&*ﬂ w-Cemf & et

Page

g of 2-\ \ Judges Initials PD/\\?\




80

Court File Number:

Superior Court of Justice
Commercial List

FILE/DIRECTION/ORDER

Judges Endorsment Continued

TN oo Rz o O (’M\’YCM
Do\ T ¢ Q,&QPT \/\f\o\iﬁ ats
O/\J\O{ V\/\e &M\W M V\,—e @&(}e;t:(

Opn O s c€o CAN CA St AL s\\nb VV\Q‘%\DC)/(

("T& %\Q‘U\M Vo Q.Quw—c/ {:__)\‘_"-Vt\

QL Cogl \/\\U(’ <e/ oK
‘_\M\ni““ O&SO Ao M-‘c O«(Ce,@‘\(' e op

\\O\M o)"g' \M Q,Qg.gd L_A;Q eadof

<—d¢\€r O\ 085 - %%S__c%.—)/w

QCT\&& u«t\u\,\ a\\m'% (—er Qcm—erao(

Potare S \g; RDrep ke — r\— NY.

&Dr@{\rﬁg@a \-€>n‘>\\\\§c (*?WJY QA,\C‘(’gr(’r‘ﬁcj

O\(‘Cogé = Vo M *Sér :

: Lcds—k tu’ﬂ’k s (\oc“i‘ 's‘f—c, \{V\\ r—S&.ﬂf’J
C\'{ \\Qrma \'\ag Su\\mw m&

Y(\J \QDCJL-.\K/ S\—eru\o& \435? \QD DA Uy

(N CoeS é% dzAnuf (e é‘lﬁ&/\b& =Ye

Page OZ of ?’\ Judgebni}als M




- 81

Court File Number:

Superior Court of Justice
Commercial List

FILE/DIRECTION/ORDER

Judges Endorsment Continued

% ci&mc@,c. SIS \"Y \l};x& ecohed o

&ECAM,Q :
&%S \Qx\ Rearbood o (cm.:ﬁg )
®) Q—&r\we/ < U‘ﬁ% C»Lu«.\ 5@ \Qe\a -LQ - \0‘3
\‘QClLSQO/ % CZLQ\—W‘V\ c%:c‘ \/Lg \N-—\ng( \to'w é”?‘
e Covder Aedees  Tua Goleneas n,

\ < &N ()k \ft’cﬁ’f

\/Lp G‘%{/ o(ﬂr(\ ns’? \V\Uﬁ\_du‘e O Dé—\w-»ﬂ-»

&Q;JT &-—e\m -~ QO (\"(T'W\ —‘>§c>\-—\ \Q@L,_a_‘wt&:mf
G B Qv \—ew% 2 Qw;@_w_lggf_
- S P&MW\QV\\M \uO{rM
\\,\&rf'\\fﬂ-ﬂ \/\-—Q C‘Q\*"‘M@o’( “7&—: 'BYX(,U
Lt ( w\\m\w_ i cm\\uw
(“/u\ok %V\w;\ \A\m‘b \/‘Q\\ Rrgh Q.'Hn.,a-.
‘C\!\ i—af a9 &\—L\)‘Q d.QQCkO(u \ \

AL 94_‘%“(' \(LQ Q.Qwuﬁh \Dcsl‘ti.wi
M»o\* Y % G"N\f\‘\c MA \‘32
&C&:ﬁed L)oo Vx,\_re.h?\ Y e Do wet

\~= ‘&F\WQ\\M Qof QK«M—:\" @5\ i\‘ -
Page \b of Q\ | Judges Initials M




82

Court File Number:

Superior Court of Justice
Commercial List

FILE/DIRECTION/ORDER

Judges Endorsment Continued

\\(xL W\ﬁ\ﬁs&‘f’f'cgﬂ\ifi z’)uq;/k \v-\\.rc\/\r(_ﬁ C

%e\ot:ouk Q,G\'-v{\\vu_‘\ b qu W Mft

O A ﬂ“(‘vr’\

:-\

3) e Wk Ts2e@ wgmees Ve oo giver

ipo\(/\w ‘g? Q  Fruoh fE (X Ier$ -

m,q deif\\\xig S o \()L ’\'SLA;’SS \eo QR'DJU%

VL\Q (}\\nm rP( wSed O Cunamatous

eeeslo,  YWone V\p@ Coeore ot

Tooa O \\pw Yl -

V‘ \ro \Pd%**m V\J\o& V\,.o L@m’f Veeas

O&&CL Ve 920N (\c;tQL Ora Ot <~r9a (oo

e perse MsAclh

‘ \\A_m-\ £ (fPY Callotne
Coondle ‘ ‘

/\‘\Qﬁ’:@ \ V\g(,u@iL

@\" \C«*‘:?’\'Z\WL\ \{\-Q {\\wu_f\ ({Q [__\S!Q(

Cémmbmxoﬁam Lot S We t\}-en\-@.m )

tvu\-o N CHJB:\ \bwm AN ucﬁg

A e Qn:\\ DU LR x;\ C?i\LI"\GLL\c’(I Grueol.
Page \\ of é\ \ | Judges Initials W




83

Court File Number:

Superior Court of Justice
Commercial List

FILE/DIRECTION/ORDER

Judges Endorsment Continued

t@ L\S\Q\ QAJ\/\\C[/\ \S {&&Y =t \'\< (L\Cf«“——\
' Qr&w o LIS w/\ dr‘&\m Q—&Oau\

Ldasda l(\k re oA \Nou-& m‘%\y@uv Yo

C 0\/’%‘%—\\\ V) Tu 0{_? T

Dz \
! Yow%\w One \/\A_Q QW&&& \\9«@_
e w-e-\\\h@j( ool i-(o&f&éﬁw
' (ﬁt’\?rﬁ\L 1w0Qanm Sl Dt  Nuaa

(’m\\vw \M Qﬁ} \\ | \\(L\ '
m '3C\“POLN\{D/L . '-:-f': .

6@ G\«/\ﬂ/ 0\\\_2 1A\ Aol \A__J‘ »\F-CL\ .h(j \’mﬁf_

Ve e - =~

- TN o Cocave sibt Rt & Vo

\\@J’( \r\@C’( (@ XV, 2 0\\ \i» T?M’Q

T T USRS WS T <N

o \&VTS -
/\\@ QRCJ«W DO J‘E—O Mb

- \
Page i_ of Z \ Judges Initials PD(\/\




84

Court File Number:

Superior Court of Justice
Commercial List

FILE/DIRECTION/ORDER

Judges Endorsment Continued
\f\UW\\DJ?/‘ KX@ I \t&V\ULJ U~ ('_’(A)CA‘\ ve \&. Z‘T e X
rednced Vo o - \
. (fv‘\‘?r\«\wh & e deu  reciced Q_,mow\
Soen h\\pfw}; ool Voo Sas  Conternig
@\eé“‘cnm Ao N [ S/ \
« Noan C)“\J\\\MM @L@u&———-\ Ol . Ot
\(\ “\o. S u\:sx(‘lAm ( onaok v?\aw LN e ZVN="0¢
Sus Ok <(“V\O\MP.A\ dom\\u\. \l\xmit\mm

LSe }\LP\c« ((’\OK Y\mrem,
" \ua\\/\ C)“U\\\Qv LA s-‘ h\-o% e~ Aot (\3«:\2\/

'\Ju\,.@- S V\/\L Prfs (,Lu& O’g— \(\—(’\m; <SS
L Q\koa( o (“r\wvw\\ LM\WAJ\Y
OJO&MC\' V\ Qo Q,Q(‘OM{;K Odm \ Te %Mm

0 o&tﬂ%ﬁed w Qv clowat

O g W\O\OLQ. \ s Alep
- M\O\N}C LaJgas \(30&60*( o Q&
MW S ATV \O_q q_uaﬂ, () R\

I SJ\DW’U{A‘YL cw@urﬁd \/\/\a\l" Quo\_
CroNoral oobt Mele lop oy

E { M_-\\f\l\gk oL W\J\-Q & w{g\m‘\‘“ \as

Page B of &\ | Judges Initials M




85

Court File Number:

Superior Court of Justice
Commercial List

FILE/DIRECTION/ORDER

Judges Endorsment Continued

; X
-—._f

o th(;@ o ool ol alead

OA V\,-__..

ovoles
A(‘lal.;%w\q\ V\rp \/\\St«\ CY& ﬁr@

\ ‘&Q\\ o\‘bm Qav\\wsa__\ﬂ LS % V\o«r\&/

~

\\Gu& (\)e«u\owm\S W KM @C&I\(

f\bc’m\w\ lea su\oﬁﬁt«oi Q—\AQ{M

oD rCs‘;ﬁkc;m iy QV\ N \ \rO’LPer’

SN\ A L

<x)iflg_oﬁm-e\¥L S\Mwe,s ng V\-e if’\og

SQL)S\GM;MA ; M\I‘j‘ Aeve.  tarece
e Sbeed % o ok (Ve ERX

\ AL O M‘T_\%\M \ \M\u(—x\éh T&( ‘;r\ (\‘_U‘!P\\W‘WS

Qmm \___\ - PYTS Aoy iwkww*eoe a8

X u\")ﬂ\d*gv\—-\ <= QO m%ﬁ\& Vo <ot

S (\&\ﬂ’ﬁ‘:@d@ C}\A.Ci &w}- Kela

- xR QQSE\EG\\L s\ N Slowe L“-ﬁdfi\

CoNzr A SSFk N = B A

LS veve ol w\o&-\ (Ygr We ('\h-«uo,m.h‘

Q\ébs \/\pp @T\)“\C(‘KO Q\/‘ﬁo\«, (Mr—?

AS%\T\(\\NQAJ? \sr\oquo,\ﬁm,..\ = ROT.

\ N
Page \\’\ of é Judges Initials /_\\/\/\




86

Court File Number:

Superior Court of Justice
Commercial List

FILE/DIRECTION/ORDER

Judges Endorsment Continued

&\Qf\ié v\"??oé (I \

_ T Lk 5§ PPN r\’if Vo ol

(F( A (TQD\-S\CQD\L&O = Q«MVL Ho

\\mregmdtlue Dot (\’fr Weo Q,Qwuff

_L"&\ lc le?‘( ! ‘E Noela (vuaﬂ
QQCQ\(W - oxC c\ru:\\‘ 6@ Y <\.—.a—u(o/
Aieect & \r*P:%\\fm ¢ Wt
“e 1 1<BA \ocon m\\&Dﬁ rj’%or W
Mo\mﬁ(‘—u\ _Qu\\ Bw cA.\owr mcy{
0 e ol T\ g HJQ \/A\Mc MY e
TNo  ERY ool Brernedt Trovsotto.s
O x€ W\&L 6@ % \huf{taattcm\j
. QS8 s ‘\'Le LA on - (m&&v\'\\m
\,\re (NSS *-**9\ e X 616 L\‘S@L) \Q%-e N:&J:
e \/\re Q\—\r\m\a (g “*‘ﬁ-; ROT-
QQCM\N.\ 3 N (3\&/\,\ CH 4 v\r\mbtm{
Q{\.-Q re\\é&\‘ ) St W \;\ Powy W '

. \ \
Page \C of Z\ Judges Initials \\ W\/\\




87

Court File Number:

Superior Court of Justice
Commercial List

FILE/DIRECTION/ORDER

Judges Endorsment Continued

(D =D & B Voo & tnaloa
_gl- Cvnay v-—e)q( . C\:&T W.»c 3::\&,.,0 3 a/\.;%m/‘\
CAn M\_;o\cto»\ C VV\C:I)(/“ oot Q%z— O f\lv?u&

aSs _ (‘COI t}P_\Qt‘;Pd( *\,V\ SJ\DON (\\\\
{)rb\’)L&uff CACS9 OO’V\(_)ZJ\V\\,M—-\ Qg ~ cxlef.c:ho—\...

\G’g C_a T s40C N, Cou \DL = Pe%&«» %
u»% Cu\ oomectee Yol Gt
I (S 127N a\su Obuﬂ/\w‘\? \tD'\ ‘\'\’%% /(:QS
Weo O S s \wa}:m-a k(
T v S . S C\pé\s@@:l( Ar-;VL\ e
R\sgﬁ’/\;—wm& (w\df/‘xf mo/t (TOBW\\I{ST _ A l
\(\6&0\ iukwaxcbcv—\ : u)kg\\n-\ Sl [ (<l -
L \—("Mows _\__ \OM Peoneins

Wo *‘C&L& %Cn.,\\a{\( \w;,_l S\)\j{)rw\\\(al\.
RECR Lome  Lichs [Cobideects odad

OU’O/C\T e QC«V\O\VV\C" wé\t\\ QR(\Q S\
\N&A \\;\.@\LN\D/(—)L v\l\ﬁ@ C’MQV\\_LS \ <k ord
Y\Qpﬁ’% M‘( @W,f :VS\V "V,-\ — T\h&a
&&\’{ ooluseol V\N}'\F\' V\N—\ TE9 e O(

_ [
Page \KO of )"\ Judges Initials w




88

Court File Number:

Superior Court of Justice
Commercial List

FILE/DIRECTION/ORDER

Judges Endorsment Continued

USSPV - G Tt

A.v\ . \mu Weo  olome %MQ/

Pt ® ;’(T ("N—Q \—€C’-3C?V\O~R0k(/ Q\ v" O\A.O/(

x5 %w—‘c r(od;av\fs% \oolte o oot

A QM&@/& \D—Q/u-e&—«k Af\\\ M@tr{a{‘

Weo Q»L(\MW Voow QMJ , < (m\ﬁ%d
\AT‘\“‘A\/\- \(\g.o C\R emiepruddonw v

Lorese  vs Weey ;é\z_ (“jmxc NAC 2 o
Ao S\$% me (2000) 26
omc& e -

V\~@ (X\HJN;W VA '-u}rw{\\m&é MM
\\«\xr—o\\)tu Xelo \-eioi\?Pu( (’WJ
LW%\ &:M \V\(.—Q\S‘%\«@ﬁvﬁ‘ pe ol
M\\ro«? Uow & &mﬂiﬂm\ e f/k\o ’(‘@Cﬁw@(\

(‘“»\Pm\ waﬁ\cﬁﬁbm \fLQ\»&A

(\) \ O~ nA\Sp S&tw \/\DQ\J\ OL%

<(€'Y'€\1\,\ O Co Ve ordec s Qg\\r’

Page \j of 2\&\\ | \S Judges Initials CM\




89

Court File Number:

Superior Court of Justice
Commercial List

FILE/DIRECTION/ORDER

Judges Endorsment Continued

\M\;\mj( A\C\riw»g()\&ﬁa( \:r\ \@am.ﬂ\,\& an\

e Dok ‘Eg \\\_L QQLQAML_( ofesle -

{\\@ e~ QWM Collorwes Mrg\ A

Stw—é V\\)‘U-vsL o\—s 2P t.,% 21k V\:\_@'H\& Weh §Jb M%

e oo \S\\@—%@ \r\o«—e \x\e@\ TM»CY

& e\ ol s —’\no\xt We cooe Yl &

M Q Q_C‘JL\\rCf' Connng \04 (—;MR'E;)QA Qe»f

u\a\ O\‘v\t\ u...J)rJQ—\ oy V\vs@ Nre L)w \(\&:‘\V

e O{O,ue\cmoz\ Lo \\AM j;Qcoauvsta

Q,\_‘)\/\\f \.‘ e w PP LA TWV‘G«.,J‘V Sue L aw

ocder .
/S"'\) e Neuc dng Q&L@wﬂ and

\—Eg( Cl@'?/mse\ A;\,\W\,-\\W V\/\mﬁi\rmlal
\C’—Q C‘&mﬁc/‘ ! k

“"‘i? \rove Oovsicloreol Wo e o X

o | CARC U Uchuacceng JOUT onst S0~

o uves S’\ Po nafel ZZO\‘I OWSC (I3 aF

DMM\ AL~ &

: o Vo cores W\O&xftﬁ\Qg\ '\g 8)

Page K% of Z-\ | Judges Initials




20

Court File Number:

Superior Court of Justice
Commercial List

FILE/DIRECTION/ORDER

Judges Endorsment Continued

<peead g0 aGuen W Jw\k@;@( S o
Wee  Yelod cdlfel Corpoat.. e
‘rﬂ Y\FO(/TVV-—Qf\t Jﬁr‘&\,\%c\?bou\ Mf( LlSV’T/

‘{‘\U\CD\Q \xm‘\@._

B ek Vo QQCqu’/ legnt
an_gl pe oty St Mandls v olsdes
Lol Son Goallerwe | e Neolo sibedliy,
ool Was-

LN, BRI\ YN <IN T PN, Ho

('\/\W\OJM:% 2 xpocbd T o V\OAC c)£

V\,Q VU oy V\/\o&’ W)e QD R eave~  a/~ (”t(

(DCﬁA»&O\ \1\0\,9 O\(‘J‘:@( \—Q\ Ou——:‘w-—-;

("'DA\G/ \A:\o\ o \/\Qﬁrm\ Oo%x&:\m\ ‘tc TO(QTE

QMW;QAJR b&xﬁp A J)W—JV'\L’«JL%L (\méw“m

e oL\&L RPN

S.Q\&gm&

X n&&o — c’&‘ e Cru:—l\\qm <
= U\’) g § Lo \/@:‘(’ V\mo Cosle ASSee
S\rew\@( \O.:a O\\P@E\F{’O( \E—\c i (f(:e‘f'e-u-&?h

Page \Ol of ZR Judges Initials r\f\/\




91

Court File Number:

Superior Court of Justice
Commercial List

FILE/DIRECTION/ORDER

Judges Endorsment Continued

T\m-ﬁ \AJU_(J\D/( o c}lﬂ( (A CO:S"(?(

Och ‘_ (Bbz.b\\ = o o\,\%{@\DL\\ @ﬁ\@;‘_ﬁ:@'

DS &é\‘ (‘Tg ] z.»us:J(J LJ\;:XCL L ATAS _/Aﬂmuw/ -\
Toe LPe A V\wvx\w ﬁ’@ Okt
ne el du it v (oo Qogoiuerc i eols .
Tho Avdlic  Resmpee, ok 9\25 ot
V\wﬂ vmmj\;\x \3 ‘\-QQI\U-PQ&n o \ ons
CAADR T OCe LAT‘L \/\M e w}{m-ﬂiafét_
T\\AM., D-e_r>med te 'Sk——\.,-. i‘b (/\AL%M
PDarNaof LA )\s\« ASN M\CD S S e P
: 0&2 tb Qmm,_ ool (‘cfxlhe,u&_
Vo O - T s (A}r o BTG
(L?@A‘ < C;J‘\\[\A P‘)r\ Al um.\ma/ (& AWV, < a&so
Nl ens 4@: CAC Conntl MﬁW\ Was P\\Q{aﬁ:@f—k--«

'.\m 1 Ovaee OeeDovce o Seew d

Page _ZD ofAZ\e) | Y J}dges Initials W




92

Court File Number:

Superior Court of Justice
Commercial List

FILE/DIRECTION/ORDER

Judges Endorsment Continued
S‘u\oléjcr?é‘a SUXOW\E;M_ os ng,\ o T
Qo
\r:&.‘blv M\NO OM‘P\V\V\K—-\ P D &\(ooz(a

] LO a\\g LA r\ﬁ; \(\PQ \*e[*héij%jﬁ 6‘6' Q,Ogd_
Qualge- TV Lol 0B ne & ¢ compony

‘ﬁ v\:@dt qi-_cs Sgﬁmqsmﬁ A8 %*r
WA O\,(\&DL Covtok -

T Shex W Weak  Wo vewna
G’Q- V\PQ @Wf LS v*eJT O ‘\V\\T‘\mwv
B ebNashe Ssues WX Love \Q__,QPV\_
\C;&w v\& . coot  Adecided oo oo ok
loost  owo et \ -

I-f( V\—Q \(\v&vl &avva:\ QP Re  Own
cosk X o)\ %@o\w JE\\

Page ‘;L\ obz \ | Judges Initials (—D/\/\




RE:

BEFORE:

COUNSEL:

923

COURT FILE NO.: CV-11-9062-00CL
DATE: March 25, 2021

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
COMMERCIAL LIST

Margarita Castillo, Applicant

AND:

Xela Enterprises Ltd., Tropic International Limited, Fresh Quest, Inc., 696096
Alberta Ltd., Juan Guillermo Gutierrez and Carmen S. Gutierrez, as Executor of the
Estate of Juan Arturo Gutierrez, Respondents

The Honourable Justice Thomas J. McEwen

Jeff Leon and Jason Woycheshyn for Margarita Castillo

Monique Jilesen and Derek Knoke for the Receiver

Philip Cho and Michael Ly for ATS

Chris MacLeod and Joan Kasozi for Juan Guillermo Gutierrez

Aaron Kreaden for Avicola Group, Juan Luis Bosch Gutierrez, Felipe Antonio
Bosch Gutierrez, Dionisio Gutierrez Mayorga and Juan Jose Gutierrez Moyorga

HEARD BY ZOOM HEARING: March 22,2021

ENDORSEMENT

[1] This motion, brought by the Receiver KSV Restructuring Inc. (the “Receiver”), seeks a number
of orders. I will deal with each below.

Electronic Devices

[2] The first deals with the Receiver’s attempts to have Juan Guillermo Gutierrez (“Juan Guillermo™)
deliver his electronic devices for analysis. I previously granted an order, to which Juan Guillermo
consented, on August 28, 2020 in which Juan Guillermo was to (amongst other things) deliver to
the Receiver all company devices.

[3] Thereafter, I granted another order on October 27, 2020, to which Juan Guillermo also consented,
setting out a protocol for the imaging and review of Juan Guillermo’s devices.



924

- Page 2 -

[4] Juan Guillermo, contrary to the terms of the above orders, has refused to permit the devices to be
imaged, without being uploaded to a password protected drive. He primarily submits that he
wishes to review the data, provide the Receiver with a mirror image, and then advise what he is
prepared to produce — subject to claims of privilege and relevancy.

[5] I am not prepared to alter the terms of my previous orders where a protocol has been agreed to by
the Receiver and Juan Guillermo.

[6] The relationship between the Receiver and Juan Guillermo has become extremely acrimonious
(as will be outlined further below). To allow for further alterations to my orders will delay matters
possibly undermine the Receiver’s legitimate investigations.

[7] T urge the Receiver and Juan Guillermo to work co-operatively on this issue and to proceed in an
economic fashion, but the terms of the above negotiated, consent orders stand and shall be adhered
to. Thus, Juan Guillermo is to provide the password so that Epiq Global (who I agree will succeed
Duff & Phelps) can load the data onto the Relativity platform. Thereafter, the protocol concerning
Juan Guillermo’s objections, can proceed, as per the Order.

Computer Servers

[8] The second issue concerns access to certain computer servers.

[9] By way of background, Arturo’s Technical Services Inc. (“ATS”) purchased certain assets from
Xela in June 2017, subsequent to the judgment against Xela, Juan Guillermo and others. Juan
Guillermo’s sons — Thomas and Andres — are directors and officers of ATS.

[10] The Receiver has asked ATS to deliver, amongst other things, digital records.

[11] The August 28, 2020 order (which was made on notice to ATS, but ATS did not appear)
provided, inter alia, that the Receiver be entitled to conduct forensic examinations of Xela
devices, and that no privilege claims could be asserted in respect of any Xela documents or
devices.

[12] It has now been ascertained that Xela servers were transferred to ATS. These Xela servers
have been called the “blue network” by ATS and certain data related to Xela’s business. This
includes the Xela.com server, financial records end information concerning former clients of Xela.

[13] The Receiver seeks unrestricted access to the blue servers in accordance with the terms of the
August 28, 2020 order and the 2nd October 27, 2020 order (the October order was not opposed
and was obtained after negotiations between counsel for the Receiver and ATS).

[14] An impasse has arisen between the Receiver and ATS.

[15] ATS has suggested a protocol, taking the position that the blue servers also contain
information of third parties and thus is not captured by the Appointment Order.

[16] Ido notagree with ATS.
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[17] First, the third party information identified by ATS (and in Andres’ cross-examination)
consists of information regarding Xela’s subsidiaries, customers (including Greenpack — a related
company) officers and employees who uploaded personal information onto the blue servers.

[18] In my view, this is captured by paragraph 6 of the Appointment Order which refers to the
unfettered access to records of any kind related to the business or affairs of Xela.

[19] It is not surprising that client records are on those servers as they were related to Xela’s
business.

[20] The Receiver’s position is supported by the decision of D. Brown J., as he then was, in GE
Real Estate v. Liberty Assisted Living 2011 ONSC 5741 at para 19, wherein he held that the
company’s records were not limited to documents owned by the company. He added that it was
“inevitable” that the Receiver in that case would have to inspect and consider documents owned
by companies related to the company in question. I do not accept ATS’ position that GE Real
Estate is distinguishable as it speaks to broad principles.

[21]  Second, without casting aspersions at this time, it cannot be ignored that ATS is operated by
Juan Guillermo’s sons. They have been the beneficiaries of, what the Receiver has identified as
being, Reviewable Transactions. In these circumstances, the provisions of my earlier orders
should be adhered to without modification by ATS or Juan Guillermo.

[22] I should note that, at the motion, a debate broke out about the process [that] should be carried
out and whether ATS and/or the Receiver was acting reasonably. ATS referred to what I
considered to be a complicated protocol. It is expected that ATS and the Receiver and their experts
can agree on a sensible method of providing the Receiver with access to the blue servers.

[23] Third, I also do not accept the argument of ATS/Juan Guillermo that the nature of the
Receivership should fetter access. The Receivership was granted pursuant to s. 101 of the CJA,
which allows for broad powers if appropriate — it is appropriate here to grant unfettered access to
the blue servers.

[24] Last, with respect to both issues 1 and 2, I should note that Juan Guillermo has submitted that
the Receiver should not be pursuing access to devices, or granted access to devices, since it has
received a settlement offer from BDT.

[25] 1disagree.

[26] BTS [BDT], a Barbadian company, is a former subsidiary of Xela. It has refused to attorn to
the jurisdiction of this Court. Andres, Juan Guillermo’s son, is a director.

[27] The offer does not involve a payment, but rather a promissory note, conditional on the future
receipt of proceeds of an apparent Panamanian judgment involving the oft-noted “Avicola
Litigation” (involving Juan Guillermo and others) that has been going on for over two decades.

[28] Tacceptthe Receiver’s position that the offer ought not be accepted where there is no payment,
no timeline for payment, is likely unenforceable and involves a related company in which Andres
is a director.
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Powers of the Receiver

[29] The third issue involves the Receiver seeking to expand it powers.

[30] This requires some discussion about the above noted acrimonious relationship between the
Receive and Juan Guillermo/Xela.

[31] Juan Guillermo and ATS take the position that the Receiver has acted inappropriately and
failed to pursue sensible ways of collecting funds.

[32] These include:

e Prioritizing the pursuit of LISA dividends

e Communicating with “the Nephews” who Juan Guillermo accuses of wrongfully
withholding divides owed to LISA, which is Xela’s subsidiary.

e Preventing LISA from closing a loan which would have satisfied the Castillo Judgment

e Rejecting the aforementioned BDT proposal

e Focusing on the Reviewable Transactions which may not result in realizations

e Generally, inappropriately pursuing Juan and his family, including the scheduled
contempt motion.

[33] In addition to the above Juan Guillermo and (and ATS) make a number of other allegations
which I have reviewed.

[34] The Receiver submits that it has not had any real, legitimate co-operation from Juan
Guillermo, Xela or ATS.

[35] The Receiver points to a number of instances, including but not restricted to:

e Contradictory evidence received from Juan Guillermo and his sons concerning
electronic devices/servers

e Juan Guillermo exercising control over Xela subsidiaries and related companies

e Suspicious financial dealings involving LISA/Xela/BDT/Arven

e Juan Guillermo’s brother-in-law (“Hals”) who is the President of Xela’s subsidiary
LISA filed a criminal complaint against the Receiver’s agents in Panama when they
attempted to implement an order made by me. The complaint was based on a
declaration sworn by Juan Guillermo. I subsequently ordered that Juan Guillermo and
Hals take steps to withdraw the complaint as being, prima facie, a collateral attack on
my order.

[36] Additionally, the history of the litigation cannot be ignored.

[37]  Justice Newbould in his October 2015 decision made substantial findings of oppression in
granting judgment to [Ms.] Castillo.

[38] Subsequently, shares of the Xela subsidiaries BDT & Arven were transferred to a trust (the
“EAI Transaction”) benefitting Juan Guillermo’s family. ATS was incorporated as a subsidiary
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to BDT with the sons as directors and officers. Xela was essentially shut down with certain assets
sold to ATS. LISA assigned most of the proceeds from the Avicola action (the “Assignment
Transaction”) to BDT.

[39] Subsequently, the Receiver [was] appointed.
[40] Inlight of all of the above, it is reasonable to expand the investigative powers of the Receiver.

[41] It is not up to Xela/Juan Guillermo to dictate how the Receiver, a court officer, should direct
its investigation. If, in fact the LISA loan or BDT offer is meaningful, full particulars and terms
of payment should be provided. To date this has not occurred.

[42] The EAI and Assignment Transactions are worthy of further investigation, as is the LISA
transfer concerning the assessment of LISA’s interest in the Avicola Group to BDT.

Disposition

[43] Accordingly, I am authorizing the relief sought in paragraph 1(a)(i)-(ii) of the Notice of
Motion.

[44] I am not, at this time, authorizing examinations under oath of any person as requested in
subpara (ii1). If problems arise concerning co-operation of witnesses I can be spoken to. Subpara
(i) provides for the ability to conduct interviews.

[45] I am also authorizing that the information sought in subpara 1(f) be granted. It is consistent
with my previous orders and Gabinvest, a Xela subsidiary, wholly-owns LISA.

[46] For similar reasons, I am granting the relief sought in subpara 1(g). AFRA was
LISA’s/Gabinvest’s registered agent in Panama until February 2020. It maintained those
companies’ share registers and other information. They have advised that they require a Court
order to release the information.

[47] In my view, the above expanded powers are reasonable, fair and the Receiver has
demonstrated that there is sufficient reason to believe that a financial benefit will be gained. The
expansion, therefore, is consistent with the CA jurisprudence in Weig v. Weig, 2012 ONSC 7262
and Akagi v. Synergy Group (2000), 2015 ONCA 368.

[48] Overall, I am satisfied that the extensive inter-corporate transactions involving Xela related
companies warrant further investigation, particularly where there is evidence in the record of
ongoing participation by Juan Guillermo and his family in those companies.

Foreign Recognition Order

[49] 1 am also satisfied that a foreign recognition order is fair and reasonable particularly in light
of what transpired in Panama with respect to the Receiver’s agents.
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[50] Neither Juan Guillermo nor ATS strenuously object although they submit that one should have
been sought earlier. That may be the case, but the Receiver cannot be faulted for not anticipating
the problems that have developed in his Receivership, which now warrant such an Order.

The Fees of the Receiver and Counsel

[51] The Fees of the Receiver and its counsel. In my view, they should be approved.

[52] T have considered the relevant factors: CIBC v. Urbancorp, 2017 ONSC 4205 at para 57; Re
Nortel, 2017 ONSC 673 at paras 14-15.

[53] The Receiver’s undertaking is a significant one given the complicated structure of the Xela-
related corporations, the after judgment transactions and LISA’s Avicola interest.

[54] I also agree that the Receiver has faced a number of hurdles in dealing with Juan Guillermo,
the Xela subsidiaries and Hals.

[55] While I am concerned about the amounts expended, I am not of the view that the Receiver or
its counsel has acted in anything other than a neutral position, to date. In this regard, I rely on my
comments above, particularly concerning the alleged LISA loan and BTS [BDT] settlement offer.

[56] I also reject Juan Guillermo’s submissions that the costs issue should be directed to a
reference. This would only add more costs and delay to an already complicated situation.

Orders Sought

[57] I agree that Duff & Phelps be replaced with Epiq Global. This relief is unopposed and settles
a debate over whether Duff & Phelps had a conflict of interest, which was denied.

[58] There were a number of orders included in the Receiver’s materials. The order beginning at
p. A183 of the materials, requesting assistance, appears to accord with this endorsement. I am
prepared to sign it unless parties wish to make submissions as to form and content.

[59] The order beginning at p. A176 deals with a number of issues [and] also appears to accord
with this endorsement. Again, I am prepared to sign it subject to submissions as to form and
content.

[60] Last, the order beginning at p. A1626 deals with the replacement of Duff & Phelps. It should
go as it is unopposed, subject to submissions as to form and content.

[61] I stress, however, that the review of the orders is not an invitation to relitigate issues that have
been before me, and decided upon, on at least one occasion.

[62] If the parties cannot agree on costs I can be spoken to.
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Justice Thomas J. McEwen

Date: March 25, 2021
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ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
COMMERCIAL LIST
THE HONOURABLE ) THURSDAY , THE 25™
)
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XELA ENTERPRISES LTD., TROPIC INTERNATIONAL LIMITED, FRESH
QUEST INC., 696096 ALBERTA LTD., JUAN GUILLERMO GUTIERREZ and
CARMEN S. GUTIERREZ, Executor of the Estate of Juan Arturo Gutierrez

Respondents

AND IN THE MATTER OF THE RECEIVERSHIP OF XELA ENTERPRISES
LTD.

ORDER

THIS MOTION, made by KSV Restructuring Inc. (“KSV”), in its capacity as the Court-
appointed receiver and manager (in such capacity, the “Receiver”), without security, of the assets,
undertakings and property of Xela Enterprises Ltd. (the “Company”) was heard virtually this day

via the Zoom videoconferencing platform by judicial videoconference at Toronto, Ontario due to

the COVID-19 crisis.


IRWINC
SCJ Court Seal
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WHEREAS, on October 27, 2020, this Court made an Order authorizing Duff & Phelps
to make a single disk image of certain servers under the control of Arturo’s Technical Services

Ltd. (“ATS”) (the “ATS Order”),

WHEREAS, on October 27, 2020, this Court made an Order authorizing Duff & Phelps
to make a single forensic image of Juan Guillermo Gutierrez’s (“Juan Guillermo”) devices (the

(“Juan Guillermo Imaging Order”),

ON READING the material filed by the parties, and on hearing the submissions of the

lawyers for the Receiver and such other counsel as were present and listed on the Counsel Slip.

SERVICE

1. THIS COURT ORDERS that the time for service of this Motion and the Motion Record

herein are properly returnable today and hereby dispenses with further service thereof.

INVESTIGATIVE POWERS

2. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver is granted expanded investigative powers,

including the authority to:

(a) investigate, identify, quantify and take all steps necessary, in the opinion of the

Receiver, to review:

(1) the sale, conveyance or transfer in 2016 by Empress Arturo International
(“EATI”) of the shares of BDT Investments Ltd. (“BDT”’) and Corporacion
Arven, Limited (“Arven”) to Juan Arturo Gutierrez, and then from Juan

Arturo Gutierrez to the ARTCARM Trust, a Barbados domiciled trust;
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(i)  the assignment in January 2018 by Lisa, S.A. (“Lisa”) of the proceeds from
the litigation arising from shareholder disputes involving the Avicola Group

(the “Avicola Litigation”) to BDT (“Assignment Transaction”);

(i)  the sale, conveyance, transfer or assignment of Lisa’s interest in the Avicola

Group to BDT in early 2020 (the “Lisa Transfer”);

(iv)  the assignment of the right to control the Avicola Litigation (“Litigation

Assignment”);

(collectively, the “Reviewable Transactions”), and to conduct such review and

investigation of the Reviewable Transactions that the Receiver deems necessary;

(b) conduct such additional review and investigation of the business and affairs of the
Company and its current and former direct and indirect subsidiaries, affiliates,
customers, directors, officers and employees as it deems necessary (collectively the

“Investigation”); and

(c) take any steps reasonably incidental to the exercise of these powers.

IMAGING ORDERS

3. THIS COURT ORDERS that Duff &Phelps shall forthwith deliver to Epiq Global, the
Images made and the Schedule B Servers held pursuant to the ATS Order (the “ATS Images and
Servers”) and the hard-drives held and images made pursuant to the Juan Guillermo Imaging

Order (the “Juan Guillermo Images”), together with a copy of any chain of custody information.

4. THIS COURT ORDERS that following the transfer of the ATS Images and the Juan

Guillermo Images (collectively, the “Images”) to Epic Global, Duff & Phelps shall have no further
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responsibility for or access to the Images pursuant to the ATS Order or the Juan Guillermo Imaging

Order.

5. THIS COURT ORDERS that Epiq Global shall replace Duff & Phelps for the purposes
of carrying out the ATS Order and the Juan Guillermo Imaging Order and shall have all the powers,

rights and obligations of Duff & Phelps as set out in those Orders.

JUAN GUILLERMO DEVICES

6. THIS COURT ORDERS that Juan Guillermo Gutierrez shall immediately provide the
Receiver and Epiq Global with all encryption codes, keys, passwords or any other such information
or knowledge necessary to unlock and access the data on the Juan Guillermo Images, including

but not limited to the DataShield Fantom Drive.

COMPANY RECORDS

7. THIS COURT ORDERS that, within five days of this Order, ATS shall identify the
location of the images of the “Blue Network Servers” (as identified by Julio Fabrini in his interview
dated November 26, 2020) on the ATS Images by identifying the file names, paths, and any other

information necessary to identify the Blue Network Server images.

8. THIS COURT ORDERS that Epiq Global and the Receiver shall, without any limitation
whatsoever, be authorized and permitted to copy, analyze, access and review the Blue Network

Servers on the ATS Images including any content of the images.

9. THIS COURT ORDERS that Epiq Global shall otherwise maintain and preserve the ATS

Images until further order of this Court or written consent of the Receiver and ATS.
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10. THIS COURT ORDERS AND DECLARES that, within 14 days of this Order, ATS
shall provide the Receiver with an electronic copy of all emails sent or received by Juan Guillermo
(regardless of the email address to which it was forwarded and regardless of whether the email
was sent directly to him or it was one on which he was copied) at any email address maintained
on the ATS servers to the date of this Order, along with any encryption codes, keys or passwords

used to secure the emails.

11. THIS COURT ORDERS AND DECLARES that, within 30 days of this Order, Harald
Johannessen Hals, Calvin Shields and Lester C. Hess Jr. shall provide the Receiver with all

available information or documents in their control relating to:

(a) shares, share registers, accounting, correspondence and related information of Lisa;

and

(b) the Reviewable Transactions.

12. THIS COURT ORDERS AND DECLARES that, within 30 days of this Order, Harald
Johannessen Hals, Jose Eduardo San Juan and David Harry shall provide the Receiver with all

available information or documents in their control relating to:

(a) shares, share registers, accounting, correspondence and related information of

Gabinvest, S.A. (“Gabinvest”); and

(b) the Reviewable Transactions.

13. THIS COURT ORDERS AND DECLARES that the Receiver and its agents in Panama,
Hatstone Abogados (“Hatstone”), are authorized to take any steps reasonably required in relation
to Alfaro, Ferrer & Ramirez Abogados (“AFRA”), as former resident agent of Gabinvest and Lisa

in Panama, to arrange for AFRA to deliver to the Receiver their entire file, including but not limited
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to, all information related to the constitution, shares issued, KYC (know your client),

correspondence, instructions given to AFRA and all information related to Gabinvest and Lisa.

14. THIS COURT ORDERS AND DECLARES that the Receiver and its agents in Panama,
Hatstone, are authorized to take any steps reasonably incidental to the recognition and enforcement

of this Order and any other Orders issued by this Court in this matter in Panama.

APPROVAL OF FEES AND DISBURSEMENTS

15. THIS COURT ORDERS AND DECLARES that the fees and disbursements of the
Receiver, being fees and disbursements totalling $282,961.50 (excluding HST) as set out in the

Affidavit of Noah Goldstein, sworn January 18, 2021, are hereby approved.

16. THIS COURT ORDERS AND DECLARES that the fees and disbursements of the
Receiver’s legal counsel, Aird & Berlis LLP, being fees and disbursements totalling $192,792.36
(excluding HST) as set out in the Affidavit of Sam Babe, sworn January 18, 2021, are hereby

approved.

17. THIS COURT ORDERS AND DECLARES that the fees and disbursements of the
Receiver’s legal counsel, Lenczner Slaght Royce Smith LLP, being fees and disbursements
totalling $235,218.33, plus HST of $30,528.35, totalling $265,746.68 as set out in the Affidavit of

Monique J. Jilesen, sworn January 18, 2021, are hereby approved.

RECOGNITION BY FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS

18. THIS COURT HEREBY REQUESTS the aid and recognition of any court, tribunal,
regulatory or administrative body having jurisdiction in Canada, the United States of America,
Republic of Panama, Republic of Guatemala, Barbados, Republic of Colombia or Bolivarian

Republic of Venezuela to give effect to this Order and to assist the Receiver and its agents in
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carrying out the terms of this Order. All courts, tribunals, regulatory and administrative bodies are
hereby respectfully requested to make such orders and to provide such assistance to the Receiver,
as an officer of this Court, as may be necessary or desirable to give effect to this Order or to assist

the Receiver and its agents in carrying out the terms of this Order.
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(Signature of Judge)
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COURT FILE NO.: Court File No. CV-11-9062-00CL
DATE: February 10, 2021

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
COMMERCIAL LIST

RE: Margarita Castillo, Applicant
AND:
XELA ENTERPRISES LTD., TROPIC INTERNATIONAL LIMITED, FRESH
QUEST INC,, 696096 ALBERTA LTD., JUAN GUILLERMO GUTIERREZ and

CARMEN 8. GUTIERREZ, Executor of the Estate of Juan Arturo Gutierrez,
Respondents

BEFORE: The Honourable Justice McEwen

COUNSEL: Monique Jilesen for KSV Restructuring Inc., the Receiver
Chris MacLeod for Juan Guillermo Gutierrez
Philip Cho for Arturo’s Technical Services Ltd. And BDT Investments Inc.
Jeffrey Leon and Jason Woychesyn for Margarita Castillo
Aaron Kreaden for the Avicola Group and each of Juan Luis Bosch Gutierrez,
Felipe Antonio Bosch Gutierrez, Dionisio Gutierrez Mayorga, and Juan Jose
Gutierrez Moyorga

ALSO PRESENT: Bobby Kofman, KSV Restructuring Inc., the Receiver

Carl O’Shea and Alvaro Almengor, Hatstone, Panamanian Counsel to the
Receiver



RE:
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COURT FILE NO.: CV-11-9062-00CL
DATE: July 28, 2021

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
COMMERCIAL LIST

Margarita Castillo, Applicant
AND:

Xela Enterprises Ltd., Tropic International Limited, Fresh Quest, Inc., 696096
Alberta Ltd., Juan Guillermo Gutierrez and Carmen S. Gutierrez, as Executor of the
Estate of Juan Arturo Gutierrez, Respondents

BEFORE: The Honourable Justice Thomas J. McEwen

COUNSEL: (see Counsel Slip)

HEARD IN WRITING

COSTS ENDORSEMENT

This endorsement deals with the issue of costs with respect to my March 25/21 [March 25, 2021]

[1]
[2]

[3]

[4]

[5]

[6]

order.
I have reviewed the written submissions filed by the parties to the motion.

The Receiver, who was largely successful at the motions, seeks costs on a substantial
indemnity basis against Juan Guillermo Gutierrez (“Juan Guillermo”) and Arturo’s
Technical Services Ltd. (“ATS”).

In this regard, the Receiver seeks fees expended by its counsel in these proceedings, its counsel
in Panama (“Hatstone”) and its own fees with respect to steps taken to obtain various Court
Orders — totalling $319,599.23.

Juan Guillermo and ATS deny that any costs should be paid and, if so, the amount should be
nominal - $5,000.00.

I will start with the issue of jurisdiction. Juan Guillermo and ATS contend that I cannot award
costs to the Receiver since there was no request for costs in the first two notices of motion.
They rely on the case of Pelletier v. Canada, [2006] F.C.J. No. 1884 (C.A.).

I do not agree with their submission and accept the submission of the Receiver that costs can
be awarded in these circumstances based on the decision of the Court of Appeal in Akagi v.



[7]

[8]
[9]

[10]

[11]

[12]

[13]
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Synergy Corp. (2000) Inc., 2015 ONCA 771 at para. 14 where the Court squarely dealt with
this issue.

Pelletier 1s distinguishable, wherein no costs were requested in oral argument. This was not
the case in the matter before me where costs were requested, and I requested submissions.

The second issue to consider is the scale upon which costs ought to be awarded.

In my view, costs ought to be awarded on a substantial indemnity basis with respect to the
following:

(1) Against Juan Guillermo with respect to his failure to deliver his electronic devices for
analysis contrary to my orders of Aug. 28/20 and Oct. 27/20.

(2) Against ATS with respect to its failure to allow the Receiver access to certain computer
servers contrary to the above-noted Orders.

In both cases, as I noted in my March 25/21 endorsement, Juan Guillermo and ATS failed to

comply with prior orders. I do not propose to restate my other findings which were critical of
both of them.

In the circumstances of this case substantial indemnity is warranted on these two issues. Court
orders, particularly in acrimonious litigation such as this, cannot be ignored without
consequence. I do not agree with the position taken by ATS that costs of motions cannot be
recovered where fees are provided for in an Appointment Order or Juan Guillermo’s
submission that Receivers ought not receive costs. If this was true in either case it would allow
parties and stakeholders to ignore Court Orders with impunity.

Given the failure to comply with clear orders of the Court and my other criticisms contained
in the March 25/21 endorsement I am of the view that this is one of those rare cases where
substantial indemnity costs are warranted. The actions of Juan Guillermo and ATS are worthy
of sanction.

With respect to the remaining Orders in my March 25/21 endorsement I make the following
orders:

(1) With respect to the Receiver’s motion to expand its powers, I award costs on a partial
indemnity basis. Although the motion was opposed by Juan Guillermo and ATS I do
not find that their opposition warrants heightened costs. It remains to be seen what the
investigations will uncover.!

(2) I make no order as to costs with respect to the foreign recognition order; the order
concerning fees of the Receiver and counsel; or, the order replacing Duff & Phelps
with Epiq Global. None of these orders were strenuously opposed (the last one was
unopposed). Thus, no costs are warranted.

!'T considered awarding substantial indemnity costs given the criminal proceedings commenced in Panama, but did not
since Juan Guillermo thereafter cooperated and the expansion of powers deals with a number of issues/investigations —
the results of which are yet unknown.



[14]

[15]

[16]

[17]

[18]

[19]

[20]

[21]

[22]

[23]

[24]

[25]

[26]

[27]
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This brings me to the issue of quantum and what costs ought to be awarded.

The Receiver seeks its legal costs, along with costs incurred by the Receiver in obtaining
orders, and costs of the Hatstone firm in Panama with respect to its involvement in issues
surrounding the motion.

Juan Guillermo and ATS oppose any costs being awarded to Hatstone or the Receiver.
I disagree.

Hatstone is one of the Receiver’s law firms. Given the actions of Juan Guillermo, as set out in
my March 25/21 endorsement, it was reasonable and necessary to seek their assistance at the
return of the motion.

Similarly, I agree that the Receiver incurred unnecessary and additional costs in responding
to the non-compliance and allegations of Juan Guillermo and ATS. In my view, such costs are
compensable as being “incidental” to a step in the proceeding i.e., the motions as per s. 13(1)
of the Courts of Justice Act. Such relief is particularly sensible where the Court seeks to
prevent abuses of the Court’s procedure — in this case non-compliance with Court Orders and
the commencement of the proceedings in Panama against Hatstone, which was supported by
Juan Guillermo.

Based on the above analysis and considering the criteria set out in Rule 57.01, considering the
factors in Boucher v. Public Accountants Council for the Province of Ontario, 2004 CanLIl
14579 (ONCA) and taking a holistic view, I have reviewed the submissions on quantum vis a
vis the Receiver, its counsel and Hatstone.

I note that the objective in fixing costs is to arrive at an amount that is fair and reasonable for
the unsuccessful party to pay in the particular circumstances of this case, rather than the fixed
amount of actual costs incurred by the successful party.

In this regard, I do not propose to analyse each item and conduct what amounts to an
assessment. Instead, I will fix costs, keeping in mind the principle of proportionality and the
factors noted above.

I have reviewed the objections of Juan Guillermo and ATS. Some I have dealt with above.

They have raised certain issues that have already been litigated and dealt with in my previous
endorsements and I do not propose to repeat them again.

I agree with them that amounts, overall, sought by the Receiver are high and there has been
some duplication.

On the other side of the coin, the Receiver was put to extra expense as a result of the failure
of Juan Guillermo and ATS to comply with my aforementioned orders and their other actions
referred to in my Feb. 10/21 and March 25/21 endorsements.

I do not agree with ATS that the Rules preclude the Receiver from obtaining costs regarding
cross-examinations and prefer the Receiver’s submission in this regard.



125

[28] As noted above, I have also rejected the argument that the Receiver is not allowed
reimbursement for steps taken to attempt compliance with Orders. In addition to what I have
outlined, this would be unfair to stakeholders and saddle them with costs that ought not to
have been incurred.

Disposition

[29] Taking all of the submissions into account, therefore, I make the following costs orders:

(1) With respect to Juan Guillermo’s failure to deliver his electronic devices he shall pay
the Receiver, on a substantial indemnity basis, the following fees:

a. Lenczner Slaght LLP - $50,000 plus HST
b. KSV Restructuring Inc. - $30,000 plus HST

(2) With respect to ATS’ failure to allow the Receiver access it shall pay the Receiver, on
a substantial indemnity basis, the following fees:

a. Lenczner Slaght LLP - $30,000 plus HST
b. KSV Restructuring Inc. - $15,000 plus HST

(3) With respect to the Receiver’s motion to expand its powers, Juan Guillermo and ATS,
on a joint and several basis, shall pay the Receiver the following fees:

a. Lenczner Slaght LLP - $15,000 plus HST
b. KSV Restructuring Inc. - $7,500 plus HST
c. Hatstone - $7,500 plus HST

(4) Disbursements shall be paid to the Receiver by Juan Guillermo and ATS, on a joint
and several basis, with Juan Guillermo paying 67% and ATS paying 33%.

[30] Given my previous findings in prior endorsements and the written costs award, I have
determined that, while I will continue to manage this matter, it would be preferrable if another
judge conducted the contempt hearing — which is a quasi-criminal proceeding.

[31] I will assume that it is reassigned and the dates are kept.

[32] Costs are to be paid within 60 days.

McEwen J.

Date: July 28, 2021
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CITATION: Castillo v. Xela Enterprises Ltd., 2021 ONSC 4860
DIVISIONAL COURT FILE NO.: 279/21 and 314/21
DATE: 2021/07/09

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE - ONTARIO
DIVISIONAL COURT

RE:

BEFORE:

COUNSEL.:

MARGARITA CASTILLO, Applicant

AND:

XELA ENTERPRISES LTD., TROPIC INTERNATIONAL LIMITED, FRESH
QUEST, INC., 696096 ALBERTA LTD., JUAN GUILLERMO GUTIERREZ and
CARMEN S. GUTIERREZ, AS EXECUTOR OF THE ESTATE OF JUAN
ARTURO GUTIERREZ, Respondents

McWatt ACJSCJ, Sachs and Penny JJ.

Christopher MacLeod and N. Joan Kasozi, for the Moving Party, Juan Guillermo
Gutierrez

Philip Cho and Michael Ly, for the Moving Party, Arturo’s Technical Services Inc.

Peter H. Griffin, Monique J. Jilesen and Derek Knoke, Kyle Plunkett, for the
Receiver, Responding Party

HEARD at Toronto: In writing

ENDORSEMENT

[1] This motion for leave to appeal the Orders of McEwen J. dated March 25, 2021 is dismissed
with costs to the Receiver fixed in the amount of $5000.00, all inclusive.

McWatt ACJSCJ
,/LJA 0 _

chs J.
\L Penny J.

Date: July 9, 2021


http://intra.judicialsecurity.jus.gov.on.ca/NeutralCitation/
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p)
Court File No. CV-11-9062-00CL
ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
COMMERCIAL LIST
BETWEEN:

MARGARITA CASTILLO
Applicant

and
XELA ENTERPRISES LTD., TROPIC INTERNATIONAL LIMITED,
FRESH QUEST, INC., 696096 ALBERTA LTD., JUAN GUILLERMO
GUTIERREZ and CARMEN S. GUTIERREZ, as Executor of the Estate of

Juan Arturo Gutierrez
Respondents

NOTICE OF MOTION
[Injunctive Relief]

The Respondent Juan Guillermo Gutierrez, will make a Motion to a Judge
presiding over the Commercial List on Wednesday, March 30, 2022 at 10:00 a.m., or as

soon after that time as the Motion can be heard.
PROPOSED METHOD OF HEARING: The Motion is to be heard
[X] By video conference.

at the following location

THE MOTION IS FOR

1. An interim Order staying the enforcement of all Orders for disclosure of Juan

Guillermo Gutierrez’'s emails and information on the Personal Devices (defined below)

Y
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-2-

and the ATS Server Emails (defined below), including without limitation the Orders of

Justice McEwen dated October 27, 2020 and March 25, 2021, and any endorsements

made in respect thereof (collectively the “Discovery Orders”), for a period of 60 days,

subject to further extension for good cause shown;

2. the Costs of this motion, if opposed; and

3. such further and other Relief as to this Honourable Court may seem just.

THE GROUNDS FOR THE MOTION ARE:

a)

b)

The Discovery Orders require Mr. Gutierrez to permit all of the data on a
personal iPad and a personal iPhone (the “Personal Devices”) to be
uploaded to a Relativity database maintained by Epig, an IT consultant
unilaterally identified and retained by the Receiver. The Personal Devices
have been imaged, and all of the data currently resides on a hard drive in

Epiqg’s possession, locked with a passcode known only to Mr. Gutierrez.

The Discovery Orders also require Arturos Technical Services (“ATS”) —the
third-party data storage provider that maintains all emails to or from
Mr. Gutierrez with an @xela.com or an @arturos.com domain (the “ATS
Server Emails”) — to be uploaded to Epiq’s Relativity database. The ATS
Server Emails include all emails involving Mr. Gutierrez between [date] and

[date], representing more than 70 gigabytes of data.
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The Discovery Orders contemplate that Mr. Gutierrez conduct advance
review of the Personal Devices and the ATS Server Emails by examining the
data on Epiq’s Relativity platform for issues of privilege and other potential
objections to disclosure, whereupon any disputes would be resolved by the
Court and, if applicable, the resulting discoverable data would be supplied to

the Receiver.

Mr. Gutierrez’s family — through LISA, S.A. (“LISA”), an indirect Panamanian
subsidiary of Xela — are the ultimate beneficiaries of a 1/3 stake in a lucrative
poultry conglomerate in Guatemala (the “Avicola Group”). The majority
shareholders (the “Nephews”) have improperly withheld hundreds of
millions of U.S. dollars in corporate dividends from Mr. Gutierrez’s family
since 1998 (the “Unpaid Dividends”), while continuing to pay dividends to
themselves. Mr. Gutierrez and his family have been involved in bitterly
contentious, multi-jurisdictional litigation with the Nephews for more than two

decades in an effort to recover the Unpaid Dividends.

The Nephews have historically engaged in and/or benefited from corporate
espionage to the prejudice of Mr. Gutierrez and his family. Specifically, in
2011, they used stolen confidential/privilieged documents from Xela’s
computer servers — with the complicity of the Applicant, who sponsored the
theft and placed the documents in the public record by appending them to an
unrelated lawsuit — as bases for frivolous legal actions and improper

corporate resolutions in Guatemala and Panama, all designed to
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misappropriate LISA’s shares in the Avicola Group. Those actions have all

been resolved in LISA’s favor, at great cost and expense, over a period of

some ten years.

Facts have emerged over the past two days, relating to criminal proceedings
against the Nephews in Panama (outlined further below), to suggest a very
high risk that the Nephews will engage in new malfeasance and corporate
espionage to try to obtain copies of the Personal Devices and the ATS Server
Emails. Should those data fall into the Nephew’s hands, — Mr. Gutierrez’s

family would suffer overwhelming, irreparable injury.

There is a historical mistrust of the Receiver in the conduct of this

receivership grounded in, among other things:

1. the appearance that the Receiver is being funded by the Nephews;

2. the appearance that the Receiver is coordinating with the Nephews —
based upon, inter alia, billing records submitted by the Receiver that
suggest ongoing strategic discussions between the Receiver’s
counsel and the Nephews’ lawyers — to use this receivership as a
vehicle to prejudice the recovery of Unpaid Dividends rather than to
pursue monies that might satisfy the judgment herein (the “Castillo

Judgment”);
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3. the propensity of the Receiver to dismiss legitimate concerns about

the confidentiality, privilege, privacy and security of the ATS Server

Emails and the data on the Personal Devices;

4. the propensity of the Receiver to publish on its website, without any
apparent reason or any articulated justification, massive amounts of
Xela data and other information that Mr. Gutierrez would consider

confidential and inappropriate for public disclosure;

5. the appearance that the Receiver is actively seeking to prevent a
discharge of this receivership by interfering with third-party funding
that would satisfy the Castillo Judgment and approved receivership

expenses.

Mr. Gutierrez has secured a third-party loan sufficient to satisfy the Castillo
Judgment in its entirety, along with the approved receivership costs (the
“Loan”). The lender has transferred the full amount of the Loan proceeds to
the client trust account of Mr. Gutierrez’s counsel for deposit with the Court
pending consideration of a motion to discharge the receivership. The Loan
proceeds reached Canada in February 2022 but were returned to the lender
bank because the funds were inadvertently transferred to counsel’s
Canadian-dollar-denominated trust account rather than its U.S.-dollar-
denominated account. The Loan proceeds were transferred a second time
to Mr. Gutierrez’s counsel, in February 2022; however — after the Receiver

inexplicably published on its website the SWIFT banking confirmation for the
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second transfer, which Mr. Gutierrez had provided to the Court as a courtesy

— the intermediary bank in the U.S. undertook to conduct additional due

diligence, which is presently in process.

The Nephews (and others) have been under criminal investigation and
prosecution in Panama on charges of, among other things, embezzling and
laundering Unpaid Dividends. Social media reports indicate that within the
past two days, those criminal proceedings have entered a new phase.
Specifically, it has been reported that the Nephews were required to make
personal appearances in Panama in connection with the criminal charges,
and that the Panamanian Court thereafter arrested their return to Guatemala
and is barring them from departing Panama. Those recent developments
exponentially increase the risk of malfeasance and corporate espionage in

retaliation against Mr. Gutierrez.

The progress of the criminal proceedings in Panama raises the question
whether the Nephews may already have misused the SWIFT transfer

confirmations published by the Receiver on its website.

The Receiver has refused to cooperate with good-faith attempts by both
Mr. Gutierrez and ATS to discuss a reasonable and satisfactory method to
upload the ATS Server Emails and the data on the Personal Devices to Epiq’s
Relativity platform while preserving appropriate security. In that regard, the

Receiver has shown a complete lack of consideration for the safety of Mr.
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Gutierrez’'s data, which concerns are magnified in light of the recent

developments in the criminal proceedings against the Nephews in Panama.

Moreover, the Receiver has consistently mischaracterized Mr. Gutierrez’'s
level of cooperation, as well as ATS’s cooperation, in the receivership,
placing Mr. Gutierrez in a false light. Most recently, on 23 March 2022, the
Receiver falsely represented that Mr. Gutierrez and ATS were in non-
compliance with the Discovery Orders, when in fact counsel for ATS were in
the midst of discussions with the Receiver’s counsel and the experts retained
by Mr. Gutierrez were in the midst of discussions with the with Epiqg in an
effort to address Mr. Gutierrez’s legitimate concerns over the safety and
security of the data on the Personal Devices and the ATS Server Emails.
Indeed, it was the Receiver that failed reasonably to cooperate in the process
to protect Mr. Gutierrez’s legitimate privacy concerns. The Receiver’s failure
to provide objective reporting to this Court concerning Mr. Gutierrez’s

cooperation as it relates to the data in question signals a further red flag.

m) Indeed, the tendency of the Receiver to misreport the facts has been manifest

from the outset of the receivership. Every official report submitted by the
Receiver has been replete with inaccuracies and omissions of material fact,
all with an unreasonably biased tone against Mr. Gutierrez designed to cast
him as uncooperative. Moreover, the Receiver has refused to acknowledge
the inaccuracies when the facts are clarified by Mr. Gutierrez, or to correct

the record. Further, the Receiver has twice sought contempt against
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Mr. Gutierrez, but on both previous occasions adjourned the contempt

motions sine die when faced with the prospect of cross-examination.

The Receiver has incurred more than a million dollars in fees in the
receivership without recovering one single dollar toward satisfaction of the
Castillo Judgment. Neither has the Receiver ever identified any rational
relationship between the data in question and any potential recovery of funds
toward satisfaction of the Judgment. Equally as important, the cost
implications of proceeding under the Orders is staggering; the ATS Server
Emails alone represent some 70 gigabytes of data, largely in Spanish,

without any articulated urgency.

There will be no prejudice to the Receiver or any other person if a stay of the
Discovery Orders is ordered for a period of 60 days, subject to extension for

good cause shown.

The circumstances constitute grounds for an interim Order suspending the
Discovery Orders for a reasonable period of time, to permit the Loan
proceeds to clear the international baking system and be deposited with the
Court for satisfaction of the Castillo Judgment and approved receivership

expenses.

Sections 101 and 106 of the Courts of Justice Act, RSO 1900, c C43, as

amended;

Rule 40 of the Rules of Civil Procedure, RRO 1990, Reg 194, as amended,;
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s) Such further and other grounds as the lawyers may advise.

THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE will be used at the hearing of the

Motion:

(@) The Affidavit of Juan Gutierrez;

(b) Such further and other evidence as the lawyers may advise and this

Honourable Court may permit.
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COURT FILE NO.: CV-11-9062-0CL
DATE: March 25, 2022
ONTARIO

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
COMMERCIAL LIST

RE: Margarita Castillo, Plaintiff

AND:

Xela Enterprises Ltd., Tropic International Limited, Fresh Quest, Inc., 696096
Alberta Ltd., Juan Guillermo Gutierrez and Carmen S. Gutierrez, as Executor of
the Estate of Juan Arturo Gutierrez, Defendants

BEFORE: The Honourable Justice Thomas J. McEwen

COUNSEL: (see Counsel Slip)

ENDORSEMENT

[1] A further case conference was convened today at my request to deal with the ongoing and
protracted dispute concerning compliance with my earlier orders of Aug 28, 2020, Oct 27,
2020 (two orders) and March 25, 2021.

[2] As I have previously noted the first three orders were granted on consent. The last order,
March 25, 2021, resulted from a contested motion and leave to appeal was denied.

[3] Since then Mr. Gutierrez has raised several objections concerning the methods that should be
used with respect to the provision of his passwords to Epiq. As a result ATS has also not
provided the emails that I have ordered be produced.

[4] I convened the case conference today to role on the protocol given Mr. Gutierrez’s most recent
objections.

[5] At today’s case conference counsel for Mr. Gutierrez advised that they wished me to defer the
issues concerning access and production as they wished to bring a motion for injunctive relief
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staying the enforcement of my aforementioned orders, based on a draft Notice of Motion
provided shortly before the case conference began.

[6] The draft Notice of Motion generally speaking, repeats historical complaints Mr. Gutierrez has
raised against the Receiver, and the “appearance” that the Receiver is being funded by “the
Nephews” with whom Mr. Gutierrez has been locked in litigation outside Canada for several
years.

[7] Further, and again, Mr. Gutierrez submits that he has secured funding to satisfy the Castillo
judgment, which has now been held up given recent actions of the Receiver generally involving
information published on its website.

[8] Mr. Gutierrez also raises other issues in the draft Notice of Motion concerning the Receiver’s
recent conduct concerning the access/production issues. He alleges they have failed to
cooperate with him.

[9] Overall, amongst other things, Mr. Gutierrez submits there is reason to believe that if access
to passwords and documents is ordered as per the protocol suggested by Epiq it could fall into
“thee Nephews” hands, thus causing him great prejudice. This is particularly so, says Mr.
Gutierrez given recent developments concerning “the Nephews” in Panama where Mr.
Gutierrez alleges they face criminal charges that are escalating in significance.

[10] As I advised the parties at the case conference I am not prepared to defer the
access/productions any further, and I ordered at the case that the passwords and emails
referenced in my earlier orders and endorsements (and specifically my endorsement of March
17/22) be provided to Epiq no later than Monday, March 28/22 @ 5 p.m.

[11] I made the above order for a number of reasons.

[12]  First, the Receiver is an officer of the Court and Epiq operates under the Receiver’s
mandate thus making it accountable to this Court.

[13] Epiq has proposed a sensible and secured manner to secure the passwords and ATS’s
documents.

[14]  Second, there is no reasonable basis to suggest that the Receiver has in some way colluded
with “the Nephews” or that “the Nephews” can somehow engage in “corporate espionage”.
To secure the data that Epiq will secure. Mr. Gutierrez, in some fashion or another, for some
time has made these allegations without proof. In this ® it bears nothing that the Receiver has
consistently denied these longstanding allegations.

[15] Third, it bears noting that Mr. Gutierrez has for several months contested production of the
passwords. Notwithstanding the three consent orders of Aug/20 and Oct 27/2020(2) Mr.
Gutierrez did not make any production or provide passwords. This lead to the March 25/21
order where I again, ordered the disclosure of Mr. Gutierrez’s passwords (among other things).
Again, there has not been compliance.
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[16]  Fourth, it bears noting that the Oct 27/20 order has a built in protocol that allows only Mr.
Gutierrez access to the Platform to allow him the opportunity to review the documents and
assert any objections to disclosure.

[17] Until that occurs, no one else, (not Epiq, the Receiver, or the Applicant, or any other
person) can have access. The protocol was well thought out, negotiated and addressed Mr.
Gutierrez’s concerns at the time.

[18]  Fifth, compliance with my aforementioned Orders take a backseat in the fall of 2021 when
Mr. Gutierrez claimed to have financing to pay the Castillo judgment. I paused the access
production issues to determine if the funding could lead to resolution.

[19] Many months have passed with Mr. Gutierrez offering various excuses as to why payment
has not been made and financing not secured. The latest blames the action of the Receiver in
Feb/22, but several months passed before that date without the promised funding arriving
which was first promised in Sept/21.

[20] It also bears noting that Mr. Gutierrez also proposed in March/21, when the motion was
argued, that the motion concerning access/production should not be pursued as the Receiver
had received a settlement offer. I rejected that submission as the offer in my view for the
reasons given, was no offer at all.

[21] It may be that the currently promised financing may arrive, but that cannot form the basis
of a stay given the above.

[22] Sixth, I have made no finding of any misconduct against the Receiver. I have however
been critical of Mr. Gutierrez particularly with respect to the initiating of a criminal complaint
in Panama against the Receiver’s agents which I ordered be withdrawn. Mr. Gutierrez’s
involvement in the Panama matter was initiated without his Canadian solicitor’s knowledge
and I was of the view that the criminal complaint was a prima facie attach on my previous
order in which specific rights were granted to the Receiver concerning the Panamanian
company Gabinvest SA.

[23] Seventh, it was only today that Mr. Gutierrez raised the issue of an injunction, after
previous attempts to restrict Epiq’s access failed. None of the issues raised in the draft Notice
of Motion were mentioned in the earlier conferences. Of al of the issues only the elevated
criminal charges against “the Nephews” has surfaced in the past few days.

[24] In my view, given all of the above, I believe that the latest proposed motion is an attempt
to further delay the compliance with my earlier orders concerning access/production.

[25] The protocol suggested by Epiq as set out in Mr. Knoke’s email of March 23/22 @ 5:22
p.m. is fair and reasonable and shall be followed by Mr. Gutierrez and ATS — and completed
as noted, by March 22/22 @5 p.m.

[26] Therefore, in accordance with Mr. Knoke’s email the following shall occur:
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1. Mr. Gutierrez and/or his solicitors shall attest a videoconference with Epiq (with the
Receiver and counsel absent) and provide the passwords to Epiq. After which Epiq
will re-lock the hard drive.

2. ATS will provide Epiq with Mr. Gutierrez’s email using Epiq’s secure ETP. Thereafter
the data will be subject to the aforementioned privilege protocol (as will the data in 1
above) set out in my Oct 27/20 order.

[27] Last, I am releasing this endorsement today in a handwritten endorsement given the
timeline imposed and Mr. Gutierrez’s counsel’s comments about considering an appeal.

McEwen J.
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LEHAHAS SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
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Toronto

THE HONOURABLE ) FRIDAY, THE 25™

)

JUSTICE McEWEN ) DAY OF MARCH, 2022

BETWEEN:

(Court Seal)

MARGARITA CASTILLO
Applicant
and

XELA ENTERPRISES LTD., TROPIC INTERNATIONAL LIMITED,

FRESH QUEST INC., 696096 ALBERTA LTD., JUAN GUILLERMO

GUTIERREZ and CARMEN S. GUTIERREZ, Executor of the Estate of
Juan Arturo Gutierrez

Respondents

AND IN THE MATTER OF THE RECEIVERSHIP OF XELA ENTERPRISES LTD.

ORDER

THIS CASE CONFERENCE, called by McEwen J. following an email report dated
March 23, 2022 (the “Email Report™) by KSV Restructuring Inc. (“KSV?”), in its capacity as the
Court-appointed receiver and manager (in such capacity, the “Receiver”), without security, of the
assets, undertakings, and property of Xela Enterprises Ltd. (the “Company’) was heard virtually

on March 25, 2022 via the Zoom videoconferencing platform by judicial videoconference at

Toronto, Ontario.
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WHEREAS on August 28, 2020, this Court made an Order with respect to the Company’s

documents and devices.

WHEREAS on October 27, 2020, this Court made an Order (the “ATS Order”)
authorizing Duff & Phelps to make a single disk image of certain servers under the control of

Arturo’s Technical Services Ltd. (“ATS”).

WHEREAS on October 27, 2020, this Court made an Order (the “Juan Guillermo
Imaging Order”) authorizing Duff & Phelps to make a single forensic image of the devices of

Juan Guillermo Gutierrez (“Juan Guillermo”™).

WHEREAS on March 25, 2021, this Court made an order that Juan Guillermo
immediately provide the Receiver and Epiq Global (“Epiq™) with all encryption codes, keys,
passwords, or any other such information or knowledge necessary to unlock and access the data
on the images of Juan Guillermo’s devices, including but not limited to the DataShield Fantom

Drive (the “Hard Drive”).

AND WHEREAS the March 25, 2021 Order also provided, among other things, that
within 14 days of the Order, ATS provide the Receiver with an electronic copy of all emails sent
or received by Juan Guillermo (regardless of the email address to which it was forwarded and
regardless of whether the email was sent directly to him or it was one on which he was copied) at
any email address maintained on ATS servers to the date of the Order, along with any encryption

codes, keys, or passwords used to secure the emails.

ON READING the Email Report and the material filed by Juan Guillermo, the
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August 28, 2020 Order, the October 27, 2020 ATS Order, the October 27, 2020 Juan

Guillermo Imaging Order, and the March 25, 2021 Order, and on hearing the submissions of

the Receiver, counsel for Juan Guillermo, and counsel for ATS,

1. THIS COURT ORDERS that, by March 28, 2022 at 5 pm EST, Juan Guillermo and his
solicitors shall attend a videoconference with Epiq Global (with the Receiver and counsel absent)
and provide Epiq with all encryption codes, keys, passwords, or any other information necessary
to unlock and access the data on the images of Juan Guillermo’s devices, including but not

limited to the Hard Drive (collectively the “Hard Drive Data™).

2. THIS COURT ORDERS that following Epiq accessing and downloading the Hard Drive

Data, Epiq shall re-lock the Hard Drive.

3. THIS COURT ORDERS that, by March 28, 2022 at 5 pm EST using Epiq’s secure file
transfer protocol, ATS shall provide Epiq with an electronic copy of all emails sent or received
by Juan Guillermo (regardless of the email address to which it was forwarded, if the email was
sent directly to him or if the email was one on which he was copied) at any email address
maintained on any ATS server for the period up to March 25, 2021 (the “ATS Juan Guillermo

Emails”), along with any encryption codes, keys, or passwords used to secure the emails.

4. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Hard Drive Data and the ATS Juan Guillermo Emails
in Epiq’s possession as a result of this Order shall be subject to the privilege protocol set out in

the October 27, 2020 Juan Guillermo Imaging Order.
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(Signature of judge, officer or registrar)
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ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

(DIVISIONAL COURT)
BETWEEN:

MARGARITA CASTILLO
Applicant

and
XELA ENTERPRISES LTD., TROPIC INTERNATIONAL LIMITED,
FRESH QUEST, INC., 696096 ALBERTA LTD., JUAN GUILLERMO
GUTIERREZ and CARMEN S. GUTIERREZ, as Executor of the Estate of

Juan Arturo Gutierrez
Respondents

NOTICE OF MOTION

The Respondent, Juan Guillermo Gutierrez (“Respondent” or “Mr. Gutierrez”), will
make a Motion for a stay of certain Orders of the Honourable Justice McEwen to a Judge
of the Divisional Court on a date to be fixed by the Registrar, at 130 Queen Street West,

Toronto, Ontario, M5H 2N5.
PROPOSED METHOD OF HEARING: The Motion is to be heard:
[] in writing under subrule 37.12.1(1) because it is;
[ ] in writing as an opposed motion under subrule 37.12.1(4);

[X]  orally.
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THE MOTION IS FOR

(@)

(b)

(c)

An order staying the Order of the Honourable Justice McEwen dated March
25, 2022 (the “Compliance Order”) and, if necessary, staying the Orders
of the Honourable Justice McEwen dated August 28, 2020, October 27,
2020, and March 25, 2021 (collectively the “Production Orders”), to the
extent necessary to suspend any obligation to transfer the Data (as defined
hereinafter) to Epiq Systems, Inc. (“Epiq”), pending the determination of the
Respondent’s motion for leave to appeal his Motion for Interim Order

(Injunctive Relief) to suspend the Discover Orders;

The costs of this motion, if opposed, and,

Such further and other relief as this Honourable Court may deem just.

THE GROUNDS FOR THE MOTION ARE:

Background

(@)

(b)

The within receivership proceedings relate to the enforcement of a single
creditor judgment (the “Judgment”) in favour of Margarita Castillo (the

“‘Applicant”);

The Judgment arises out of certain litigation that is part of a series of long
protracted and acrimonious international commercial litigation that spans
multiple countries and over many years between Mr. Gutierrez, his family

members and certain corporations, on one hand, and Mr. Gutierrez’ cousins



(€)

(d)

(e)
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(the “Nephews”), their family members and certain corporations, on the

other hand;

At stake are hundreds of millions of dollars of dividends improperly withheld
by the Nephews, and involve allegations of money laundering, corporate

espionage, and bribery;

For the past 18 months, the Receiver has expended tremendous resources
to acquire and view data on Mr. Gutierrez’ personal iPad and personal
iPhone (the “Personal Devices”) and certain emails sent or received by Mr.
Guitierrez, including emails at email addresses unassociated with Xela (the

“‘ATS Server Emails”);

The Receiver has also brought a motion for a contempt order against Mr.
Gutierrez (the “Contempt Motion”) seeking, among other things, an order
that Mr. Gutierrez be imprisoned, which Contempt Motion has been extant

since February 9, 2021;

The Production Orders

(f)

On August 28, 2020, October 27, 2020 and March 25, 2021, the Honourable
Justice McEwen made a series of Orders (collectively the Production
Orders) requiring the Respondent — the president and sole shareholder of
Xela Enterprises Ltd. (“Xela” or the “Company”), which is in receivership —

to, among other things:

(1) produce all of the data on the Personal Devices;



(9)

(h)

(i)

()
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(i) permit the creation of forensic images of the Personal Devices (the

‘Images”);

(i)  permit the data in the Images to be uploaded to an e-discovery
database program (“Relativity”) maintained by Kroll (then, a division

of Duff & Phelps), and later substituted with Epiqg.

The Images of the Personal Devices have been created and reside on an
external hard disk drive (the “External Drive”) in Epiq’s possession, which

External Drive is locked with a passcode known only to Mr. Gutierrez.

The Production Orders also require Arturos Technical Services Ltd. (‘ATS”)
— the non-party IT services provider — to produce all emails sent or received
by Mr. Guitierrez, including emails at email addresses unassociated with

Xela (the “ATS Server Emails”).

The Production Orders contemplate that Mr. Gutierrez conduct advance
review of the data on the Personal Devices on Relativity to assert any
objections to disclosure to the Receiver of any documents on Relativity
based on privilege, personal information, or any other reasonable basis (the

“Objections Protocol”).

The Production Orders did not provide for the ATS Server Emails to be
subject to the Objections Protocol, or any other protocol relating to Mr.

Gutierrez’ personal solicitor-client privileged communications;



(k)
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As a result, Mr. Gutierrez asserted privilege over the ATS Server Emails

and insisted on a protocol to review the ATS Server Emails for privilege,

which the Receiver denied;

On March 17, 2022, at a case conference, the Honourable Justice McEwen

ordered that:

(i)

(ii)

Mr. Gutierrez provide the password to Epiq so that the Images could

be uploaded to Relativity subject to the Objections Protocol; and,

The ATS Server Emails be delivered to Epiq to also be uploaded to

Relativity subject to the Objections Protocol;

Events Giving Rise to Heightened Concerns

(m)

(n)

Between March 17, 2022 and March 23, 2022:

(i)

(ii)

Mr. Gutierrez, his counsel, and his IT expert (“Teel”) attempted to
confer with Epiq to arrange for a safe, secure and appropriate
method to unlock the External Drive and upload the Images to

Relativity;

ATS and its counsel conferred with Epiq, the Receiver and its
counsel to arrange for a safe, secure and appropriate method to

transfer the ATS Server Emails to Epiq for upload to Relativity;

On March 23, 2022, before Epiq had responded to Teel’s suggestion, and

before Mr. Gutierrez had a reasonable opportunity to consult with his
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lawyers and Teel regarding the proposed method of transferring the ATS
Server Emails, the Receiver's counsel wrote to the Honourable Justice
McEwen reporting that both Mr. Gutierrez and ATS were not in compliance

with the Production Orders.

Also, between March 17, 2022 and March 23, 2022, Mr. Gutierrez learned
through social media reports that the Nephews were recently sanctioned by
the Panamanian Court as a result of certain criminal investigations arising
out of the Nephews activities indirectly related to these receivership

proceedings.

Mr. Gutierrez has serious and legitimate concerns regarding the safety and
security of the data on the Personal Devices and the ATS Server Emails
given prior incidents of data breaches and public disclosure of documents
that were utilized by the Nephews in other jurisdictions to support spurious

litigation against Mr. Gutierrez.

The Receiver's sudden reporting of non-compliance in the midst of bona
fide attempts to arrive at a reasonable, safe and secure method of
transferring the data to Epiq, shortly after the recent escalation of sanctions
against the Nephews in Panama, gives cause for Mr. Gutierrez to have
serious concerns about the risk of malfeasance and corporate espionage

as retaliatory actions by the Nephews.

These concerns are heightened by other actions taken by the Receiver in

the weeks leading up to March 23, 2022, including but not limited to, the
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Receiver inexplicably publishing on its website the confidential banking
transaction information of a wire transfer in the amount of $4.24 million USD
(the “Loan Proceeds”) intended to satisfy the Judgment and terminate
these Receivership proceedings, knowing that the Nephews have been

closely monitoring and participating in these Receivership proceedings.

March 25, 2022 Case Conference

()

(t)

(u)

As a result of the Receiver's report that Mr. Gutierrez and ATS remained
non-compliant, the Honourable Justice McEwen (the “Case Conference
Judge”) ordered an urgent case conference, which was returnable on

March 25, 2022.

On March 25, 2022, Mr. Gutierrez advised the Case Conference Judge of
his concerns arising from recent events and requested a short suspension
of all obligations under the Productions Orders to permit Mr. Gutierrez to
bring a motion for an interim interlocutory injunction (the “Injunction
Motion”) to stay the enforcement of the Production Orders for a period of
60 days to allow the Loan Proceeds, sufficient to pay the Judgment and
approved receivership fees and expenses to clear through the international

SWIFT banking network.

On March 25, 2022, the Case Conference Judge denied the request for a
short suspension and instead ordered compliance with the Production
Orders by requiring Mr. Gutierrez to divulge the External Drive password to

an Epiq representative via video conference and requiring ATS to deliver
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the ATS Server Emails by a secure file transfer protocol connection no later

than 5:00 p.m. on March 28, 2022 (the “Endorsement”).

Leave to Appeal

(v) Mr. Gutierrez will seek leave to appeal the Endorsement on the question of

whether the Case Conference Judge erred:

0] in failing to exercise his discretion to allow for a short suspension of
the Production Orders to permit Mr. Gutierrez to seek injunctive

relief;

(i) in ordering compliance with the Production Orders by a particular
date and time in the circumstances, particularly given the concerns
raised by Mr. Gutierrez regarding the Receiver's conduct and the

intention to seek injunctive relief;

(w) At the Case Conference, Mr. Gutierrez filed a draft Notice of Motion for

injunctive relief setting out specific the grounds on which relief was sought.

(x) Notwithstanding, the Case Conference Judge refused to grant a short

suspension of the Production Orders and instead issued the Endorsement.

Need for a Stay

(y) If the Endorsement and Production Orders are not stayed pending the

motion for leave to appeal (and ultimately, pending the motion for injunctive



)

(aa)

(bb)

(cc)

(dd)

(ee)
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relief), the appeal will be rendered nugatory because the data will have been

released into the possession of Epiq.

There is a serious issue to be tried with respect to the correctness of the

Endorsement.

Mr. Gutierrez will suffer irreparable harm if a stay of the Endorsement and
Production Orders is not granted because highly confidential and personal
information of Mr. Gutierrez will be transferred to Epiq, with the knowledge
of the Nephews who have a history of malfeasance and corporate

espionage.

Conversely, the Receiver will not suffer any non-compensable prejudice if
it must wait a further period to access the data given that it has already

waited 18 months.

The balance of convenience, therefore, favours the granting of an interim
stay of the Endorsement and Productions Orders to the extent that no data
shall be required to be provided to Epiq or uploaded to Relativity pending
the determination of Mr. Gutierrez’ motion for leave to appeal the

Endorsement.

Sections 19 and 101 of the Courts of Justice Act, RSO 1990, ¢ C.43, as

amended.

Rules 62.02 and 63.02 of the Rules of Civil Procedure, RRO 1990, Reg 194,

as amended.
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(ff) Such further and other grounds as the lawyers may advise.

THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE will be used at the hearing of the

Motion:

(a)  Affidavit of Juan Guttierez and the exhibits thereto; and,

(b) Such further and other evidence as the lawyers may advise and this

Honourable Court may permit.

March 28, 2022 CAMBRIDGE LLP
333 Adelaide Street West
4th Floor
Toronto, Ontario
M5V 1R5

Christopher MacLeod (LSO# 45723M)
Tel: 647.346.6696 (Direct Line)
cmacleod@cambridgellp.com

N. Joan Kasozi (LSO# 70332Q)

jkasozi@cambridgellp.com

Tel: 416.477.7007
Fax: 289.812.7385

Lawyers for the Respondent
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AND TO: BENNETT JONES
3400 One First Canadian Place
P.O. Box 130
Toronto, ON M5X 1A4

Jeffrey S. Leon
Email: leonj@bennettjones.com

Sean Zweig
Email: zweigs@bennettjones.com

William A. Bortolin
Email: bortolinw@bennettjones.com

Tel: (416) 361-3319
Fax: (416) 361-1530

Counsel for Margarita Castillo

STEWART MCKELVEY

Suite 900, Purdy's Wharf Tower One
1959 Upper Water St.

PO Box 997, Stn. Central

Halifax, Nova Scotia B3J 2X2

Jason Woycheshyn
Email: jwoycheshyn@stewartmckelvey.com

Tel: (902) 420-3200
Fax: (902) 420-1417

Co-Counsel for Margarita Castillo

AND TO: LENCZNER SLAGHT ROYCE
SMITH GRIFFIN LLP
Barristers
Suite 2600 130 Adelaide Street West
Toronto ON M5H 3P5

Peter H. Griffin (19527Q)

Tel: (416) 865-2921
Fax: (416) 865-3558

17494679.1
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Email: pariffin@litigate.com

Monique J. Jilesen (43092W)
Tel: (416) 865-2926
Fax: (416) 865-2851
Email: mjilesen@litigate.com

Derek Knoke (75555E)

Tel: (416) 865-3018

Fax: (416) 865-2876

Email: dknoke@litigate.com

Lawyers for the Receiver/Responding Party

WEIRFOULDS LLP

66 Wellington Street West, Suite 4100
Toronto-Dominion Centre, P.O. Box 35
Toronto, ON M5K 1B7

Philip Cho (LSO # 45615U)
pcho@weirfoulds.com

Michael C. Ly (LSO # 74673C)
mly@weirfoulds.com

Tel: 416-365-1110
Fax: 416-365-1876

Lawyers for Arturo’s Technical Services Inc

AIRD & BERLIS LLP
Brookfield Place

181 Bay Street, Suite 1800
Toronto, ON M5J 2T9

Kyle Plunkett
Email: kplunkett@airdberlis.com

Sam Babe
Email: shabe@airdberlis.com

Tel: (416) 863-1500
Fax: (416) 863-1515

Lawyers for the Receiver
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AND TO: CLARKE GITTENS FARMER
Parker House, Wildey Business Park,
Wildey Road, St. Michael,
Barbados, BB14006

Kevin Boyce
Email: kevin.boyce@clarkes.com.bb

Shena-Ann Ince
Email: shena-ann.ince@clarkes.com.bb

Tel: (246) 436-6287
Fax: (246) 436-9812

Barbados Counsel to the Receiver

AND TO: HATSTONE GROUP
BICSA Financial Center,
Floor 51, Suite 5102,
Panama City, Republic of Panama

Alvaro Almengor
Email: alvaro.almengor@hatstone.com

Carl O’'Shea
Email: carl.oshea@hatstone.com

Tel: (507) 830-5300
Fax: (507) 205-3319

Panama Counsel to the Receiver

AND TO: GREENSPAN HUMPRHEY WEINSTEIN LLP
15 Bedford Road
Toronto, Ontario M5R 237

Brian H. Greenspan
Email: bhg@15bedford.com

Tel: (416) 868-1755 Ext. 222
Fax: (416) 868-1990

Lawyers for Juan Guillermo Gutierrez
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AND TO: DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE CANADA
Ontario Regional Office
120 Adelaide Street West, Suite 400
Toronto, ON M5H 1T1

Diane Winters
Email: Diane.Winters@justice.gc.ca

Tel: (416) 973-3172
Fax: (416) 973-0810

Lawyers for Canada Revenue Agency
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Katherine Kay
Email: KKay@stikeman.com
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Tel: (416) 869-5507
Fax: (416) 618-5537
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Juan Luis Bosch Gutierrez, Felipe Antonio
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Division Court File No. 189/22
Court File No. CV-11-9062-00CL

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
DIVISIONAL COURT

BETWEEN:

MARGARITA CASTILLO
Applicant

and
XELA ENTERPRISES LTD., TROPIC INTERNATIONAL LIMITED,
FRESH QUEST, INC., 696096 ALBERTA LTD., JUAN GUILLERMO
GUTIERREZ and CARMEN S. GUTIERREZ, as Executor of the Estate of

Juan Arturo Gutierrez
Respondents

NOTICE OF MOTION FOR LEAVE TO APPEAL

The Respondent, Juan Guillermo Gutierrez (“Mr. Gutierrez”), will make a Motion
to a panel of the Divisional Court to be heard in writing, at 130 Queen Street West,
Toronto, Ontario, M5H 2N5, on a date to be fixed by the Registrar from the Order of The

Honourable Justice McEwen dated March 25, 2021.

PROPOSED METHOD OF HEARING: The Motion is to be heard in writing as an opposed

motion under subrule 62.02(2) or in such other manner as the Court may direct,

THE MOTION IS FOR

(@) An order granting leave to appeal the Order of the Honourable Justice

McEwen dated March 25, 2022 (the “Compliance Order”);



(b)

(c)

(d)
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If necessary, an order staying the Orders of the Honourable Justice
McEwen dated August 28, 2020, October 27, 2020, and March 25, 2021
and any related case conference endorsements or orders (collectively the
‘Production Orders”), to the extent necessary to suspend any obligation
to transfer the Data (as defined hereinafter) to Epiq Systems, Inc. (“Epiq”),

pending the determination of Mr. Gutierrez’ appeal,

The costs of this motion, if opposed; and,

Such further and other relief as this Honourable Court may deem just.

THE GROUNDS FOR THE MOTION ARE:

Background

(@)

(b)

The within receivership proceedings relate to the enforcement of a single
creditor judgment (the “Judgment”) in favour of Margarita Castillo (the

“‘Applicant”);

The Judgment arises out of certain litigation that is part of a series of long
protracted and acrimonious international commercial litigation that spans
multiple countries and over many years between Mr. Gutierrez, his family
members and certain corporations, on one hand, and Mr. Gutierrez’ cousins
(the “Nephews”), their family members and certain corporations, on the

other hand;



(€)

(d)

(e)
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At stake are hundreds of millions of dollars of dividends improperly withheld
by the Nephews, and involve allegations of money laundering, corporate

espionage, and bribery;

For the past 18 months, the Receiver has expended tremendous resources
to acquire and view data on Mr. Gutierrez’ personal iPad and personal
iPhone (the “Personal Devices”) and certain emails sent or received by Mr.
Guitierrez, including emails at email addresses unassociated with Xela (the

“‘ATS Server Emails”);

The Receiver has also brought a motion for a contempt order against Mr.
Gutierrez (the “Contempt Motion”) seeking, among other things, an order
that Mr. Gutierrez be imprisoned, which Contempt Motion has been extant

since February 9, 2021;

The Production Orders

(f)

On August 28, 2020, October 27, 2020 and March 25, 2021, the Honourable
Justice McEwen made a series of Orders (collectively the Production
Orders) requiring the Respondent — the president and sole shareholder of
Xela Enterprises Ltd. (“Xela” or the “Company”), which is in receivership —

to, among other things:

0] produce all of the data on the Personal Devices;

(i) permit the creation of forensic images of the Personal Devices (the

‘Images”);



(9)

(h)

(i)

()

(k)
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(i)  permit the data in the Images to be uploaded to an e-discovery
database program (“Relativity”) maintained by Kroll (then, a division

of Duff & Phelps), and later substituted with Epiq.

The Images of the Personal Devices have been created and reside on an
external hard disk drive (the “External Drive”) in Epiq’s possession, which

External Drive is locked with a passcode known only to Mr. Gutierrez.

The Production Orders also require Arturos Technical Services Ltd. (“ATS”)
— the non-party IT services provider — to produce all emails sent or received
by Mr. Guitierrez, including emails at email addresses unassociated with

Xela (the “ATS Server Emails”).

The Production Orders contemplate that Mr. Gutierrez conduct advance
review of the data on the Personal Devices on Relativity to assert any
objections to disclosure to the Receiver of any documents on Relativity
based on privilege, personal information, or any other reasonable basis (the

“Objections Protocol”).

The Production Orders did not provide for the ATS Server Emails to be
subject to the Objections Protocol, or any other protocol relating to Mr.

Gutierrez’ personal solicitor-client privileged communications;

As a result, Mr. Gutierrez asserted privilege over the ATS Server Emails
and insisted on a protocol to review the ATS Server Emails for privilege,

which the Receiver denied;
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()] On March 17, 2022, at a case conference, the Honourable Justice McEwen

ordered that:

0] Mr. Gutierrez provide the password to Epiq so that the Images could

be uploaded to Relativity subject to the Objections Protocol; and,

(i) The ATS Server Emails be delivered to Epiq to also be uploaded to

Relativity subject to the Objections Protocol;

Events Giving Rise to Heightened Concerns

(m) Between March 17, 2022 and March 23, 2022:

0] Mr. Gutierrez, his counsel, and his IT expert (“Teel”) attempted to
confer with Epiq to arrange for a safe, secure and appropriate
method to unlock the External Drive and upload the Images to

Relativity;

(i) ATS and its counsel conferred with Epiqg, the Receiver and its
counsel to arrange for a safe, secure and appropriate method to

transfer the ATS Server Emails to Epiq for upload to Relativity;

(n) On March 23, 2022, before Epiq had responded to Teel’s suggestion, and
before Mr. Gutierrez had a reasonable opportunity to consult with his
lawyers and Teel regarding the proposed method of transferring the ATS

Server Emails, the Receiver's counsel wrote to the Honourable Justice



(0)

(P)

(@)

185

-6-

McEwen reporting that both Mr. Gutierrez and ATS were not in compliance

with the Production Orders.

Also, between March 17, 2022 and March 23, 2022, Mr. Gutierrez learned
through social media reports that the Nephews were recently sanctioned by
the Panamanian Court as a result of certain criminal investigations arising
out of the Nephews activities indirectly related to these receivership

proceedings.

Mr. Gutierrez has serious and legitimate concerns regarding the safety and
security of the data on the Personal Devices and the ATS Server Emails
given prior incidents of data breaches and public disclosure of documents
that were utilized by the Nephews in other jurisdictions to support spurious

litigation against Mr. Gutierrez.

The Receiver's sudden reporting of non-compliance in the midst of bona
fide attempts to arrive at a reasonable, safe and secure method of
transferring the data to Epiq, shortly after the recent escalation of sanctions
against the Nephews in Panama, gives cause for Mr. Gutierrez to have
serious concerns about the risk of malfeasance and corporate espionage

as retaliatory actions by the Nephews.

These concerns are heightened by other actions taken by the Receiver in
the weeks leading up to March 23, 2022, including but not limited to, the
Receiver inexplicably publishing on its website the confidential banking

transaction information of a wire transfer in the amount of $4.24 million USD
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(the “Loan Proceeds”) intended to satisfy the Judgment and terminate
these Receivership proceedings, knowing that the Nephews have been

closely monitoring and participating in these Receivership proceedings.

March 25, 2022 Case Conference

(s)

(t)

(u)

As a result of the Receiver’s report that Mr. Gutierrez and ATS remained
non-compliant, the Honourable Justice McEwen (the “Case Conference
Judge”) ordered an urgent case conference, which was returnable on

March 25, 2022.

On March 25, 2022, Mr. Gutierrez advised the Case Conference Judge of
his concerns arising from recent events and requested a short suspension
of all obligations under the Productions Orders to permit Mr. Gutierrez to
bring a motion for an interim interlocutory injunction (the “Injunction
Motion”) to stay the enforcement of the Production Orders for a period of
60 days to allow the Loan Proceeds, sufficient to pay the Judgment and
approved receivership fees and expenses to clear through the international

SWIFT banking network.

On March 25, 2022, the Case Conference Judge denied the request for a
short suspension and instead ordered compliance with the Production
Orders by requiring Mr. Gutierrez to divulge the External Drive password to
an Epiq representative via video conference and requiring ATS to deliver
the ATS Server Emails by a secure file transfer protocol connection no later

than 5:00 p.m. on March 28, 2022 (the “Endorsement”).
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Leave to Appeal

(V)

()

v)

Mr. Gutierrez seeks leave to appeal the Endorsement on the question of

whether the Case Conference Judge erred:

() in failing to exercise his discretion to allow for a short suspension of
the Production Orders to permit Mr. Gutierrez to seek injunctive

relief;

(i) in ordering compliance with the Production Orders by a particular
date and time in the circumstances, particularly given the concerns
raised by Mr. Gutierrez regarding the Receiver’s conduct and the

intention to seek injunctive relief;

At the Case Conference, Mr. Gutierrez filed a draft Notice of Motion for

injunctive relief setting out specific the grounds on which relief was sought.

Notwithstanding, the Case Conference Judge refused to grant a short

suspension of the Production Orders and instead issued the Endorsement.

There appears to be good reason to doubt the correctness of the

Endorsement.

The proposed appeal involves matters relating to privilege, proportionality
and preservation of rights in litigation, and are of such importance that leave

to appeal should be granted.

Need for a Stay



(aa)

(bb)

(cc)

(dd)

(ee)

(ff)

188

-0-

If leave is granted, then a stay of the Endorsement and Production Orders
is necessary pending the appeal (and ultimately, pending the motion for
injunctive relief), as otherwise, the appeal will be rendered nugatory

because the data will have been released into the possession of Epiq.

There is a serious issue to be tried with respect to the correctness of the

Endorsement.

Mr. Gutierrez will suffer irreparable harm if a stay of the Endorsement and
Production Orders is not granted because highly confidential and personal
information of Mr. Gutierrez will be transferred to Epiq, with the knowledge
of the Nephews who have a history of malfeasance and corporate

espionage.

Conversely, the Receiver will not suffer any non-compensable prejudice if
it must wait a further period to access the data given that it has already

waited 18 months.

The balance of convenience, therefore, favours the granting of an interim
stay of the Endorsement and Productions Orders to the extent that no data
shall be required to be provided to Epiq or uploaded to Relativity pending

the appeal of the Endorsement.

Sections 19 and 101 of the Courts of Justice Act, RSO 1990, ¢ C.43, as

amended.
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(gg) Rules 62.02 and 63.02 of the Rules of Civil Procedure, RRO 1990, Reg 194,

as amended.

(hh)  Such further and other grounds as the lawyers may advise.

THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE will be used at the hearing of the

Motion:

(@) The Endorsement of the Honourable Justice McEwen dated March 25,

2022;

(b)  The Affidavit of Juan Guillermo Gutierrez, and,

(c) Such further and other evidence as the lawyers may advise and this

Honourable Court may permit.

March 30, 2022 CAMBRIDGE LLP
333 Adelaide Street West
4th Floor
Toronto, Ontario
M5V 1R5

Christopher MacLeod (LSO# 45723M)
Tel: 647.346.6696 (Direct Line)
cmacleod@cambridgellp.com

N. Joan Kasozi (LSO# 70332Q)

jkasozi@cambridgellp.com

Tel: 416.477.7007
Fax: 289.812.7385

Lawyers for the Respondent
Juan Guillermo Gutierrez
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3400 One First Canadian Place
P.O. Box 130

Toronto, ON M5X 1A4

Jeffrey S. Leon

Email: leonj@bennettjones.com
Sean Zweig

Email: zweigs@bennettjones.com

William A. Bortolin
Email: bortolinw@bennettjones.com

Tel: (416) 361-3319
Fax: (416) 361-1530

Counsel for Margarita Castillo

STEWART MCKELVEY

Suite 900, Purdy's Wharf Tower One
1959 Upper Water St.

PO Box 997, Stn. Central

Halifax, Nova Scotia B3J 2X2

Jason Woycheshyn
Email: jwoycheshyn@stewartmckelvey.com

Tel: (902) 420-3200
Fax: (902) 420-1417

Co-Counsel for Margarita Castillo
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SMITH GRIFFIN LLP

Barristers

Suite 2600 130 Adelaide Street West
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Peter H. Griffin (19527Q)
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Derek Knoke (75555E)
Tel: (416) 865-3018

Fax: (416) 865-2876
Email: dknoke@litigate.com

Lawyers for the Receiver/Responding Party

WEIRFOULDS LLP
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Philip Cho (LSO # 45615U)
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Michael C. Ly (LSO # 74673C)
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Fax: 416-365-1876

Lawyers for Arturo’s Technical Services Inc
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AND TO: AIRD & BERLIS LLP
Brookfield Place
181 Bay Street, Suite 1800
Toronto, ON M5J 2T9

Kyle Plunkett
Email: kplunkett@airdberlis.com

Sam Babe
Email: shabe@airdberlis.com

Tel: (416) 863-1500
Fax: (416) 863-1515

Lawyers for the Receiver
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STIKEMAN ELLIOTT LLP
Suite 5300

Commerce Court West
199 Bay Street

Toronto, ON M5L 1B9

Katherine Kay
Email: KKay@stikeman.com

Aaron Kreaden
Email: AKreaden@stikeman.com

Tel: (416) 869-5507
Fax: (416) 618-5537

Lawyers for the Avicola Group and each of
Juan Luis Bosch Gutierrez, Felipe Antonio
Bosch Gutierrez, Dionisio Gutierrez
Mayorga, and Juan Jose Gutierrez
Moyorga


mailto:bhg@15bedford.com
mailto:Diane.Winters@justice.gc.ca
mailto:KKay@stikeman.com
mailto:AKreaden@stikeman.com

194

ZalJanno owla||ing uenp
1uspuodsay ayl 1o} siakmen]

G8ELCIB'68C Xed
L00L°LLYV 9Ty ‘el

wo d|jebpugques@izose|

(Ozee0. #0S1) 1zosey ueor "N
9699°9v€°LV9 |1
wo d|[abpugueds @ poajoewd

(NEZ.LSY #0ST) poaoei Jaydoisliyd

GdT ASIN

olrejuQ ‘ojuolo|

100|4 Yy

1SS\ 19311S aple|apy €EE
d11 39dId4dINVO

1V3ddV Ol 3AV3T 404 NOILOW 40 30I11ON

O1NOdOL
1V A3ON3ININOD ONIA33O0dd

1d4N0J TVNOISIAIA
3011SNC 40 1dNOD J0Id3dNS
OldV.LNO

1000-2906-TT-AD ‘ON 3|4 UnoD
22Z/68T "Ou 3|I} LUN0D [RUOISIAIQ
Sjuapuodsay el ddy
‘e18 "All1S3ASIHddYILINT V13IX  -pue- OTIILSVO VL1IdVOdVIN



195

Court File No. CV-11-9062-00CL

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
(COMMERCIAL LIST)

BETWEEN:

MARGARITA CASTILLO
Plaintiff

and
XELA ENTERPRISE LTD., JUAN GUILLERMO GUTIERREZ, JUAN
GUILLERMO GUTIERREZ, TROPIC INTERNATIONAL LIMITED, FRESH
QUEST INC., 696096 ALBERTA LTD. and CARMEN S. GUTIERREZ,

Executor of the Estate of Juan Arturo Gutierrez
Defendants

AFFIDAVIT OF GRACE TSAKAS

I, Grace Tsakas, of the City of Richmond Hill, in the Regional Municipality of York,

MAKE OATH AND SAY:

1. I am a law clerk with the law firm of Lenczner Slaght LLP, lawyers for KSV Restructuring
Inc. (“KSV?”), the Court-appointed receiver and manager (in such capacity, the “Receiver”),
without security, of all the property, assets, and undertakings of Xela Enterprises Ltd. (“Xela”),

and, as such, have knowledge of the matters contained in this Affidavit.

2. On July 25, 2017, Juan Guillermo Gutierrez attended an Examination in Aid of Execution.

Attached hereto and marked as Exhibit “A” are excerpts from the transcript of the examination.

3. On August 30, 2018, Mr. Gutierrez attended a continued Examination in Aid of Execution

Attached hereto and marked as Exhibit “B” are excerpts from the transcript of the examination.
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18. On March 31, 2022, Mr. Gutierrez brought a motion in the Divisional Court for leave to
appeal the March 25, 2022 Order. Attached hereto and marked as Exhibit “K” is a copy of Mr.

Gutierrez’s notice of motion.

19. On April 13, 2022, counsel for Mr. Gutierrez wrote to counsel for the Receiver regarding
the review of Xela’s documents. Attached hereto and marked as Exhibit “L” is a copy of counsel’s

email.

20. I am advised by Mr. Knoke, counsel to the Receiver, and verily believe that, on April 29,
2022, Mr. Gutierrez abandoned his motion in the Divisional Court for leave to appeal the March

25,2022 Order.

21. I am advised by Mr. Knoke, and verily believe that, on August 30, 2022, Mr. Gutierrez
provided the passwords to his devices, pursuant to the March 25, 2021 Order of McEwen J. and

the March 25, 2022 Order of McEwen J.

22. On September 12, 2022, Mr. Gutierrez delivered his notice of motion to replace the
Receiver (the “Recusal Motion™). Attached hereto and marked as Exhibit “M” is a copy of Mr.

Gutierrez’s September 12, 2022 notice of motion.

23. On November 15, 2022, I conducted real property searches in all counties in Ontario to see
if Mr. Gutierrez owns any real property in Ontario. Attached hereto and marked as Exhibit “N”
is a report of the searches conducted, confirming no direct hits in any counties in Ontario with the
exception of Toronto and Parry Sound, which counties have inactive parcel registers in Mr.

Gutierrez’ name. Attached as Exhibit “O” are copies of the active parcel registers for the Toronto
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Court File No. CV-11-9062-00CL

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
COMMERCIAL LIST

BETWEEN:

MARGARITA CASTILLO
Applicant

and
XELA ENTERPRISES LTD., TROPIC INTERNATIONAL LIMITED, FRESH
QUEST, INC., 696096 ALBERTA LTD., JUAN GUILLERMO GUTIERREZ
and CARMEN S. GUTIERREZ, as Executor of the Estate of Juan Arturo

Gutierrez
Respondents

NOTICE OF CROSS-MOTION

The Respondent Juan Guillermo Gutierrez (“Mr. Gutierrez”), will make a Motion to the

Honourable Justice McEwen presiding over the Commercial List on at 10:00

a.m., or as soon after that time as the Motion can be heard.

PROPOSED METHOD OF HEARING: The Motion is to be heard

[] In writing under subrule 37.12.1(1) because it is

[insert on consent, unopposed or made without notice];

[1] In writing as an opposed motion under subrule 37.12.1(4);

[1] In person;

[1] By telephone conference;

15707325.1
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[ X] By video conference.

at the following location:

330 University Avenue, Toronto, Ontario

THE MOTION IS FOR:

a) An Order varying the Order dated July 3, 2019 (the “Appointment Order”) substituting

KSV Restructuring Inc. (“KSV”) as receiver, with a Receiver to be determined;

b) an Order directing KSV in its capacity as court-appointed receiver (the “Receiver”) of
the assets, undertakings and properties of Xela Enterprises Inc. (the “Company”) to return, or
direct its agents to return, to Arturo’s Technical Services (“ATS”) the hard-drive images (i.e.,
copies) of the Xela servers previous provided to KSV’s agents, and ordering that no person other
than ATS may access the data thereon, until further Order after the conclusion of BDT’s Motion

for Full or Partial Discharge of the Receiver (the “BDT Motion”);

c) an Order that no person, including without limitation, the Receiver and/or its agents, shall
access the data contained on hard-drive images of Mr. Gutierrez’s personal electronic devices until

further Order after the conclusion of the BDT Motion;

d) an Order directing Duff & Phelps (“D&P”) to provide Mr. Gutierrez with copies of the

hard-drive images of his personal electronic devices;

e) an Order suspending the deadlines set out in the Court’s Order dated October 27, 2020,

until further Order after the conclusion of the BDT Motion;

15707325.1
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f) an Order compelling the Receiver to substitute D&P with a new IT consultant, to be named

on or before the return of this Motion;

2) an Order compelling KSV to disclose to Mr. Gutierrez: (a) particulars in respect of the
funds received for the conduct of this receivership, including sources, dates and amounts; (b)
copies of all communications between the KSV and/or its counsel, on the one hand, and the

“Cousins” and/or their counsel, on the other hand; and

h) such further and other Relief as to this Honourable Court may seem just.

THE GROUNDS FOR THE MOTION ARE:

1) KSV’s conduct in the receivership has been such that it has become, as a practical matter,
impossible under KSV’s authority to achieve the objective of the receivership, which is to satisfy

the judgment of Margarita Castillo (the “Castillo Judgment”);

1) KSV’s conduct throughout the course of the receivership has been antagonistic and hostile

toward Mr. Gutierrez;

k) Contrary to what KSV has both asserted and implied — Mr. Gutierrez has fully cooperated

with the Receiver;

1) The only reasonable source of monies to satisfy the Castillo Judgment is litigation in
Panama (the “Panama Litigation™) to collect tens of millions of U.S. dollars in unpaid dividends
owed to LISA, S.A., a Panama corporation and an indirect subsidiary of Xela (“LISA”), by

Villamorey, S.A., a Panama corporation (“Villamorey”), in which LISA holds a 1/3 stake;

15707325.1
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m) The Panama Litigation is being prosecuted by BDT Investments Inc., a Barbados
corporation (“BDT”), which owns the rights to collect LISA’s unpaid dividends by virtue of a
settlement agreement that resolves substantial unpaid debt previously owed by LISA to BDT,

dating to 2005;

n) The Panama Litigation includes an order requiring Villamorey to pay all of LISA’s unpaid
dividends, regardless of where in the world they may be held, and that said order is full and final,

and in its collection phase;

0) The Panama Litigation includes a separate action by LISA for damages against Villamorey,
including damages stemming from non-payment of dividends, and a default judgment has been

entered in LISA’s favor in those proceedings;

P) Villamorey’s corporate agent in Panama has admitted to Panamanian prosecutors that
Villamorey maintains its official books and records in Guatemala, not in Panama as required by

Panama law;

q) Villamorey and its majority shareholders are under criminal investigation in Panama in
connection with Villamorey’s non-payment of dividends owed to LISA and their failure to

maintain accurate financial records with its corporate agent in Panama;

r) In the 18 months since its appointment, the Receiver has taken no meaningful steps to
pursue the Panama Litigation, or to secure a commitment from BDT regarding the proceeds of the

Panama Litigation;

S) LISA secured a loan commitment in December 2019 sufficient to satisfy the Castillo

Judgement in its entirety, along with all receivership expenses;

15707325.1
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t) LISA informed the Receiver in December 2019 about the loan commitment, and requested
a payout amount from the Receiver;

u) Upon learning of the LISA loan commitment that would have resulted in a discharge of the

receivership, the Receiver improperly inserted itself into the loan transaction by attempting to
reconstitute LISA’s board of directors in Panama without taking any steps to cause the Order dated

July 3, 2019 (the “Appointment Order”) to be recognized in Panama;

V) the Receiver retained counsel in Panama, without seeking any recognition orders, and
instructed it to file documents with the Panama Public Registry to the effect that LISA’s board of
directors had been properly reconstituted in accordance with Panama law, which was false and

misleading;

W) the Receiver instructed its counsel in Panama to file documents with the Panama Public
Registry without first giving its agents a proper power of attorney signed by a person duly

authorized and recognized by the Panama courts;

X) Conduct by the Receiver’s agents in Panama has been reported to the criminal authorities

in Panama by LISA,

y) the Receiver has demanded that LISA’s president withdraw LISA’s criminal complaint
against KSV’s agents in Panama, which itself calls for LISA to commit a criminal act in Panama
in that LISA is under a legal duty to report criminal activity that bears on the administration of

governmental matters in Panama;

Z) The conduct of the Receiver’s agents in Panama resulted in a refusal by the Panama Public

Registry to certify that LISA’s board of directors had been reconstituted;

15707325.1
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aa)  When the Receiver learned that its agents in Panama had not succeeded in taking control
of LISA’s board of directors, the Receiver attempted to secure the same outcome by conditioning
meetings with Mr. Gutierrez — which Mr. Gutierrez had been requesting — upon LISA’s voluntary
accession to the Receiver’s demands, despite the fact that Mr. Gutierrez was divested of authority

to act on Xela’s behalf by virtue of the receivership;

bb)  After failing to reconstitute LISA’s board, the Receiver brought a motion for contempt
against Mr. Gutierrez for ostensible failure to cooperate with the Receiver, erroneously implying
that the Receiver’s conduct had been proper and/or that Mr. Gutierrez had improperly instructed

LISA not to accede to the Receiver’s demands regarding the LISA board,;

cc)  Theso-called “reviewable transactions” under investigation by the Receiver for the past 18
months have yielding nothing of value and have little promise of leading to collection of any funds
that could satisfy the Castillo Judgment, yet those investigations have generated legal and other

professional fees of approximately $1 million, which presumably will be charged to Xela;

dd)  None of the Receiver’s reports to this Court contain any mention of the [status of?] Panama

Litigation;

ee)  the Receiver’s reports to this Court contain numerous inaccuracies and are incomplete, and

the Receiver has failed to correct its reports after being informed of their flaws via sworn affidavits;

ff) the Receiver’s investigative strategy in the receivership is consistent with the strategy of
the majority shareholders of Villamorey (the “Cousins”) to deplete LISA’s resources in order to

avoid ever paying the dividends rightfully owed to LISA,;

15707325.1
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gg)  the Receiver has taken no interest in the loan transaction given to Ms. Castillo by a
Guatemala Bank friendly to the Cousins (the “GT Loan”), which appears to have been secured
by LISA unpaid dividends and repaid by foreclosure of the collateral rather than repayment by Ms.

Castillo, such that, if true, the Castillo Judgment has long since been satisfied;

hh)  the Receiver has never requested a copy of the GT Loan documents from Ms. Castillo,
despite repeated requests by Mr. Gutierrez, nor has it mentioned the GT Loan in its reports to this

Court;

i) The Receiver has taken no steps to collect against a promissory note signed by Ms.
Castillo’s husband, Roberto Castillo, [who is an Ontario resident,?] in favor of Xela, nor has it

mentioned said promissory note in its reports to this Court;

i) The Receiver has taken no steps to pursue the pending litigation by Xela in Toronto,
alleging damages caused by Ms. Castillo, who is an Ontario resident, in an amount that would
more than offset the Castillo Judgment, nor has it mentioned said pending litigation in its reports

to this Court;

kk)  the Receiver’s investigation into the so-called “reviewable transactions” includes recent
discovery requests targeting computer servers previously owned by Xela, currently maintained by
Arturos Technical Services (“ATS”), which contain emails and other sensitive data that would be
useful to the Cousins in their improper efforts to avoid payment of dividends owed to LISA, both

in Panama and in Guatemala;

1) the Receiver’s investigation into the so-called “reviewable transactions” also includes

recent discovery requests to review Mr. Gutierrez’s personal electronic devices for potential

15707325.1
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documents belonging to Xela — to which Mr. Gutierrez consented in an effort to cooperate with
the Receiver — but which necessarily implicates potential exposure of personal, privileged and/or
non-Xela documents to which the Receiver is not entitled, and which are sensitive and potentially

useful to the Cousins;

mm) the Receiver engaged Duff & Phelps (“D&P”) to copy (i.e., “image”) and to supervise the
review of Mr. Gutierrez’s personal devices, as well as the Xela servers now owned by ATS,

without disclosing that the work would actually be performed by Kroll, a subsidiary of D&P;

nn) A conflict of interest exists in that Kroll has a long history of working for the Cousins,
including conducting investigative surveillance of Mr. Gutierrez and his family, including his

children;

00)  the Receiver failed to disclose the relationship between D&P and Kroll;

pp)  All data on Xela’s computer servers was previously stolen by a former Xela employee and
provided to the Cousins, who improperly used some of the stolen documents to attempt to exclude
LISA from Villamorey and from the related poultry group in Guatemala in which LISA also holds

a 1/3 stake (the “Avicolas”);

qq)  Prior to the discovery of D&P’s relationship with Kroll, ATS provided Xela’s servers to
Kroll for imaging without any security measures that would prevent Kroll from reviewing or
copying the data, despite the fact that neither Kroll nor D&P nor any other person is entitled to

access the data at this stage;

IT) Mr. Gutierrez provided images of his personal electronic devices to Kroll on a locked hard

drive to which Kroll does not have the passcode;

15707325.1
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ss) Mr. Gutierrez has requested duplicates of the images of his personal devices from the

Receiver in order to conduct his preliminary review pursuant to the Order dated October 27, 2020

without exposing the data to Kroll, which is not entitled to review the data at this stage;

tt) The Receiver has refused Mr. Gutierrez’s request for duplicates of the images of his own

personal devices;

uu) Aside from an emergency trip to Guatemala beginning on October 26, 2020 — forced by
unexpected cancer surgery and resulting complications with his mother-in-law, who subsequently
passed away as a consequence, Mr. Gutierrez has complied with the requirements of the Court’s

Order dated October 27, 2020;

vv)  The data contained on Mr. Gutierrez’s personal devices and on the Xela servers maintained
by ATS is extensive and requires substantial review and translation prior to any analysis by the

Court concerning its discoverability by the Receiver;

ww) The BDT Motion would moot the need for any further investigation by the Receiver into
the so-called “reviewable transactions” or any other transaction, including without limitation any

pending discovery sought by the Receiver; and

xx)  Mr. Gutierrez’s counsel has requested on multiple occasions copies of all communications
between the Receiver and/or its counsel, on the one hand, and the Cousins and/or their counsel, on

the other hand;

yy)  the Receiver’s counsel has not denied that the Receiver has been communicating with the
Cousins, but instead flatly refused to acknowledge any duty to disclose communications or provide

copies.

15707325.1
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THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE will be used at the hearing of the Motion:

(@) Affidavit of Juan Guillermo Gutierrez to be sworn

(b) Such further and other evidence as the lawyers may advise and this Honourable

Court may permit.

January 18, 2021 CAMBRIDGE LLP
333 Adelaide Street West
4th Floor
Toronto, Ontario
M5V 1R5

Christopher MacLeod (LSO# 45723M)
Tel: 647.346.6696 (Direct Line)
cmacleod@cambridgellp.com

N. Joan Kasozi (LSO# 70332Q)

jkasozi@cambridgellp.com

Tel:  416.477.7007
Fax: 289.812.7385

Lawyers for the Respondent
Juan Guillermo Gutierrez

15707325.1
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AND TO:

15707325.1

BENNETT JONES LLP
Barristers and Solicitors

1 First Canadian Place
Suite 3400

P.O. Box 130

Toronto, Ontario

M5X 1A4

Jason Woycheshyn

woycheshynJ@bennettjones.com

Sean Zweig
ZweigS@bennettjones.com

Jeffrey Leon

LeonJ@bennettjones.com

William Bortolin
bortolinw@bennettjones.com

Tel:  416.863.1200
Fax: 416.863.1716

Lawyers for the Applicant
Margarita Castillo
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LENCZNER SLAGHT ROYCE SMITH GRIFFIN LLP

2600 -130 Adelaide Street West

Toronto, Ontario
M5H 3P5

Derek Knoke (LSO 75555E)

jknoke@litigate.com

Monique Jilesen (LSO 43092W)

mjilesen@litigate.com

Lawyers for the Receiver
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WEIRFOULDS LLP

Barristers & Solicitors

66 Wellington Street West, Suite 4100
Toronto-Dominion Centre, P.O. Box 35
Toronto, ON M5K 1B7

Philip Cho (LSO # 45615U)

Tel:  416-365-1110
Fax: 416-365-1876

Lawyers for BDT Investments Inc. and
Arturo’s Technical Services Inc.
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COURT FILE NO.:

CV-11-00009062-00CL

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

COUNSEL SLIP

TITLE OF PROCEEDING:
BEFORE JUSTICE: MCEWEN

CASTILLO V XELA et al

DATE: 22 July 2022

NO.ONLIST: 03

PARTICIPANT INFORMATION

For Plaintiff, Applicant, Moving Party, Crown:

Name of Person Appearing

Name of Party

Contact Info

Monique Jilesen

KSV the Receiver

mjilesen@litigate.com

Derek Knoke

dknoke@litigate.com

Carl O’Shea

carl.oshea@hatstone.com

Alvaro Almengor

alvaro.almengor@hatstone.com

For Defendant, Respondent, Responding Party, Defence:

Name of Person Appearing Name of Party Contact Info
For Other, Self-Represented:
Name of Person Appearing Name of Party Contact Info

Joan Kasozi
Chris MacLeod
Brian Greenspan

Juan Gutierrez

jkasozi@cambridgellp.com

cmacleod@cambridgellp.com
BHG@15bedford.com

Aaron Kreaden

Avicola Group

akreaden@stikeman.com

Michael Ly
Philip Cho

Arturo’s Technical

mly@weirfoulds.com
pcho@weirfoulds.com
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COUNSEL SLIP

COURT FILE NO. CV-11-9062-CL DATE: Thursday, November 24, 2022

THE HONOURABLE: MISTER JUSTICE MCEWEN No. ON LIST: _10am

COURTROOM: 330 UA

TITLE OF PROCEEDING

CASTILLO v XELA ENTERPRISES LTD et al

RESPONDENT COUNSEL: Chris Macleod RESPONDENT COUNSEL: N. Joan Kasozi
Email: cmacleod@cambridgellp.com Email: jkasozi@cambridgellp.com

RECEIVER COUNSEL: Monique Jilesen RECEIVER COUNSEL: Derek Knoke
Email: mjilesen@litigate.com Email: dknoke@litigate.com

COUNSEL: Brendan Peters
Email: bpeters@stewartmeckelvey.com
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COURT FILE NO.: CV-11-9062-0CL
DATE: December 1, 2022
ONTARIO

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
COMMERCIAL LIST

RE: Margarita Castillo, Plaintiff

AND:

Xela Enterprises Ltd., Tropic International Limited, Fresh Quest, Inc., 696096
Alberta Ltd., Juan Guillermo Gutierrez and Carmen S. Gutierrez, as Executor of
the Estate of Juan Arturo Gutierrez, Defendants

BEFORE: The Honourable Justice Thomas J. McEwen

COUNSEL: (see Counsel Slip)

ENDORSEMENT

1] KSV Restructuring Inc., as the receiver and manager (the “Receiver”) of Xela Enterprises Ltd.
g g p
(“Xela”) brings this motion seeking security for costs from Juan Guillermo Gutierrez
(“Gutierrez”) with respect to Gutierrez’s motion to replace the Receiver.

[2] The Receiver seeks security for costs in the amount of $150,000.00.

[3] I have been managing this action for some time and have released several endorsements to
date. The facts are well-known to all parties, and the Receiver, and need not be repeated in
detail.

[4] Of import with respect to my analysis of this motion is the following:

e The Receiver is not a party in the action and thus is not directly pursuing any claims.

e This motion is being brought with respect to a motion not a proceeding.
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e Gutierrez has not delivered any affidavit evidence with respect to the issues on this motion.
He relies upon the affidavits of his lawyer’s law clerk and David Bell, a digital forensic
investigator who provides evidence with respect to the Receiver’s handling of Gutierrez’s
personal data, which Gutierrez alleges has been mishandled.

e The Notice of Motion served by Gutierrez does not make any mention of the above
complaint.

e Justice Conway recently found Gutierrez liable in civil contempt — by swearing a
Declaration to support a Criminal Complaint made against the Hatstone directors in
Panama. The Hatstone directors were appointed by the Receiver (the decision is under

appeal).

e Based on evidence filed by the Receiver at the motion the Prosecutor in Panama has closed
its case against the Hatstone directors on the basis that “the facts complained are not
considered the crime of falsehood accused.”

[5] I will now turn to the issues raised on this motion.

[6] (1) Gutierrez submits that the Receiver cannot bring this motion pursuant to Rule 56.01(1)
since it is not a party with a claim.

[7] I disagree.

[8] Although the Rule does speak of parties with claims, s. 101 of the Courts of Justice Act
provides this Court with jurisdiction to grant receivers orders where it is just or convenient to
do so. Further, Rule 56.01(2) expands the provisions of Subrule (1).

[9] A purposeful reading of s. 101 and Rule 56.01 provides this Court with the necessary
jurisdiction (and for that matter Rule 1.04(1)).

[10] I note that Gutierrez also argued at the motion that the Receiver cannot bring this motion
against him as he has no claim in the action.

[11]  Again, based on the above I disagree.

[12]  Further, if Gutierrez is correct, this would result in a situation where a Court officer (here
the Receiver) could face any number of spurious motions brought directly against it and have
no recourse to ask for security for costs. Also, since the Receivership is funded by the
Applicant such motion will deplete the estate as the Applicant indirectly funds the motions
brought by the Receiver. Surely this cannot be the case and is neither fair nor just.!

! This conclusion is generally supported by the OCA in Kramer Henderson Sidlofsky LLP v. Monteiro, 98 OR (3d)
286 at paras. 15, 18, 22 and 23.
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[13] Last, on this issue, [ accept the Receiver’s submission that a security for costs motion can
be brought with respect to a pending motion and is not restricted to a proceeding.

[14]  This premise accords with common sense and has been accepted clearly by the OCA: see
Di Paola, Re, 2006 CanLI1 37117 (ON CA) at para 12.

[15] Having determined that I have jurisdiction and the Receiver is entitled to bring the motion
I now turn to the other issues raised on this motion.

[16] (2) Gutierrez submits that since his unpaid costs relate to Justice Newbould’s order
concerning the Applicant ($889,858.21) and not the Receiver, the provisions of Rule
56.01(1)(c) do not apply.

[17] Again I disagree. A purposeful reading of the above OCA jurisprudence and s. 101 of the
CJA lead to a conclusion that the Receiver ought to be able to rule on subrule (1)(c). Gutierrez
is a judgment debtor to the Applicant who is funding this receivership. He ought not be able
to bring this motion, in these circumstances, without paying security for costs.

[18] (3) The Receiver also brings this motion pursuant to Rule 56.01(1)(e) submitting that there
is good reason to believe that the motion is frivolous and vexatious and Gutierrez has
insufficient assets to pay the costs of the motion.

[19] Gutierrez in his notice of motion makes a number of allegations, but again to date has not
delivered any supporting affidavit.

[20]  Generally, to date the Receiver has not been the subject of any negative judicial comment,
unlike Gutierrez who has been found in contempt. The Receiver has not been unsuccessful at
any motion.

[21]  Further, in a number of my previous endorsements I have commented that many of the
complaints Gutierrez has raised have been litigated and/or unsupported by evidence.

[22] Specifically, in my March 25/01 Endorsement I noted that the Receiver had been acting in
a neutral fashion to that point in time.

[23] With respect to Gutierrez’s most significant complaints I note:

e The criminal complaints in Panama, as noted, have ceased and Gutierrez was found in
contempt for his participation.

e Again, there is no motion in the notice of motion of complaints concerning computer
security and Mr. Bell’s affidavit was served 2 days before this motion.

e [ have previously rejected Gutierrez’s complaints about the involvement of “the Cousins”
and the Receiver’s alleged interference with secured funding due to lack of evidence.
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[24] Overall, based on the above, I accept that the Receiver has demonstrated that “it appears”
that the motion is frivolous and vexatious and “suggests a tentative conclusion of absence of
merit”: McArthur v Neumann 2020 ONSC 66 at para 17&18.

[25] In this regard I note that Gutierrez seeks to have the Receiver replaced with someone on
his choosing.

[26] Last, in considering the test I need to determine whether Gutierrez has sufficient assets in
Ontario to pay the Receiver’s costs. I agree with the Receiver that there is good reason to
believe Gutierrez has insufficient assets in Ontario for the reasons set out in para 37 of the
Receiver’s factum.

[27] Gutierrez claims in his factum that he is impecunious. He has not, however, as noted,
delivered any evidence on this motion to support this assertion. Further, according to the Bill
Costs [sic] filed at his contempt hearing he has paid Mr. Greenspan $150,000.00 between April
- September 2022. He continues to be represented by two sets of counsel. Also, it appears
from Gutierrez’s litigation conduct to date and moving forward with his motion, that he has
not been deterred by legal costs.

[28] I am also satisfied, based on the above, that this motion is not being used as a litigation
tactic to prevent the motion from being heard on its merits.

[29] (4) Gutierrez also submits that this motion ought to be dismissed since the Receiver
delayed in bringing this motion.

[30] This argument has no merit. The motion to replace the Receiver and this motion were
scheduled at the same time. Since then, Gutierrez has been found in contempt.

[31] The fact that the Notice of Motion was served approximately one year ago is immaterial as
I only agreed to schedule it and this motion in the fall of this year.

[32] (5) Insofar as quantum is concerned I agreed with Gutierrez that the amount sought is high.
Having reviewed the notice of motion and the steps likely required up to and including the
motion, I am satisfied that $100,000.00 is fair and reasonable on a partial indemnity basis after
reviewing the Receiver’s draft Bill of Costs.

[33] Based upon foregoing I therefore order that security for costs be paid in the amount of
$100,000.00. This includes some costs vis a vis the Receiver, as per my July 2021 decision
where I allowed these costs pursuant to s. 131(1) of the CJA on the basis that stakeholders
ought not be saddled with costs they ought not have to incur.

[34] Insofar as costs of this motion are concerned I have reviewed the parties’ draft Bills of
Costs. Since the Receiver was successful it ought to receive its costs on a partial indemnity
basis in the amount of $30,092.10 inclusive as claimed. This amount is fair and reasonable.

McEwen J.

(see over)



231

Addendum

[35] Since preparing this endorsement have concluded that, given my findings concerning Rule
56.01(1)(e), it would be appropriate to have another judge on the Commercial List hear the
motion to replace the Receiver.

McEwen J.
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Court File No. CV-11-9062-00CL

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

COMMERCIAL LIST

THE HONOURABLE ) FRIDAY, THE 28™
)

JUSTICE MCEWEN ) DAY OF AUGUST, 2020
BETWEEN:
(Court Seal)

MARGARITA CASTILLO

Applicant
and

XELA ENTERPRISES LTD., TROPIC INTERNATIONAL LIMITED, FRESH
QUEST INC., 696096 ALBERTA LTD., JUAN GUILLERMO GUTIERREZ and
CARMEN S. GUTIERREZ, Executor of the Estate of Juan Arturo Gutierrez

Respondents

AND IN THE MATTER OF THE RECEIVERSHIP OF XELA ENTERPRISES
LTD.

ORDER

THIS MOTION, made by KSV Kofman Inc. (“KSV”), in its capacity as the Court-
appointed receiver and manager (in such capacity, the “Receiver”), without security, of the assets,
undertakings and property of Xela Enterprises Ltd. (the “Company’’) was heard virtually this day
via the Zoom videoconferencing platform by judicial videoconference at Toronto, Ontario due to

the COVID-19 crisis.
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ON READING the material filed by the parties, including, but not limited to, the Motion
Record of the Receiver and the Responding Motion Record of Cambridge LLP, and on hearing the
submissions of the lawyers for the Receiver and such other counsel as were present and listed on

the Counsel Slip.

SERVICE

1. THIS COURT ORDERS AND DECLARES that the time for service of this Motion and
the Motion Record herein are properly returnable today and hereby dispenses with further service

thereof.

THE COMPANY’S DOCUMENTS and DEVICES

2. THIS COURT ORDERS that Juan Guillermo Gutierrez (“Juan Guillermo”) shall
provide the Receiver forthwith and no later than within 7 days of this Order, the municipal address,
business name and all contact information related to any storage unit or other premises previously
or currently used by the Company to store documents, electronic devices or data including but not
limited to the location of the Company’s current and former servers including any server hosting

Juan Guillermo’s xela.com email address (the “Premises”).

3. THIS COURT ORDERS THAT Juan Guillermo and any current or former officers,
directors, servants, agents, employees of the Company (“Company Agents”) and any person
appearing to be in charge of the Premises shall forthwith permit entry into the Premises to the
Receiver, its counsel, the Receiver’s agent, or anyone so authorized by the Receiver (“Authorized
Persons”) for the purposes of searching for, identifying, inspecting, preserving, reproducing, and
removing into the custody of the Receiver any and all Company documents, items, devices,

computers, servers, iPads, Tablets, magnetic tapes or disks, DVDs, CDs, USB devices, cell phones,
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or any other electronic storage or media device, including cloud-based storage belonging to the

Company and any component of any of the foregoing (“Company Documents and Devices”).

4. THIS COURT ORDERS that Arturo’s Technical Services its officers, directors, servants,
agents, employees, and anyone else acting on its behalf (“ATS”) and any person(s) appearing to
be in charge of the premises known municipally as 3-100 Leek Crescent, Richmond Hill, ON
L4B3E6 (the “Old Server Premises”) shall, upon five days’ notice from any Authorized Person,
permit entry or re-entry into the Old Server Premises to the Authorized Persons for the purposes
of searching for, identifying, inspecting, preserving, reproducing, and removing into the custody

of the Receiver the Company Documents and Devices.

5. THIS COURT ORDERS that forthwith upon service of the Order, Juan Guillermo, any
Company Agents and any other person(s) upon whom the Order is served, shall forthwith disclose
to the Receiver and grant access and deliver up to the Receiver or any Authorized Persons any and
all Company Documents and Devices wherever situate including without limitation any on-line
internet or cloud based e-mail or other accounts or remotely accessed computers where information
related to the Company may be stored, provide all means of accessing these documents, accounts
or devices and allow the Receiver or such Authorized Persons to change the access to these
accounts to allow the Receiver an adequate opportunity to secure the information contained on

these accounts or computers.

6. THIS COURT ORDERS AND DECLARES that the Receiver is authorized to obtain
from anyone in possession or control of the Premises or Old Server Premises, with entry and exit
records, dating back to July 5, 2019, with respect to the storage unit(s) rented and/or occupied by

the Company, Juan Guillermo Gutierrez, Company Agents, or anyone acting on their behalf.
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7. THIS COURT ORDERS AND DECLARES that Receiver is authorized to retain a
forensic specialist, who shall be an Authorized Person under this order. The Forensic Specialist
shall be entitled to take an image of the data on the Company Documents and Devices. The
Forensic Specialist shall be permitted to conduct such forensic examinations of Company

Documents and Devices as directed by the Receiver.

8. THIS COURT ORDERS AND DECLARES that Juan Guillermo, the Company Agents,
ATS and anyone else acting on their behalf, and any person(s) appearing to be in charge of the
Premises or Old Server Premises shall allow the Authorized Persons to remain on the Premises or

Old Server Premises to exercise their rights and discharge their duties as set out in this Order.

OBLIGATIONS OF PERSONS ON NOTICE OF ORDER

9. THIS COURT ORDERS AND DECLARES that upon notice of this Order, unless
otherwise ordered by this Court or directed by the Receiver, no person shall, directly or indirectly,

by any means whatsoever:

(a) Remove, destroy, erase, delete alter, deface, discard, conceal, or destroy, in any

manner, any Company Documents or Devices; and

(b) Touch, activate, or operate any of the Company Documents and Devices either
locally or remotely from any location, or access or alter any text, graphics,
electronic data, information, or other content of any web site or its databases or any
electronic mail, newsgroup or Internet relay chat communications, or other
information, instructions or data stored in any location remote from the Premises

that may contain or constitute the Company’s information.
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10. THIS COURT ORDERS AND DECLARES that, in order to give effect to the Order,
any person who is ordered not to do something shall not do it personally, through others acting on
his/her behalf, or on his/her instructions, or with his/her encouragement or acquiescence, or in any

other way.

11. THIS COURT ORDERS that Juan Guillermo, the Company Agents, ATS, and anyone
else acting on their behalf shall forthwith render any necessary assistance to the Receiver and

Authorized Persons to enable them to effectively carry out their responsibilities under this Order.

12. THIS COURT ORDERS that upon notice of this Order, Juan Guillermo, the Company
Agents, ATS and anyone else acting on their behalf shall forthwith render any necessary assistance
to the Receiver or Authorized Persons to locate, decode, access, and decrypt the Company
Documents and Devices and any and all information or electronic data to which the Authorized
Persons may not have ready and immediate access, including the provision of all usernames,
accounts, access codes, keys, identification codes, passwords, passphrases, encryption solutions or
any other such information or knowledge necessary to achieve access thereto and shall remove

and deactivate any other security safeguards existing on Company Documents and Devices.

PRIVILEGE

13. THIS COURT ORDERS that Juan Guillermo, or any other person purportedly acting on
behalf of the Company or (previously or currently) related to the Company, cannot assert privilege

against the Receiver in respect of any of the Company Documents or Devices.

14. THIS COURT ORDERS that Juan Guillermo shall give notice of this order to any third

parties who may claim privilege over any Company Documents or Devices.
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15. THIS COURT ORDERS that any third party with notice of this order who asserts or may
assert a privilege claim with respect to any Company Documents or Devices may seek to vary or

amend this Order on not less than seven (7) days notice to the Receiver and the Service List.

16. THIS COURT ORDERS that if, in the process of carrying out its duties, the Receiver or
any Authorized Person identifies a documents which may be subject to privilege of a third party,
the Receiver shall segregate such document(s) and shall not conduct any further review of such

document(s) without further direction of the Court.

17. THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing in this order is intended to affect the privilege of

any third party.

18. THIS COURT ORDERS that Juan Guillermo, or any other person purportedly acting on
behalf of the Company, cannot assert privilege against the Receiver in respect of any
documentation that is in the possession of Cambridge LLP as a result of their representation of the

Company.

19.  THIS COURT ORDERS that within fourteen (14) days of this Order Cambridge LLP

shall produce to the Receiver:

(a) Any and all corporate documents of the Company and its subsidiaries or affiliates;

(b) Any documentation and correspondence relevant and relating to its representation

of the Company, its subsidiaries or affiliates including but not limited to:

(1) Its representation of the Company in these proceedings;

(i1))  Correspondence with the Company’s subsidiaries, its affiliates and any

other third parties; and



(©)
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(iii))  Any and all correspondence respecting the February 2020 transaction with

LISAS.A.;
A list of documents and correspondence over which privilege is claimed; and

No documents obtained by the Receiver, pursuant to this Order, shall be used for

any purpose other than:

(1) Discharging the Receiver’s obligations under the Appointment Order, dated

July 5, 2019, as it may be amended from time to time;
(i1))  The interviewing of Persons, as defined in the Appointment Order; and

(iii)  Reporting to this Court from time to time.

e

{ <

AV, | ~_ |
f l’ \I'\ Q._ Fs \'._-f_:x_ . h \

(Signature of Judge)
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Court File No. CV-11-9062-00CL

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

COMMERCIAL LIST

THE HONOURABLE ) TUESDAY, THE 27%
)

JUSTICE MCEWEN ) DAY OF OCTOBER, 2020
BETWEEN:
(Court Seal)

MARGARITA CASTILLO

Applicant
and

XELA ENTERPRISES LTD., TROPIC INTERNATIONAL LIMITED, FRESH
QUEST INC., 696096 ALBERTA LTD., JUAN GUILLERMO GUTIERREZ and
CARMEN S. GUTIERREZ, Executor of the Estate of Juan Arturo Gutierrez

Respondents

AND IN THE MATTER OF THE RECEIVERSHIP OF XELA ENTERPRISES
LTD.

ORDER

THIS CASE CONFERENCE, requested by KSV Restructuring Inc. (“KSV”), in its
capacity as the Court-appointed receiver and manager (in such capacity, the “Receiver”), without
security, of the assets, undertakings and property of Xela Enterprises Ltd. (the “Company’’) was
heard virtually this day via the Zoom videoconferencing platform by judicial videoconference at

Toronto, Ontario due to the COVID-19 crisis.
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ON READING the material filed by the parties, and on hearing the submissions of the

lawyers for the Receiver and such other counsel as were present and listed on the Counsel Slip.

JUAN GUILLERMO’S DEVICES

1. THIS COURT ORDERS that within seven (7) business days of the Order, Juan Guillermo
Gutierrez (“Juan Guillermo”) will provide the Receiver’s Forensic Specialist, Duff & Phelps,
with possession of all devices used by him, including, but not limited to, cellphones, iPads, and
computers which do or may include Xela information or data (including its subsidiaries, affiliates,

or former subsidiaries and affiliates) (the “Devices”).

2. THIS COURT ORDERS that Juan Guillermo will confirm under oath that the Devices
are the only devices in his power, possession, or control which do or may include Xela information

or data (including its subsidiaries, affiliates, or former subsidiaries and affiliates).

3. THIS COURT ORDERS that Duff & Phelps will be authorized to make a single forensic
image of each of the Devices (the “Images”) in the presence of Juan Guillermo or his agent and

an IT expert of Juan Guillermo’s choice within seven (7) business days of the Order.

4. THIS COURT ORDERS that Duff & Phelps shall be permitted to employ whatever
methods it deems appropriate to image the Devices without interference by Juan Guillermo or his

IT expert.

5. THIS COURT ORDERS that forthwith after imaging the Devices, Duff & Phelps shall

return the Devices to Juan Guillermo.

6. THIS COURT ORDERS that Duff & Phelps will make no additional copies or images of

the Devices or any of the data extracted therefrom except as necessary to comply with this Order.
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7. THIS COURT ORDERS that, at the request of the Receiver, Duff & Phelps will be
authorized to conduct forensic analyses of the Images to determine whether, when, and how many
files have been deleted from the Devices. Upon completion of the analyses, Duff & Phelps shall
be authorized to provide the result of such analyses (but no documents shall be released to the
Receiver unless such documents are released pursuant to the protocol below) to the Receiver and

Juan Guillermo.

8. THIS COURT ORDERS that, at the request of the Receiver, Duff & Phelps will be

authorized to load the data onto the Relativity document review platform (the “Platform”).

9. THIS COURT ORDERS that once the data is loaded onto the Platform, Duff & Phelps

shall grant Juan Guillermo and his authorized agents access to the Platform.

10. THIS COURT ORDERS that Juan Guillermo, but not the Receiver or its agents, shall
have thirty-five (35) days after Duff & Phelps grants Juan Guillermo and his authorized agents
access to the Platform to assert any objections to disclosure to the Receiver of any documents on
the Platform based on privilege, personal information, or any other reasonable basis (the

“Objections” or the “Objections Date”).

1. THIS COURT ORDERS that a motion for an extension of the Objections Date may be
made by Juan Guillermo by motion served no less than five days before the Objections Date. Such
motion for an extension must be returnable within 7 (seven) days of the Objections Date, subject

only to the Court’s availability (collectively, the “Extension Deadlines”).

12. THIS COURT ORDERS that, after the Objections Date, or if a motion for extension of
the Objections Date is made in accordance with the Extension Deadlines, then after the Court’s
judgment thereon, the Receiver shall be given access to all the documents on the document review

platform except for Objections documents. If the Receiver has not received Objections by the



243

Objection Date or Juan Guillermo fails to comply with any of the Extension Deadlines, the

Receiver will be entitled to review all documents in the document review platform.

13. THIS COURT ORDERS that Juan Guillermo, in advance of the Objections date, shall
prepare and provide to the Receiver, a list of documents objected to (the “Objections Documents™).
The list of all Objections Documents shall include, subject to paragraph 14 below, at a minimum,

the following fields: date, date sent, author, sender, all recipients, title and subject.

14.  THIS COURT ORDERS that Juan Guillermo may assert privilege over portions of the
title and/or subject descriptions by the Objections Date. Duff and Phelps shall redact the subject
and/or title line in all cases where privilege has been asserted over the title and/or subject. For all
claims of privilege over the title or subject, Juan Guillermo shall within 14 days of the Objections

Date or extension, provide the Receiver with a basis for the assertion of privilege.

15. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver shall be permitted to challenge any of the
Objections and claims of privilege. The parties shall attempt to resolve any such challenges within
three (3) business days, failing which the Receiver may address any such challenges before the
Court. In the event of a challenge, the challenged document shall be provided to the Court for
non-public, confidential review outside the presence of any person(s) other than counsel for the

Receiver and counsel for Juan Guillermo.

16. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver and Duff & Phelps shall not use any files from

the Devices for any purpose other than the Receivership.

17. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver shall preserve Xela and its subsidiaries

privilege, except where the Receiver deems it necessary to fulfill its mandate.
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18. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver shall not disclose any files from the Devices
to anyone other than its agents without approval of the Court, except as necessary to fulfill the
Receiver’s mandate. Agents include individuals or entities that represent and/or are retained by the

Receiver to fulfill its mandate.

19. THIS COURT ORDERS that, upon the discharge of this receivership, Duff & Phelps
shall delete the subject database in its entirety, and the Receiver shall destroy all documents and/or

data retrieved from the Devices.

aVa r.'/ .
[ \'I\L'_(-*'_';_ e

(Signature of Judge)
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Court File No. CV-11-9062-00CL

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

COMMERCIAL LIST

THE HONOURABLE ) TUESDAY, THE 27%
)

JUSTICE MCEWEN ) DAY OF OCTOBER, 2020
BETWEEN:
(Court Seal)

MARGARITA CASTILLO

Applicant
and

XELA ENTERPRISES LTD., TROPIC INTERNATIONAL LIMITED, FRESH
QUEST INC., 696096 ALBERTA LTD., JUAN GUILLERMO GUTIERREZ and
CARMEN S. GUTIERREZ, Executor of the Estate of Juan Arturo Gutierrez

Respondents

AND IN THE MATTER OF THE RECEIVERSHIP OF XELA ENTERPRISES
LTD.

ORDER

THIS CASE CONFERENCE, requested by KSV Restructuring Inc. (“KSV”), in its
capacity as the Court-appointed receiver and manager (in such capacity, the “Receiver”), without
security, of the assets, undertakings and property of Xela Enterprises Ltd. (the “Company’’) was
heard virtually this day via the Zoom videoconferencing platform by judicial videoconference at

Toronto, Ontario due to the COVID-19 crisis.
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ON READING the material filed by the parties, and on hearing the submissions of the

lawyers for the Receiver and such other counsel as were present and listed on the Counsel Slip.

1. THIS COURT ORDERS that within seven days of the Order, Arturos Technical Services
Ltd. (“ATS”) will schedule a mutually convenient date with Duff & Phelps, the Receiver’s
Forensic Specialist, for the purpose of providing the Forensic Specialist access, in accordance with
this Order, to certain servers more particularly described in Schedules “A” and “B” (collectively

the “Servers”).

2. THIS COURT ORDERS that upon being provided with the access contemplated in
paragraph 1 of this Order, Duff & Phelps be and is hereby authorized and directed to make a single
disk image of each of the Servers listed in Schedule “A” (together, the “Images”) to be held by

Duff & Phelps in accordance with the terms of this Order.

3. THIS COURT ORDERS that upon being provided with the access contemplated in
paragraph 1 of this Order, ATS shall deliver up the Servers at Schedule “B” to Duff & Phelps (the

“Schedule B Servers”) to be held by Duff & Phelps in accordance with the terms of this Order.

4. THIS COURT ORDERS that Duff & Phelps will make no additional copies or images of

the Servers or any of the Images.

5. THIS COURT ORDERS that Duff & Phelps shall maintain and preserve the Images and

Schedule B Servers until further order of this Court or written consent of the Receiver and ATS.
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6. THIS COURT ORDERS that Duff & Phelps shall not conduct, or permit any other person
to conduct, any analysis or review of the Images or Schedule B Severs or any data contained in
the Images or Schedule B Servers, without a further order of this Court or written consent of the

Receiver and ATS.

Vs I

N~ ( <
FNce—_ ™\

(Signature of Judge)
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SCHEDULE “A”

Description of Servers

Servers located at Cogent Canada, Inc., 245 Consumers Rd., Suite 300, North York, ON M2J 1R3:

XL88-5, serial number: KQYWHNG
XL88-15, serial number: 06KN471
XL88-25, serial number: KQ63ZVA
XL88-1, serial number: KQYWHNA
XL88-20, serial number: KQ6930H
XL88-30, serial number: KQ8XO0LK
X1L88-35, serial number: E2BG115

AU S o
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SCHEDULE “B”

Description of Additional Servers described as non-operational

Hardware Serial #
1. IBM System x 3650 M3 7945-ACl1 KQYWHPF
7945N2U
2. IBM System x3550 7978 7978CCU 991.6433
3. IBM System x3550 7978 7978CCU 991.6432
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Court File No. CV-11-9062-00CL

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
(COMMERCIAL LIST)

BETWEZEN

MARGARITA CASTILILIO
Plaintiff,

- and -

XELA ENTERPRISES LTD., TROPIC INTERNATIONAL LIMITED,
FRESH QUEST, INC., 696096 ALBERTA LTD., JUAN GUILLERMO
GUTIERREZ and CARMEN S. GUTIERREZ, as Executor of the

Estate of Juan Arturo Gutierrez

Defendants.

This is the Examination In Aid of Execution of JUAN
GUILLERMO GUTIERREZ, a Defendant herein, taken at the
offices of Network Court Reporting, 1 First Canadian
Place, 100 King St. West, Suite 3600, Toronto, Ontario,
on July 25, 2017.

A PPEARANCES

Jason W.J. Woycheshyn for the Plaintiff
Adam Zur, Summer Student

Martin Mendelzon for the Defendants,
Xela Enterprises Ltd.,
Tropic International
Limited, Fresh Quest,
Inc., Juan Guillermo
Gutierrez and Carmen S.
Gutierrez

ALSO APPEARING:

Margarita Castillo
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Examination of Juan Guillermo Gutierrez

CASTILLO V. XELA EXQERIRISES

Page 14 Page 16
1131. Q. And your fax number? 1 A. Tdon't remember the exact numbers,
2 A. No fax number. 2 but yes.
3| 32. Q. Your date of birth is March 1st, 3141. Q. Okay. And then in March of this
4 19567 4 year, the Court of Appeal dismissed a motion for
s A. Yes. 5 leave to appeal and awarded Margarita an
6]33. Q. And your Social Insurance Number is 6 additional cost of $1,500. Does that sound about
7 487 192 4457 7 right?
8 A. Thbelieve so. I don't know it by 8 A. Probably.
9 memory but if it's in my tax return, it must be 9142, Q. Andthen most recently, there was a
10 it. 10 motion for a stay of execution in front of
1134, Q. Do you know your Driver's Licence 11 Justice McEwen and that motion was dismissed and
12 number? 12 Justice McEwen ordered that Margarita receive an
13 A. No, I don't know it but I have it 13 additional approximately $15,000; is that -- you
14 with me, so I can give it to you. 14 are aware of that, sir?
15| 35. Q. IfIcan get a copy of it, please. 15 A. Idon't remember hearing the number
16 Mr. Mendelzon, it's fine if we take a copy of 16 but I guess it's right.
17 that? 171 43. Q. You have not appealed the decision of
18 MR. MENDELZON: Yes. 18 Justice McEwen?
18 THE DEPONENT: Just don't forget to give 19 MR. MENDELZON: As of now there's been no
20 it to me before we leave because I have to drive 20 appeal.
21 home. 21 MR. WOYCHESHYN: Okay. And if that
22 BY MR. WOYCHESHYN: 22 changes, you'll let me know?
23] 36. Q. This is an examination in aid of 23 U/T MR. MENDELZON: We sure will.
24 execution arising from a judgment of Justice 24 BY MR. WOYCHESHYN:
25 Newbould dated October 28, 2015. Do you remember |25| 44, Q. So the total court orders, and I
Page 15 Page 17
1 that? 1 recognize that the orders against you, sir, are
2 A. Yeah, I do remember. 2 joint as against you, your father's estate and
3137. Q. Okay. You recall that that judgment 3 Xela, total about $5.2 million. We are now at
4 jointly required you to pay Margarita $4.25 4 the end of July 2017 and am I right that you
5 million plus 2 percent interest. Does that sound 5 haven't paid Margarita any money towards that
6 about right? 6 judgment or those orders?
7 A. Probably, yeah. 7 A. Can you ask the question again?
8 MR. MENDELZON: And, counsel, just to be | 8]45. Q. Yes. You haven't paid any money --
9 clear, it required him to purchase Margarita's S A. No, we have not paid anything.
10 shares for 4.25 million. 10| 4e. Q. Okay. And what is the reason for
11 BY MR. WOYCHESHYN: 11 non-payment?
12|38, Q. Thank you. And jointly with 12 A. Well, part is because we don't have
13 yourself, your father and Xela Enterprises, 13 the funds to do that. As a matter of fact, we
14 right? You understood that? 14 intend to pay when we can but right now it's
15 A. Tunderstand that for about the same 15 impossible. It's impossible because of all the
16 price as we offered her in 2010 and she rejected 16 actions of Margarita has taken in the last eight
17 then. 17 years has made it impossible.
18] 39, Q. And then you recall in about December |18 MR. MENDELZON: And, counsel, Juan, when
19 0f 2015, Justice Newbould released his cost 19 you are saying "we" in your answers --
20 endorsement for around $890,000? 20 THE DEPONENT: When I say "we", I refer
21 A. Iremember hearing about that, yeah. 21 myself and my father and the company too, the
221 40. Q. And then there was an appeal to the 22 three of us, we would like to pay. Now,
23 Divisional Court of Ontario and the Divisional 23 obviously you are going to cross-examine my
24 Court made an additional order of costs of 24 mother as an executor of my dad's estate and
25 25

$76,096.47; do you remember that?

somebody else for Xela, so they will speak for

Network Reporting & Mediation

Page: 5(14-17)
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%ﬁnaﬁon of Juan Guillermo Gutierrez

CASTILLO V. XELA ENTERPRISES

Page 18 Page 20
1 the companies, but I tend to say "we" all the 1 pay Margarita; am I right?
2 time as my way of speaking. 2 A. Atthis point in the immediate time,
3 BY MR. WOYCHESHYN: 3 I can't. T have no source of income coming, and
4147, Q. And I understand it's a family 4 I may add, it's a direct consequence of many of
5 company and you, for a long time, have been the 5 the actions taken by Margarita and the other
6 head of the company so I understand why you would | 6 people that are working with her. So they have
7 use "we", but in terms of your personal finances, 7 cornered me. So at this point, I don't have
8 your evidence is that you personally do not have 8 anything else. I gave you my financial statement
9 the resources or assets to pay any portion of 9 there.
10 Margarita's judgment or order? 10)53, Q. Right. So you have nothing right now
11 A. At this particular time, I don't. 11 and you have nothing foreseeable other than the
12]48. Q. Is there something on the horizon 12 potential recovery on the action.
13 that you see a time when you will be able to pay 13 MR. MENDELZON: Counsel, I think you've
14 those amounts? 14 asked him this about --
15 A. Yes. We have a major lawsuit against 15 BY MR. WOYCHESHYN:
16 several defendants including Margarita for $400 16|54, Q. No, but he hasn't --
17 million, very well substantiated, has not gone to 17 A. T answer again, as far as | know, I'm
18 hearings yet. So we expect to get a solution on 18 not the -- let me put it this way: I don't have
19 that and when that happens, we are going to have, 19 a crystal ball that tell me what's going to
20 you know, money to pay for this. Isay "we" 20 happen in the future. At this particular time, I
21 again, it's myself or any of the other two 21 don't have any other thing that I can tell you is
22 parties. 22 going to barely make me survive at this point. I
23| 49, Q. And just so I'm clear, that -- the 23 cannot tell you what's going to happen in a year
24 action -- the lawsuit that you are just referring 24 or in two years or five years.
25 to is the lawsuit that you and Xela and others 25155, Q. Okay. Inote you have a lawyer
Page 19 Page 21
1 commenced against Margarita, Ricardo, Roberto and | 1 present with you today.
2 I'1l call them the boys in Guatemala, but that 2 A. Yes.
3 action was commenced in 2011 in Ontario; is that 3] 56. Q. Who is paying for your lawyer?
4 the action you are referring to? 4 A, Well --
5 A. That is the action and it's been held 5 R/F MR. MENDELZON: Don't answer that.
6 for six years arguing the service of process 6 THE DEPONENT: Okay.
7 which has been affirmed. So go figure, six years 7 MR. WOYCHESHYN: On the grounds of?
8 to discuss service, that's where we are but when 8 MR. MENDELZON: It's privileged.
9 that lawsuit is resolved, we'll have more than 9 MR. WOYCHESHYN: As to who is paying?
10 plenty resources to pay for this judgment. 10 MR. MENDELZON: Correct.
1 Before that, I can't. 11 BY MR. WOYCHESHYN:
12]50. Q. Okay. So just so I understand, 121 57. Q. Are you paying your lawyer?
13 that's the only potential source of income that 13 R/F MR.MENDELZON: Don't answer that.
14 you can get that will satisfy the -- that will 14 BY MR. WOYCHESHYN:
15 allow you to pay Margarita. 15| 58. Q. I'm going to be examining you in your
16 A. Me personally, yes. That's the only 16 personal capacity and I just -- I'm going to ask
17 -- the only option I have. 17 you some questions about Xela but I'm not
18|51. Q. And if -- I know you anticipate that 18 expecting you to answer questions on behalf of
18 you will be successful in that action but if that 19 Xela; do you understand the difference?
20 action does not result in a payment to you, am I 20 A. Yes.
21 right that you will not be able to pay Margarita? 21] 59, Q. You are the president and CEO of
22 A. As things are today, I can't. 22 Xela?
23(52, Q. And other than the outcome of the 23 A. Yes.
24 action, you don't have any source of income that 241 60. Q. And just for clarity of the record,
25 25

you see on the horizon that would allow you to

when I refer to Xela, I'm referring to Xela
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Court File No. CV-11-9062-00CL

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
(COMMERCIAL LIST)

BETWEE N:

MARGARITA CASTILLO
Plaintiff

- and -

XELA ENTERPRISES LTD., TROPIC INTERNATIONAL LIMITED,

FRESH QUEST, INC., 696096 ALBERTA LTD., JUAN GUILLERMO

GUTIERREZ and CARMEN S. GUTIERREZ, as Executor of the
Estate of Juan Arturo Gutierrez

Defendants

This is the Continued Examination in Aid
of Execution of JUAN GUILLERMO GUTIERREZ, personally
and on behalf of the corporate Defendants herein, taken
at the offices of Network Reporting & Mediation, 100
King Street West, Suite 3600, Toronto, Ontario, on the
30th day of August, 2018.

A PPEARANCE S:

WILLIAM BORTOLIN Solicitor for the Plaintiff
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JUAN GUILLERMO GUTIERREZ - 130

only bank account was a joint account with your wife
at TD Bank. Is that still correct?

A. Yes, it is.

Q. And is that an account to which you
still have access to funds?

A. No, it's actually drawn on a line when
you froze it about a year ago.

Q. Can you explain what you mean by that?

A. That bank account had a line of credit
as part of it, like an overdraft facility, and I was
drawing on that one when you froze it last year. So,
there's no availability of funds at all, besides its
frozen.

0. And so, there are no other bank
accounts of which you have access to funds from?

A. I told you already no. I told you that
last year; I don't have another bank account; I never
had a different bank account. I only had one bank
account because I didn’t need another one. I just ran
my affairs through one bank account. I don’t know how
many times I have to explain it to you for you to
understand it. There's none -- no other ones.

Q. And that will not be the last question
that you hear me ask today that you’ve been asked

before, and the reason I'm asking them is because you

NETWORK REPORTING & MEDIATION - (416)359-0305
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JUAN GUILLERMO GUTIERREZ - 131

answered them last year and I'm asking them today and
things could change.

You had RRSPs, which you provided us with
account statements for. My question is have you drawn
any money out of the RSPs since last July?

A. No. You froze all my bank accounts.
I'm not like your side of the equation that I don't
play by the rules, I respect the rules. I'm doing
what I’ve been instructed to do, so I'm not touching
any of my assets at all. I don't have any assets, by
the way because you already took them all away.

0. Well the RSP's that's not true; is it?

A. No, the RSP is the only thing is there
and is untouched.

Q. So, I have your evidence then that you
haven’t created any new RSP's in the last year?

A. How would I, if you froze all my assets
and took all my money away from me? I can’t put
anything anywhere, so the answer is no. No change
from last year on any of the questions you asked me,
with the exception of all the assets I had at that
time that you took from me.

That's the only answer. The only change has
been you took my cars away, you forced my house to be

sold and you forced me to forfeit or sell my half of

NETWORK REPORTING & MEDIATION - (416)359-0305
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JUAN GUILLERMO GUTIERREZ - 132

the cottage; I have no assets left. So there's no
changes. You can ask all the questions you want, but
I"11 tell you already; no changes from last time
because I haven't done anything.

Q. Well I will ask the questions anyway,
but I appreciate that as an overview answer and we’ll
see i1if it can help speed things up at any point today.
You mentioned the house; that is the house that was
sold at 2 Gordon Road, and I understand that sale
closed on August 20th. Is that right?

A. That's correct.

Q. And I understand though that you're not
required to vacate until the end of November. Is that
right?

A. That's correct.

Q. So, where will be your primary
residence from now until the end of November?

A. I don't know.

0. Will it be one of either 2 Gordon Road
or 174 Amber Bay Road?

A. Gordon Road no, because I just sold it;
you just told me. I sold the house, you already told
me that, so why am I going to live there after I'm
supposed to leave the house when the new buyer takes

over?

NETWORK REPORTING & MEDIATION - (416)359-0305
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PRELIMINARY SEARCH RESULTS ACROSS ALL COUNTIES IN ONTARIO FOR ANY
PROPERTY OWNED BY JUAN GUILLERMO GUTIERREZ

NO HITSIN:  ALGOMA, BRANT, BRUCE, COCHRANE, DUFFERIN, DUNDAS, DURHAM, ELGIN, ESSEX,
FRONTENAC, GLENGARRY, GRENVILLE, GREY, HALDIMAND, HALIBURTON, HALTON
COUNTY, HASTINGS, HURON, KENORA, KENT COUNTY, LAMBTON, LANARK, LEEDS,
LENNOX, MANITOULIN, MIDDLESEX COUNTY, MUSKOKA, NIAGARA NORTH/NIAGARA,
NIAGARA SOUTH/NIAGARA 30, NIPISSING, NORFOLK, NORTHUMBERLAND, OTTAWA-
CARLTON, OXFORD COUNTY, PEEL, PERTH, PETERBOROUGH, PRESCOTT, PRINCE
EDWARD, RAINY RIVER, RENFREW, RUSSELL, SIMCOE, STORMONT, SUDBURY,
TIMISKAMING, THUNDER BAY, VICTORIA, WATERLOO, WELLINGTON, HAMILTON
WENTWORTH, YORK REGION

HITS INTORONTO -2 EXACT HITS NO LONGER ACTIVE:

Name: GUTIERREZ, JUAN GUILLERMO

Parcel Types: (LT) Land Titles - (R) Reqgistry - (RD) Parcelized Day Forward Registry
Number of Properties Found: 1

¥ PIN STATUS ADDRESS DESCRIPTION

10102-0345 (R) INACTIVE 2 GORDON ROAD, NORTH YORK  LOT 187, PLAN 3517 TWP OF YORK/NORTH YORK , CITY OF TORONTO m

Address: 2 GORDON ROAD
Parcel Types: (LT) Land Titles - (R) Registry - (RD) Parcelized Day Forward Registry

Number of Properties Found: 2

¥ PIN STATUS ADDRESS DESCRIPTION

10102-0345 (R) INACTIVE 2 GORDON ROAD, NORTH YORK LOT 187, PLAN 3517 TWP OF YORK/MORTH YORK , CITY OF TORONTC

10102-0198 (LT) ACTIVE 2 GORDON ROAD, TORONTO LT 187 PL 3517 NORTH YORK; TORONTO (N YORK) , CITY OF = e m
arcel Register
TORONTO

Name: GUTIERREZ, JUAN GUILLIERMO
Parcel Types: (LT) Land Titles - (R} Reqistry - (RD) Parcelized Day Forward Registry

Number of Properties Found: 1

¥ PIN STATUS ADDRESS DESCRIPTION

10100-0203 (R) INACTIVE 109 GORDON ROAD, NORTH LOT 51, PLAN 3517 TWP OF YORK/NORTH YORK , CITY OF TORONTO m
YORK

Address: 109 GORDON ROAD
Parcel Types: (LT) Land Titles - (R) Registry - (RD) Parcelized Day Forward Registry

Number of Properties Found: 2

W PIN STATUS ADDRESS DESCRIPTION
10100-0203 (R) INACTIVE 109 GORDON ROAD, LOT 51, PLAN 3517 TWP OF YORK/NORTH YORK , CITY OF TORONTO
WILLOWDALE

10100-0118 (LT} ACTIVE 109 GORDON ROAD, TORONTO LT 51 PL 3517 NORTH YORK; TORONTG (N YORK) , CITY OF TORONTO P — m
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-2
HiTS INPARRY SOUND - 2 EXACT HITS NO LONGER ACTIVE - CONSOLIDATED INTO PIN 52193-0908
Name: GUTIERREZ, JUAN GUILLERMO

Parcel Types: (LT) Land Titles - (R) Registry - (RD) Parcelized Day Forward Registry

Number of Properties Found: 2

¥ PIN STATUS ADDRESS DESCRIPTION
52193-0895 (LT) INACTIVE + SEGUIN PT SHORE RDAL IN FRONT LT 29 CON 6 HUMPHREY PTS 1 & 2
42R19805 (CLOSED BY BY-LAW 2014-012 AS IN GB71242); TOWNSHIP Parcel Register Map
OF SEGUIN
52183-0194 (LT) INACTIVE 174 HAMER BAY RD, SEGUIN PCL 25187 SEC 55; PT LT 29 CON & HUMPHREY PT 2 42R5848; SEGUIN

521030008 v Parcel Register: 52193-0908 (LT) (]
DESCRIPTION @
52103-0194 B
PT LT 29 CON 6 HUMPHREY PT 2 42R5848; PT SHORE RDAL IN FRONT LT 29 CON 6 HUMPHREY PTS 1 & 2 42R19805 (CLOSED BY BY-LAW 2014-012 AS
52193-0845 4 IN GB71242); TOWNSHIP OF SEGUIN
Estate: FEE SIMPLE PIN Creation: 2014/07/07

Qualifier: ABSOLUTE Recently: CONSOLIDATION
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